



UNIVFRSITÄT

HEIDELBE ZUKUNFT SEIT 1386

Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg MB I: Dissertationsstelle Plöck 107-109 D-69117 Heidelberg Telefon: +49 6221 54 2585

Erklärung: Publikation elektronischer Dissertationen

tassan Verfasser/in: 💋 10 12622 Adresse 546551 æ Can Email-Adresse / Telefonnr.: M based anti-Canca, Sr Titel der Dissertation: Implace Complement - mediat tumor CO

Hiermit räume ich der Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg für die Dauer der gesetzlichen Schutzfrist und räumlich unbeschränkt das einfache Recht ein, das oben genannte Werk, das aus einer oder mehreren Dateien bestehen kann, sowie die hierzu abgelieferten Beschreibungsdaten auf ihren eigenen Servern zu vervielfältigen, dauerhaft elektronisch zu speichern und in internationalen Datennetzen öffentlich zugänglich zu machen. Die Rechte zur Verwertung des Werks in anderer Form bleiben hiervon unberührt.

Zum Zweck der Langzeitarchivierung und unter Beibehaltung der inhaltlichen Integrität ist die Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg zu technischen Veränderungen am Werk berechtigt.

Die Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg ist berechtigt, die durch diese Vereinbarung eingeräumten Rechte ganz oder teilweise auf Dritte zu übertragen und einfache Nutzungsrechte an andere Bibliotheken, Archive oder Open-Access-Portale, wie z.B. Repositorien zuständiger Fachinformationsdienste (FIDs), ggf. POD-Dienstleister und weitere, überregional vemetzte Systeme der Langzeitarchivierung, wie z.B. die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek, zu vergeben, ohne dass es hierzu meiner gesonderten Zustimmung bedarf.

Ich versichere, dass ich berechtigt bin, die oben aufgeführten urheberrechtlichen Nutzungsrechte an dem Werk, auch in Bezug auf die ggf. darin enthaltenen fremden Text- und/oder Bildvorlagen, einzuräumen.

Ich versichere ferner, dass ich für den Inhalt des zur Veröffentlichung bereitgestellten Werkes verantwortlich bin und dass mit einer derartigen Veröffentlichung keine gesetzlichen Vorschriften und keine Rechte Dritter verletzt werden.

Ich verpflichte mich, die Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg unverzüglich in Kenntnis zu setzen, sofern nach Veröffentlichung vermeintliche oder tatsächliche Verletzungen von Rechten Dritter geltend gemacht werden sollten und die Universitätsbibliothek von allen Ansprüchen Dritter freizustellen, die auf einer von mir zu vertretenden Inanspruchnahme beruhen sowie alle aufgrund der von mir zu vertretenden Inanspruchnahme entstehenden Kosten zu ersetzen.

Für die Veröffentlichung des hoch geladenen Werks erhalte ich von der Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg keine Vergütung.

しのこう

Ort, Datum

as

Unterschrift

Universitätsbibliothek www.ub.uni-heidelberg.de HAUPTBIBLIOTHEK Plock 107-109 69117 Heidelberg ZWEIGBIBLIOTHEK Im Neuenheimer Feld 368 69120 Heidelberg





UNIVERSITÄT HEIDELBERG ZUKUNFT SEIT 1386

Universitätsbibliothek Heidelberg MB I: Dissertationsstelle Plöck 107-109 D-69117 Heidelberg Telefon: +49 6221 54 2585

License Agreement: Electronic Publication of Dissertation

Author: Nasrh. Mohamed Hasson Atia Hasson Address: El Buhouth St. Dokki, Cairo 12622, Egypt E-mail/Telephone: mhassan 1@ Jahoo. Com phone: 0020/023546551 Title of Dissertation: Imfact of anti-cancer drugs on artibedy-based Complement-mediated Jumor Cell Killing

I transfer to Heidelberg University Library for the duration of the copyright term and with no regional limitation the nonexclusive right to reproduce the work, which may consist of one or more files, and the supplied metadata on its servers, to store it permanently and electronically and to make it available on international data networks. The rights to exploit the work in any other form will remain unaffected.

Heidelberg University Library is entitled to make such modifications as are technically necessary to ensure the long-term preservation of the work while maintaining the integrity of the work's contents.

The University Library is entitled to transfer the rights granted by this agreement, without special permission, wholly or partially to another person and to transfer non-exclusive rights to other libraries, archives or open access platforms, such as repositories of the relevant Specialised Information Services, in case of a PoD license to service providers and to supraregional network database systems for long-term preservation, such as the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek / German National Library Frankfurt/Main, Leipzig.

I certify that I am authorized to grant the rights of use to the work, including the contained text and/ or images of a third party. I further certify that I am responsible for the content of the work and that with such a publication no legal regulations or rights of a third party are infringed.

I commit myself to inform Heidelberg University Library immediately, if after publication alleged or actual infringements of third party rights should be enforced and to release the University Library from any third party claim and to cover all costs resulting from such claims. I will not receive any compensation for the publication of the submitted work.

I certify that the publication of the dissertation is in accordance with the current doctoral degree regulations and that the electronic form corresponds to the printed deposit copies in content and form.

6/2022

Ishamed H. Noisth

Signature

Universitätsbibliothek www.ub.unl-heidelberg.de HAUPTBIBLIOTHEK Plöck 107-109 69117 Heidelberg ZWEIGBIBLIOTHEK Im Neuenheimer Feld 368 69120 Heidelberg Aus dem Institut für Immunologie

der Ruprecht-Karls- Universität Heidelberg Geschäftsführender Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. S.C. Meuer

Impact of anti-cancer drugs on antibody-based complementmediated tumor cell killing

Inauguraldissertation

zur Erlangung des Doctor scientiarum humanarum (Dr. sc. hum.)

an der

Medizinischen Fakultät Heidelberg

der

Ruprecht-Karls-Universität

vorgelegt von Mohamed Hassan Atia Hassan Nasrh

aus

Al-Gharbia, Ägypten

2018

Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. Hans-Georg Kräusslich **Doktorvater:** Prof. Dr. med. vet. Michael Kirschfink

"My Lord! Increase me ín Knowledge" -Quran; 20:114 Dedicated to the soul of my father and to my mother, brother & sister for the endless love and support and to my sons

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
Chapter 1– Introduction	1
1.1. Cancer definition	1
1.2. Classification and epidemiology	1
1.2.1. Hematologic malignancies (HMs; blood cancer)	2
1.2.2. Breast cancer	3
1.3. The complement system	3
1.3.1. Activation pathways	4
1.3.2. Complement regulation	6
	_
1.4. Treatment approaches and development of resistance in tumors	7
1.4.1. Chemotherapy and resistance mechanisms	7
1.4.2. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs)	10
1.4.3. Response to combined mAbs/chemotherapeutic anti-cancer regimens	12
1.5. Tumor resistance to complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC)	13
1.6. The rational of the present work	
1.6.1. Aim	15
1.6.2. Specific objectives	15
1.6.3. Plan of the work	16
Chapter 2– Materials & Methods	17
2.1. Materials	17
2.1.1. Equipment	17
2.1.2. Non-disposable materials	18
2.1.3. Disposable materials	18
2.1.4. Reagents	19
2.1.5. Buffers and cell culture media	19
2.1.6. Test kits	20
2.1.7. Chemotherapeutic agents	
2.1.8. Antibodies, ELISA Controls and Standards	21
2.1.9. Normal human serum (NHS) as a source of complement	23
2.1.10. Tumor cell lines	23
2.2. Methods	24

TABLE OF CONTENTS	Page
2.2.1. Cell culture	24
2.2.2. Cell lines storage	24
2.2.3. Cell treatment	25
2.2.4. Trypan blue dye exclusion assay	25
2.2.5. Analysis of mCRP expression	26
2.2.6. Analysis of fH binding to cancer cells	26
2.2.7. Analysis of cell lysis by CDC	27
2.2.8. Analysis of cell opsonisation with iC3b	28
2.2.9. Analysis of soluble complement inhibitors secretion (C1-inhibitor, factor H and factor I) by cancer cells	28
2.2.10. Statistical Analysis	29
Chapter 3– Results	30
3.1. Viability of different cancer cell lines upon treatment with different chemotherapeutics for 48h	30
3.2 Impact of dovorubicin on breast cancer cell lines	32
3.2.1 Expression of CD46 CD55 and CD59	32
3.2.2. Complement fH binding	35
3.2.2. Complement in binding.	36
3.2.4 Opsonisation with iC3b	30
3.2.4. Opsonisation with iCSD	39
3.3. Impact of taxol on breast cancer cell lines	40
3.3.1. Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59	40
3.3.2. Complement fH binding	43
3.3.3. Cell lysis by CDC	45
3.3.4. Opsonisation with iC3b	47
3.4. Impact of bortezomib on different cancer cell lines	49
3.4.1. Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59	49
3.4.2. Complement fH binding	54
3.4.3. Cell lysis by CDC	56
3.4.4. Opsonisation with iC3b	61
3.5 Impact of fludarabine on Raii cell line	63
3.5.1 Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59	63
3.5.2 Complement fH binding	65
2.5.2. Complement in binding	66
5.5.3. Util Iysis by UDU	00

	TABLE OF CONTENTS	Page
	3.5.4. Opsonisation with iC3b	68
3.6.	Influence of anti-cancer drugs on secretion of soluble complement regulatory proteins by cancer cells	68
3.7.	Summarizing tables of results	69
Char	ter 4 Disquesion	70
Cnap		79
4.1.	Breast cancer cell lines: impact of doxorubicin on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3	79
4.2.	Breast cancer cell lines: impact of taxol on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3	83
4.3.	Cancer cells of different origin: impact of bortezomib on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3	84
4.4.	Raji cells: impact of fludarabine on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3	87
4.5.	Influence of different anti-cancer drugs on the secretion of soluble complement inhibitors by different cancer cell lines	88
4.6.	Future outlook	89
Sumi	mary	90
Zusammenfassung		92
Chap	oter 5– Bibliography	94
Publications and Presentations		114
Curriculum Vitae		115
Ackn	owledgement	117
Eidesstattliche Versicherung		119
Supp	lementary files (appendices 1-5)	i

List of abbreviations

ABC	Adenosine triphosphate- binding cassette
ABTS	2,2'-azino-di-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline sulfonic acid)
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
ALM	Alemtuzumab
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
AP	Alternative pathway
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B-CLL	B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia
BTZ	Bortezomib
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
C1-Inh.	C1-inhibitor
C4bp	C4-binding protein
CDC	Complement dependent cytotoxicity
CDCC	Complement-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
СНОР	(Cyclophosphamide, Hydroxydaunomycin, Oncovin, Prednisone)
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CR1	Complement receptor 1
CR2	Complement receptor 2
CR3	Complement receptor 3
DAF	Decay-accelerating factor
ddH ₂ O	Double distilled water
DFS	Disease-free survival
DLBCL	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMSO	Di-Methyl Sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Dox	Doxorubicin
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMMPRIN	Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducers
Ep-CAM	Epithelial cell adhesion molecule
ER	Estrogen receptor

ERK	Extracellularly regulated protein kinase
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
FAP	Fibroblast activation protein
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FcγRs	Fc gamma receptors
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
fH	Factor H
fl	Factor I
Fluda	Fludarabine
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
gt	Goat
	Hour
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogenperoxide
HCL	Hydrochloric acid
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HMs	Hematologic malignancies
HRP	Horseradish peroxide
i.a. NHS	Inactive Normal Human Serum
ICD-O-3	International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, Third Edition
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
mAbs	monoclonal antibodies
MAC	Membrane attack complex
MASPs	Mannose-binding lectin -associated serine proteases
MBL	Mannose-binding lectins
MCL	Mantle cell lymphoma
mCRPs	Membrane-bound complement regulatory proteins
MDR	Multidrug resistance
mg	Milligram
Min	Minute(s)
μΙ	Microlitter
μΜ	Micromolar
ml	Milliliter
mM	Millimolar
ms	Mouse

NHL	Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma
NHS	Normal human serum
NK-cells	Natural killer cells
nM	Nanomolar
NSCLC	Non-small-cell lung carcinoma
OFA	Ofatumumab
OS	Overall survival
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
PI	Propidium Iodine
PKC	Protein kinase C
PLL	Prolymphocytic leukemia
PMNs	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PR	Progesterone receptor
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand
rb	Rabbit
RNAi	Ribonucleic acid- interference
rpm	Rotation per minute
RTX	Rituximab
SCR	Short consensus repeat
STS	Soft tissue sarcomas
Тах	Taxol
TNBC	Triple negative breast cancer
TME	Tumor microenvironment
TILs	Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes
VBS	Veronal-buffered saline
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
WHO	World Health Organization

Chapter 1– Introduction

1.1 Cancer definition

Cancer is a complicated and multifactorial disease, in which normal cells undergo a series of molecular changes combined with accumulation of somatic mutations in progenitor cells resulting in a conversion into abnormal cells with uncontrolled growth and dynamic genetic alterations (MacConaill and Garraway, 2010). Tumor invasion of nearby and distant tissues impairs the normal biological processes of healthy cells in the microenvironment (Goldenberg, 1999).

1.2 Classification and epidemiology

The international classification of diseases for oncology (ICD-O) has been recognized as the gold standard for classification of neoplasms. The third edition of ICD-O (ICD-O-3) has been available since 2000 and an updated version with a number of new or modified codes and terms (ICD-O-3 first revision, or ICD-O-3.1) was published in 2013 (the world health organization; WHO, 2013).

Tumors have been classified according to either histological type or the primary site (first location of cancer in the body). Medical professionals gave cancer names based on their histological type. However, the general population is more familiar with cancer names based on their first location in the body. The most common body sites in which cancer develops include: skin, lungs, female breasts, prostate, colon and rectum, cervix and uterus (SEER Training Modules, Cancer classification, US. National Institute of 21th Health, National Cancer Institute. July, 2018. https://training.seer.cancer.gov/). Defined cancers based on the primary site are not as accurate as those defined based on the histological type. In lung cancer, for example, the name does not specify the involved tissue of the lung, but simply indicates where the cancer is actually located. Therefore, based on how cells look like under a microscope, there are two major types of lung cancer: non-small cell lung cancer and small cell lung cancer. Nonsmall cell lung cancer can be further divided into various subtypes which include squamous cell carcinoma, adenocarcinoma and large cell carcinoma (Inamura, 2017).

Histologically-defined cancer types are grouped into six major categories: carcinoma, sarcoma, myeloma, leukemia, lymphoma and mixed types. The worldwide burden of non-communicable diseases is growing in recent years and the main reasons are: prolonged exposure to risk factors, increased life time, and changes in lifestyle (Razi *et al.*, 2015; Zahedi *et al.*, 2015). Concerning cancer, in 2012, documented tumor cases accounted for ~14.9 million, of which 4.3 million patients died. By 2030, an increase of this number by 44% is expected (Siegel *et al.*, 2017) and this number may increase to 22 million in two decades (Ferlay *et al.*, 2015a). In 2018, 1.735.350 new cancer cases and 609.640 cancer deaths were calculated in the United States of America USA; (Siegel *et al.*, 2018). Lung, breast, prostate, cervix, colon, stomach and liver cancers are the most common diagnosed types throughout the world (Parkin *et al.*, 2002). Here, we are going to shed more lights on hematologic and breast cancers.

1.2.1. Hematologic malignancies

Hematologic malignancies (HMs; blood cancer) originate either in bone marrow or immune cells and comprise a distinct group of malignancies with variable etiology, incidence, prognosis and survival rates (Rodriguez-Abreu *et al.*, 2007; Sant *et al.*, 2010).

The WHO has approved a consensus classification for HMs which relies on cell lineage (myeloid and lymphoid) and cell maturity and for further subdivision, cell morphology, immunophenotype, genetic and clinical criteria were applied (Vardiman, 2010). In adition, HMs are grouped into different categories including Hodgkin (HL) versus non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), acute versus chronic, and lymphatic versus myeloid leukemia (Ferlay et al., 2007; Curado et al., 2007). In 2005, the estimated HMs cases in Europe were ~230.000. Leukemia, HL, NHL and myeloma accounted for ~8% of HMsdiagnosed patients with a ~7% death rate (Rodriguez-Abreu et al., 2007). In 2017, from 1.688.780 confirmed cancer cases in the USA 10.2% were diagnosed with leukemia, lymphoma and myeloma and the estimated number of fatalities due to these tumors was 58.300 (Cancer Facts and Figures, 2017).

1.2.2. Breast cancer

Breast cancer starts in breast cells as a group of cells that can then invade surrounding tissues or spread (metastasis) to other body parts. It is the second most common cancer all over the world and in absolute numbers the most frequent cancer among women with an estimated 1.67 million of the new cancer cases diagnosed in 2012 (25% of all cancers; Clegg et al., 2009; Ferlay et al., 2015). The incidence of breast cancer varies nearly fourfold across the world regions, with incidence rates ranging from 27 per 100,000 in Middle Africa and Eastern Asia to 96 in Western Europe (Ferlay et al., 2015; WHO, 2015). In most countries, breast cancer representes 25% of all annualy diagnosed cancer types and is amongest main causes of women death around the world (Fitzmaurice et al., 2015). Breast cancer ranks as the fifth cause of death from cancer overall (522,000 deaths) and while it is the most frequent cause of cancer death in women in less developed regions (324,000 deaths, 14.3% of total), it is now the second cause of cancer death in more developed regions (198,000 deaths, 15.4%) after lung (Ferlay et al., 2015). Based on the presence of defined biomarkers like estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), Ki-67 (a protein marker with prognostic and predictive potential for adjuvant chemotherapy), and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), breast cancer has been classified into several sub-types (Inic et al., 2014). The most common receptors of breast cancer cells belong to the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family of receptor tyrosine kinases (Nuciforo et al., 2015). Over-expression of EGFR and HER2 was observed in approximately 40% and 25% of breast cancer cases, respectively, and is responsible for both aggressive tumor behaviour and poor prognosis (Nuciforo et al., 2015). Moreover, triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) is defined by the absence of ER, PR, and HER2 receptors and no treatment is yet available for TNBC, which confers an unfavourable prognosis for this particular subtype (Gluz et al., 2009).

1.3. The complement system

Complement was discovered more than 100 years ago as a heat-labile component of normal plasma that intensifies opsonisation and killing of invading microorganisms by antibodies (Janeway et al., 2001 (5th edition)). Complement proteins are mainly synthesized in the liver. However, they can also be produced by various cell types such as macrophages, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells (Macor and Tedesco, 2007a). It is composed of more than 30 glycoproteins that are either present in plasma or associated with the cell membrane as regulators or receptors (Ricklin *et al.*, 2010; Noris and Remuzzi, 2013).

Although complement was first defined only as an effector arm of the antibody response, it also can be activated at early stages of infection in absence of antibodies. The immune effector functions of complement include cell lysis, opsonisation, chemotaxis and immune cell activation (Herceg and Hainaut, 2007). Given the numerous genetic and epigenetic changes associated with carcinogenesis, neoplastic transformation is also accompanied by an increased capacity of malignant cells to activate the complement system (Herceg and Hainaut, 2007).

1.3.1. Activation pathways

There are three major complement activation pathways (Figure 1): the classical pathway (CP) via antigen-antibody complexes, the alternative pathway (AP) through any permissive surface and lectin pathway (LP) by the interaction of pattern-recognition mannose-binding lectins (MBL) or ficolins with carbohydrate ligands on the surface of the pathogens (Frank, 1987; Jack *et al.,* 2001; Turner, 2003; Holers, 2014).

The convergence point of complement activation pathways is the formation of the C3 convertase which cleaves the complement C3 molecules into C3a (one of two major anaphylatoxin molecules) and C3b, which is a potent opsonin (Ricklin *et al.*, 2010). C3b and its degradation products iC3b and C3d bind to intact target cells or cell debris and act as ligands for complement receptors CR1 (CD35), CR3 (CD11b+CD18), and CR2 (CD21), respectively, which are expressed on myelomonocytic cells, lymphocytes and follicular dendritic cells (Holers, 2014). The binding of C3b or its metabolites to the correspondent cell receptors is crucial for cell-to-cell interaction within the innate and adaptive immune system and for removing apoptotic and necrotic cells (Ricklin *et al.*, 2010). Consecutive activation and binding of C3 leads to the generation of the C5 convertase which cleaves C5 into C5a and C5b. The membrane attack complex (MAC or C5b-9) is formed by C5b, C6, C7, C8 and

multiple C9 which insert into the cell membrane of target cells. Finally, MAC formation disrupts the phospholipid bilayer of the cell membrane, which causes massive calcium influx, loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and cell lysis. Collectively, the main three consequences of complement activation are (1) tagging target cells by C3b-metabolites for phagocytosis, (2) recruitment of inflammatory cells by C3a and C5a, and (3) initiation of MAC-mediated cell lysis (Figure 1; Tegla *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1: Complement activation pathways and assembly of the terminal pathway. The classical pathway is initiated by the binding of the C1 complex to antibody already bound to antigen, leading to the formation of the C4b2a enzyme complex (C3 convertase). The lectin pathway is activated by the binding of either MBL or ficolin and MASP 1, 2 and 3, respectively, to an array of mannose groups on the surface of bacterial cells and the generation of C3 convertase of the classical pathway. The alternative pathway is initiated by hydrolyzed C3 and factor B and the subsequent formation of the alternative pathway C3 convertase, C3bBb. Generation of the C3 convertase allows the formation of the C5 convertase, which initiates the formation of the C5b-9 terminal complement complex. The complement system is regulated at several levels: CD55, CR1, CD46, C4bp, and factors I and H regulate the activity of the C3- and C5-convertases. CD59 blocks the final assembly of MAC. S protein/vitronectin binds to C5b-7 and leads to the formation of a cytolytically inactive sC5b-9 complex. *This figure is reproduced from Tegla et al., 2011, with permission from Springer Nature.*

1.3.2. Complement regulation

Complement activation is tightly regulated at different points, either by fluid phase or membrane-bound complement regulatory proteins (mCRPs) (Tegla *et al.*, 2011; Holers, 2014) (Figure 1). C1-inhibitor belongs to family of serine protease inhibitors that inactivate proteins of several plasma cascades. In the classical pathway, C1-inhibitor regulates the auto-activation of C1 and inactivates the proteases C1r and C1s. In the lectin pathway, C1-inhibitor is an important regulator of the MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs). It has been suggested that C1-inhibitor also regulates the AP where it binds non-covalently to C3b in a competition with complement factor B, a mechanism of inhibition that is completely different from the serpin function where C1-inhibitor binds covalently to the activated enzyme (Jiang *et al.*, 2001).

The AP is initiated continuously by low-grade hydrolysis of C3 which facilitates the covalent binding of C3b to any surface in a direct contact with the plasma upon formation of a fluid phase convertase C3b-H₂O-Bb (Fearon and Austen, 1975 a&b; Pangburn *et al.*, 1980). After formation of the C3 convertase, the target structures are effectively opsonised with C3b as a consequence of the amplification loop. Thus, activation of phagocytes and formation of MAC take place in parallel which can result in phagocytosis and cell lysis, respectively (Mueller-Eberhard, 1986). Regulation of the AP occurs at the C3b level by the plasma protein factors H (fH), Factor I (fI) and by three mMCRPs (CD35, CD46, and CD55) (Morgan and Meri, 1994; Liszewski *et al.*, 1996). Factor H regulates complement activation by competing with factor B for binding to C3b, by enhancing the dissociation of the C3 convertase, C3bBb and by acting as a cofactor for factor I in the proteolytic inactivation of C3b (Whaley and Ruddy, 1976; Weiler *et al.*, 1976; Fearon, 1978; Pangburn *et al.*, 1977).

Furthermore, complement regulatory proteins show multiple (e.g. decayaccelerating and membrane cofactor) activities. Regulators with decayaccelerating activity (C4-binding protein (C4bp), CR1/CD35, decay-accelerating factor (DAF/CD55), and factor H) disrupt the C3 convertase complex. However, those with cofactor activity (C4bp, CR1/CD35, MCP/CD46, and factor H) exert this function for factor I to cleave C3b and C4b into their inactive metabolites (iC3b and iC4b), respectively (Davies and Lachmann, 1993). CD59 interacts with C8 and C9 and inhibits the assembly of MAC (Davies and Lachmann, 1993). Accumulation of sublytic MAC on the cell membrane confers resistance to complement dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) and also induces the transduction of intracellular signals which induces cell proliferation (Tegla *et al.*, 2011). The anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a are rapidly inactivated by carboxypeptidases, particularly carboxypeptidase N (Matthews *et al.*, 2004).

1.4. Treatment approaches and development of resistance in tumors **1.4.1.** Chemotherapy and resistance mechanisms

In cancer, different treatment approaches have been used including surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, combination therapy, laser-based therapy and selective therapy (Longley and Johnston, 2005). Chemotherapy with one or more anti-cancer agent has been used as a part of standardized treatment regimen either with a curative intent or for prolongation of survival and reduction of the symptoms (palliative chemotherapy; Longley and Johnston, 2005).

Over the past decades a plethora of cytotoxic drugs, which selectively, but not exclusively, targets the proliferating cells were developed. These are consisting of different groups of reagents such as DNA alkylating agents, antimetabolites, intercalating agents and mitotic inhibitors (Luqmani, 2005). The antitumor potential of chemotherapeutic agents relies on six mechanisms: (1) DNA damage or inhibition of DNA replication, (2) inhibition of DNA and RNA synthesis, (3) interference with RNA transcription, (4) inhibition of protein synthesis, (5) interference with hormone homeostasis and (6) disruption of cellular microtubules via stabilisation or destabilisation (Kishi and Ueda, 2014). Novel strategies, based on molecular targeting of oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes and RNA interference (RNAi) were also developed (Nabholtz and Slamon, 2001).

Development of resistance to chemotherapeutic agents is a major problem, as it limits the effect of treatment. Drug-resistance is broadly classified into primary and acquired resistance (Lippert *et al.*, 2011; Meads *et al.*, 2009). During cancer invasion and metastasis, 90% of the failure in response to chemotherapeutic agents is due to the development of resistance. Drugresistant cells develop remarkable features including modification of drug transport, mutation of extracellular receptors, amplification and mutation of drug targets (Longley and Johnston, 2005).

Primary resistance is present prior to any given treatment, whereas acquired resistance develops after initial treatment. In cancer, acquired resistance is a particularly important problem, as tumor cells not only become resistant to the initially given drug but often develop cross-resistance to other drugs. Furthermore, resistant micrometastic tumor cells are responsible for the reduction of the effectiveness of chemotherapeutic agents in the adjuvant setting (Longley and Johnston, 2005).

Unfortunately, the majority of patients develop resistance at certain points of treatment. In the 1990s, nearly 50% of all cancer patients developed resistance against drugs (Pinedo and Giaccone, 1998). Approximately 20% of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) present with a primary drug resistant phenotype (Testi *et al.*, 1992; Giona *et al.*, 1994; Thomas *et al.*, 1999; O'Connor *et al.*, 2011). Following surgery, 50–70% of cases with adenocarcinoma relapse with a chemoresistant phenotype (Castells *et al.*, 2012).

Several mechanisms of drug resistance are differentiated including drug inactivation, initiation of multi-drug resistance, cell death inhibition (apoptosis suppression), altered drug metabolism, epigenetic changes and modification of drug targets, enhancement of DNA repair and amplification of genes which cause chemotherapeutic drug resistance (Figure 2; Mansoori *et al.*, 2017). Multidrug resistance (MDR) is a complex phenomenon in which cancer cells become resistant to multiple drugs with different structures and distinct mechanisms of action (Gottesman, 1993; Gillet and Gottesman, 2010). Mechanisms of MDR in cancer include altered activity of certain enzyme systems such as glutathione S-transferase and topoisomerase which attenuates the efficacy of anti-cancer drugs (Lewis *et al.*, 1989; Seitz *et al.*, 2010).

Proteins of the BCL2 family play a fundamental role in apoptosis control. Changes in the expression level of these proteins are associated with malignancies and development of drug resistance (Reed, 1995). However, over-expression of adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding cassette (ABC) transporters like ABCB1 (P-glycoprotein, P-gp/MDR1), ABCCs [MDR- associated proteins (MRPs)], and ABCG2 transporters (BMCRP/MXR/ABCP) is the most abundant MDR mechanism (Van Veen and Konings, 1998).

Cancer cells rely on energy derived from ATP hydrolysis and on protein transporters to efflux and significantly reduce the intracellular concentration of the anti-cancer drugs and hence attenuate their efficacy (Wang *et al.*, 2012).

Drug resistance mediated by ABC transporters such as P-glycoprotein (P-gp) is continued to be a major obstacle to effective cancer chemotherapy. Cancer cells derived from epithelial layers of colon, liver, adrenal gland, and pancreas are highly expressing P-gp transporters, which confers a broad spectrum of resistance to various anti-cancer agents, including anthracyclines, vinca alkaloids, etoposide and taxanes (de Bruijn *et al.*, 1986; Roninson *et al.*, 1986; Van der Bliek *et al.*, 1987; Gros *et al.*, 1988). Additional transporters of ABC such as ABCCs and ABCG2 are also mediators of MDR in cancer cells (Cole *et al.*, 1992; Van Veen and Konings, 1998; Guo *et al.*, 2003; Robert and Jarry, 2003).



Figure 2: Mechanisms of drug resistance in the cancer cells. This includes inactivation of the drug, multi-drug resistance, cell death inhibition (apoptosis suppression), alteration of drug metabolism, epigenetic changes, drug targets modification, enhance d DNA-repair and target gene amplification. *This figure is reproduced from Mansoori et al., 2017 with permission from Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin.*

1.4.2. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs)

Cancer-specific monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are considered as one of the most successful targeted treatment strategies in oncology. Various surface antigens like: (1) growth and differentiation associated proteins, such as CD20. CD30, CD33 and CD52; (2) carcino-embryonic antigen (CEA); (3) epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR); (4) receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand (RANKL); (5) human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2); (5) vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF); (6) VEGF receptor (VEGFR); (7) integrins (e.g. $\alpha V\beta 3$ and $\alpha 5\beta 1$); (8) fibroblast activation protein and (9) extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducers have been targeted by mAbs (Hofmeister et al., 2006; Hudis, 2007; Schliemann and Neri, 2007; Scott et al., 2012). Several mAbs are commercially available for treatment of various malignancies. In haematological malignancies, rituximab and ofatumumab (RTX and OFA; anti-CD20) and alemtuzumab (ALM; anti-CD52) are widely used. In solid tumors, monoclonal antibodies such as trastuzumab (anti-HER2, herceptin) and cetuximab (anti-EGFR) were approved (Schliemann and Neri, 2007; Scott et al., 2012).

Therapeutic mAbs exert direct and indirect anti-tumor effects. As direct mechanisms (Fab-mediated), mAbs induce anti-proliferative, pro-apoptotic signals or prevent binding of ligands (e.g. growth factors and cytokines) to their natural receptors. As indirect mechanisms (Fc-mediated), immune effector actions such as antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) and complement-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (CDCC) are employed.

Target cells, opsonised with mAbs are subject to lysis either by CDC or CDCC. Recruitment of cytotoxic effector cells, such as natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages, and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN) with Fc gamma receptors ($Fc\gamma R$) is essential for ADCC (Beers *et al.*, 2009). While ADCC and the Fab-mediated elimination of tumors are widely considered as effective mechanisms of mAb action, the role of complement in cancer immune response is still controversial (Beers *et al.*, 2009; Introna and Golay, 2009). Immunostimulatory mAbs efficiently activate T-lymphocytes by suppressing expression of CTLA-4 (Yang *et al.*, 2007). An additional set of mAbs induce vascular ablation and disrupt the interaction between stromal and cancer cells

which in turn inhibits the blood supply and supports tumor regression (Willett *et al.*, 2004).

In 1997, rituximab (RTX) was approved as the first mAb for cancer treatment (Wood, 2001). It is a chimeric anti-CD20 mAb composed of a murine variable region (Fab region) linked to a human (Fc region) reacting with CD20 on tumor cells. CD20 is a 35 kDa transmembrane protein, mainly located on pre-mature and mature B lymphocytes but not on stem or plasma cells (Lina Reslan *et al.*, 2009). RTX has become the standard treatment for B-cell malignancies including NHL (Armitage *et al.*, 1998). It achieved an impressive (48%) overall response rate in patients with relapsed low-grade NHL (McLaughlin *et al.*, 1998). In patients with chronic or small lymphocytic leukaemia, RTX showed an overall response rate of 58% with a 9% complete response rate (Hainsworth *et al.*, 2003). Similar success was reported when the drug was used to treat follicular lymphoma lymphoma (Hiddemann *et al.*, 2005), or diffused large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL or DLBL; Coiffier *et al.*, 2002).

Development of new treatment strategies against breast cancer has focused on understanding the expression, regulation and function of critical signaling pathways involved in cancer initiation and progression which resulted in identification of breast cancer subsets with distinct biology (Perou *et al.*, 2000; Sorlie *et al.*, 2001; Sorlie *et al.*, 2003; Hu *et al.*, 2006) and development of targeted therapies. Notable examples are the successful use of hormonal therapy for women with hormone-sensitive tumors and anti-HER2-based therapy for women with HER2-overexpressing tumors (Slamon *et al.*, 2001).

Trastuzumab (herceptin) is a humanized IgG1 *kappa* light chain mAb in which the complementary-determining regions of a HER2-specific mouse mAb were joined to human antibody framework regions through genetic engineering (Carter *et al.*, 1992; Fendly *et al.*, 1990). It has been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treatment of HER2-overexpressing breast cancer in adjuvant and metastatic settings (Cobleigh *et al.*, 1999; Slamon *et al.*, 2001; Romond *et al.*, 2005). The importance of the anti-tumor effect of trastuzumab-induced ADCC was shown in several xenograft models (Clynes *et al.*, 2000; Spiridon *et al.*, 2004; Barok *et al.*, 2007). However, the clinical relevance of complement activation mediated by trastuzumab is less clear. Trastuzumab has been shown to fix complement and cause destruction of the

HER2-positive cell line BT474 *in vitro* (Spiridon *et al.,* 2004). In other studies, trastuzumab was only able to induce a minor effect by CDC (*Drebin et al., 1988;* Yu *et al., 1999;* Prang *et al., 2005;* Mamidi *et al., 2013*).

1.4.3. Response to combined mAbs/chemotherapeutic anti-cancer regimens

Although mAbs improve the response of patients suffering from certain types of cancers, there is no evidence that they can positively modify curability of conventional therapy-resistant patients (Prang et al., 2005; Mamidi et al., of RTX 2013). Combination regimens with cyclophosphamide, hydroxydaunomycin, oncovin, prednisone (CHOP) improved response rate, freedom from progression and overall survival of patients with DLBCL who were already curable with CHOP alone (Coiffier et al., 2002). However, patients resistant to RTX-containing chemotherapy or those who relapsed after treatment showed a very low survival rate. Likewise, in solid tumors mAbs in combination regimens could not improve curability of patients resistant to conventional therapy (Bhutani and Vaishampayan, 2013).

Whether administered as a single agent or in combination regimens, the therapeutic efficacy of mAbs is often restricted by resistance mechanisms. Among possible mechanisms of resistance to RTX are down-regulation or loss of expression of CD20, formation of soluble CD20 molecules or inhibition of ADCC and CDC (Smith, 2003; Taylor and Lindorfer, 2010). Bail et al., (2010) demonstrated that the reduced sensitivity of B cell lymphomas to RTX-mediated CDC was in part due to down-regulation of CD20 expression. In contrast, enhanced expression of CD20 by B cell lymphomas in response to the farnesyl transferase inhibitor bryostatin-1 or histone deacetylase inhibitors increased the RTX -induced cytotoxic activity (Wojciechowski et al., 2005; Shimizu et al., 2010; Winiarska et al., 2012). Likewise, enhanced expression of CD20 on DLBCL cells in response to gemcitabine augmented their sensitivity to rituximab-induced CDC (Hayashi et al., 2016). It has been reported that drug resistant cancer cells exert either enhanced resistance or enhanced susceptibility to CDC (Weisburg et al., 1996; Bomstein and Fishelson, 1997; Odening et al., 2009). This is mainly attributed to expression of P-gp and abnormal expression of complement regulators (Bomstein and Fishelson, 1997;

Odening *et al.*, 2009). Similarly, various chemotherapeutic drugs effectively inhibited NK cells-mediated tumor cell killing and significantly impaired the efficacy of immunotherapy (Markasz *et al.*, 2007).

1.5. Tumor resistance to complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC)

Under normal conditions, complement is tightly regulated by circulating and membrane-bound complement regulators (mCRP) to avoid complementmediated cell destruction. However, in certain tumours, the cells tend to express higher levels of mCRPs than normal cells (Niehans *et al.*, 1996; Simpson *et al.*, 1997; Varsano *et al.*, 1998a; Li *et al.*, 2001; Fishelson and Kirschfink, 2019). Colorectal, lung, prostate and breast cancers highly express at least one of the mCRPs (Koretz *et al.*, 1992; Hosch *et al.*, 2001; Fishelson *et al.*, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2005; Loberg *et al.*, 2006; Macor &Tedesco, 2007; Gancz and Fishelson, 2009; Zhao *et al.*, 2009).

High expression of CD55 by B-lymphocytes reduced their sensitivity to RTX-mediated CDC (Terui et al., 2006). Up-regulation of CD59 in NHL and CLL malignancies was considered as a marker for sensitivity to RTX and OFA (Bjorge et al., 1997; Jarvis et al., 1997; Juhl et al., 1997; Coral et al., 2000; Fonsatti et al., 2000; Golay et al., 2000; Harjunpaa et al., 2000; Golay et al., 2001; Ziller et al., 2005; Bjorge et al., 2006; Takei et al., 2006; Macor et al., 2007a; Hu et al., 2011). RTX-mediated CDC linearly correlated with the expression of CD20 in freshly isolated B-CLL, mantle cell lymphoma and prolymorphocytic leukemia cells. Moreover, functional inhibition of CD55 and CD59 increased sensitivity of these tumor cells to both RTX and complement (Golay et al., 2001). Primary CLL and CD20-positive Raji cells showed reduced sensitivity to RTX-induced CDC, whereas the same cells were more susceptible to OFA-induced CDC (Mamidi et al., 2015). Primary CLL cells were more sensitive to ALM-induced CDC (Mamidi et al., 2015). The combined inhibition of mCRPs on Raji and CLL cells enhanced their sensitivity to RTX and OFAinduced CDC (Mamidi et al., 2015). Similarly, inhibition of mCRPs on CD52positive, ALL and REH cells augmented their sensitivity to ALM-induced CDC (Mamidi et al., 2015).

Reduced sensitivity of breast carcinoma cell lines to CDC induced by MT201 (epithelial cell adhesion molecule (Ep-CAM)-specific mAb) and

trastuzumab correlated with the expression of complement resistance factors (Prang *et al.*, 2005). The inefficient ability of trastuzumab to induce CDCC or CDC of HER2-positive glioblastoma cell lines (A172 and U251MG) was due to elevated expression of CD55 and CD59 (Mineo *et al.*, 2004). Expression of CD55 and CD59 by non-small cells lung carcinom closely correlated with the histological type, prognosis and the effect of the pre-operational adjuvant chemotherapy. Functional inhibition of mCRPs increased killing of two human lung carcinoma cell lines by the trastuzumab-induced CDC (Zhao *et al.*, 2009).

Phosphorylation of intracellular proteins by the protein kinase C (PKC) (Jurianz *et al.*, 1999; Kraus and Fishelson, 2000), of the extracellularly regulated protein kinase (ERK) (Kraus *et al.*, 2001) and increased protein synthesis (Ohanian *et al.*, 1981) entail complement resistance mechanisms. The possible mode of protection conferred by PKC and ERK is that they take part in the process of MAC removal by vesiculation or endocytosis (Carney *et al.*, 1985; Morgan *et al.*, 1987).

Sublytic doses of antibody and complement or treatment with ionomycin, A23187, cAMP, forskolin or phorbol myristate acetate enhanced resistance of erythroleukaemic K562 cells to complement-mediated damage within several minutes (Reiter *et al.*, 1995). The protective effect of the sublytic C5b-9 complement complex doses relies on initiating signalling processes resulting in calcium ion influx, PKC and ERK activation and protein synthesis (Reiter *et al.*, 1992; Kraus and Fishelson, 2000; Kraus *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, the pore-formers perforin, streptolysin O and mellitin enhanced resistance of the K562 cells to complement (Reiter *et al.*, 1995).

Blocking the activity of complement fH has been suggested as a powerful strategy to increase the response of resistant tumors to RTX-induced CDC (Di Gaetano *et al.*, 2003; Van Meerten *et al.*, 2006). Horl *et al.*, (2013) reported that the short-consensus repeat 18–20 (hSCR18–20) of human recombinant complement fH was able to interfere with binding of fH to CLL cells and enhanced their sensitivity to RTX-induced CDC. Recombinant antibody produced against fH was able not only to activate complement to release anaphylatoxins and promote CDC of tumor cell lines but also to inhibit tumor growth *in vivo* (Bushey *et al.*, 2016).

Additional strategies and approaches to increase the sensitivity of cancer cells to complement attack are in progress. Engineering of cancer cells to express the heterologous antigen α -Galactose (α -Gal) efficiently increased their sensitivity to lysis by activating the complement cascade. Wu *et al.* (2014) reported that human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell lines (LoVo and SW620) transfected with α -Gal were highly sensitive to complement attack compared to CD55-highly expressing Ls-1740T cells.

1.6. Rational of the present work

Although many drugs and mAbs are in clinical use to treat cancer, a complete therapeutic response can be achieved in only few patients. This can often be attributed to the development of resistance to the used therapies. Despite increasing evidence that cancer drugs confer resistance to CDC, ADCC, and CDCC, little is still known about the interaction between chemo- and immuno-therapy within combined treatment regimens. This encouraged us to further study the impact of chemotherapy on antibody-based complement-mediated tumor cell killing.

1.6.1. Aim of the study

In an in *vitro* study, we aim to investigate the possible implication of known anti-cancer drugs on complement-mediated tumor cell lysis and/or opsonisation with the C3 fragment iC3b and the potential involvement of complement regulatory proteins.

1.6.2. Specific objectives are:

- a. to test the effect of treating tumor cell lines with anti-cancer chemotherapies on their susceptibility to antibody-mediated opsonisation and CDC.
- b. to study the dose dependent effect of such chemotherapeutics on the expression profile of complement regulators.

1.6.3. Plan of the work

- a. Raji, SKBR-3 and BT474 cells are used as models for hematologic and breast cancer.
- b. Various concentrations of the chemotherapeutics doxorubicin, taxol, bortezomib and fludarabine are used at two different time intervals to pre-treat the tumor cells.
- c. Expression of membrane complement regulators (mCRP) on treated and untreated cells will be tested.
- d. Response of treated and untreated cells to antibody-based complementmediated cell killing (CDC) in absence and in presence of neutralizing anti-mCRP Abs will be studied.
- e. Binding of exogenously added complement regulator fH to treated and untreated cell membranes will be analyzed.
- f. Tagging of treated and untreated cells with the opsonine iC3b upon complement activation will be investigated.
- g. Secretion of soluble complement regulators like C1-inhibitors, fH and fI from treated and untreated cells will be analyzed.

Chapter 2– Materials & Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Equipment

Autoclave	Systec 5075 EL, Wettenberg, Germany
CO ₂ incubator	Heraeus B 5060 EK/CO2, Hanau, Germany
Cell counter	CASY TT, Roche Innovatis, Mannheim, Germany
Centrifuges	 ALC 4236, Wiesloch, Germany Hettich Rotina 48R, Tuttlingen, Germany Eppendorf, 5415R, Hamburg, Germany
Microplate reader for ELISA	Sunrise Tecan, Crailsheim, Germany
Flowcytometer	FACS LSR II, Becton Dickinson (BD), Heidelberg, Germany
Heating &magnetic stirrer plate	Heidolph MR 3001K, Neolab Migge, Heidelberg, Germany
Inverted microscope	Carl Zeiss ID 03, Jena, Germany
Laboratory pH meter	pH -meter 766 Calimatic, KNICK, Berlin, Germany
Light microscope	Carl Zeiss 4730 11-9901, Jena, Germany
Sterile bank	UVF 618S-BDK, Sonnenbuehl-Genkingen, Germany
Vortex-mixer	HeidolphElectrical/Electronic Manufacturing, Kelheim, Germany
Water path	Julabo SW22 E-7104, Neo-Lab Migge, Heidelberg, Germany
Vacuum-pump	Vacuubrand, Wertheim, Germany
γ–counter	Automated Wizard ² 2470, Perkin Elmer's MA, USA

2.1.2 Non-disposable materials

Glass tubes	Central store, Heidelberg University, Germany
Neubauer counting chamber	Brand, Wertheim, Germany
Micro vials (2.5ml; 5ml)	Neo-Lab Migge, Heidelberg, Germany

2.1.3. Disposable materials

Six well plates	Nunc Int., Roskilde, Denmark
Ninety-six well plates (flat, U- shape or V-shape bottom)	Nunc Int., Roskilde, Denmark
Counting tubes	Ritter, Schwabmuenchen, Germany
Cell culture flasks (25cm ² &75cm ²)	Nunclon [™] , Nunc Int., Roskilde, Denmark
Freezing tubes	Nunclon [™] Nunc Int., Roskilde, Denmark
FACS-tubes	BD, Heidelberg, Germany
Falcon tubes (15ml &50ml)	Greiner bio-one, Frickenhausen, Germany
Micropipette tips	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Serological pipettes, sterile (5ml &10ml)	Sarstedt, Nuembrecht, Germany
Micropipettes (2µI -1000µI)	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Minisart syringe filter (0.2µm)	Sartorius, Goettingen, Germany
Serological pipette sterile (25ml)	Greiner Bio-one, Frickenhausen, Germany
Nalgene rapid flow 75mm filter unit (500ml -1000ml)	Thermo-Scientific, Germany
Pasteur-pipettes	Hilgenberg, Malsfeld, Germany
Weighting papers	A. Hartenstein, Wuerzburg, Germany

2.1.4. Reagents

Aqua ad injection	B. Braun Melsungen, Germany
BSA (<u>B</u> ovines <u>S</u> erum	SERVA, Heidelberg, Germany
<u>A</u> lbumin)	
DMSO (<u>D</u> i- <u>M</u> ethyl <u>S</u> ulfoxide)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
EDTA	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Ethanol (70% ig)	Central store, Heidelberg University,
	Germany
FCS (<u>F</u> etal <u>C</u> alf <u>S</u> erum)	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
H ₂ O ₂ (Hydrogen peroxide)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Sodium azide (NaN ₃)	Merck, Darmstadt, Germany
Paraformaldehyde (PFA)	Central store, Heidelberg University,
	Germany
Hydrochloric acid (HCL)	Mallinckrodt Baker, Deventer, Netherlands
Triton® X-100	MERCK, Darmstadt, Germany
Trypsin-EDTA	PAA Laboratories, Coelbe, Germany
Trypan blue solution 0.4%	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
ABTS (2,2'- <u>A</u> zino- <u>B</u> is-3 Ethyl	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
benzo thiazoline-6- <u>S</u> ulphonic	
acid)	

2.1.5. Buffers and cell culture media

Ca ²⁺ /Mg ²⁺ - stock solution	0.15M CaCl ₂ ; 1M MgCl ₂
EDTA- stock solution	37.2g EDTA, 6ml NaOH (32%) and 1L distilled
	water, the pH was adjusted to 7.5 with NaOH
	(32%)
Calibration solutions for the	pH 4; pH 7; pH 9.2. Mettler-Toledo, Urdorf,
pH meter	Switzerland
FACS buffer	1x PBS; 1% BSA; 0.1% NaN ₃
Fixation buffer	1 x PBS; 1% PFA.

HEPES buffer	Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany
PBS	Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany
RPMI 1640	Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany
McCoy's 5A Modified	PAN Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany
Medium	
Test medium	0.03% 2M MgCl ₂ ; 0.1% BSA in culture medium
	without Fetal Calf Serum (FCS)
Veronal Buffer Saline (VBS)	5mM Sodium Barbital (pH 7.4); 150mM NaCl ₂ .
stock solution	
VBS working solution	VBS-stock buffer was diluted with distilled water
	(1:5); 0.15mM CaCl ₂ ; 1mM MgCl ₂ ; 0.1% BSA
Washing buffer	1 x PBS, 2mM EDTA.
ELISA buffers	1. Washing buffer: PBS; 0.1% Tween-20 (pH
	7.4)
	2. Coating buffer: 50mM Na2CO ₃ (pH 9.6)
	3. Antibody dilution buffer: PBS; 0.2% Tween-
	20 (pH 7.4)
	4. Samples dilution buffer: PBS; 0.2% Tween-
	20; 10mM EDTA (pH 7.2)
	5. Substrate buffer: ABTS 2mg/ml Citrate-
	Phosphate buffer (pH 4.6)
ELISA stopping buffer	Oxalic acid (0.2M); Grüssing Analytica, Filsum,
	Germany

2.1.6. Test kits

FITC-labeled Annexin V for apoptosis	BD, Heidelberg, Germany.
detection kit I	
⁵¹ Cr	Hartmann-Analytic, Braunschweig, Germany
	Germany

2.1.7. Chemotherapeutic agents

Doxorubicin (2mg/ml)	(Adriamycin); Central pharmacy,		
	Heidelberg University Hospital		
Fludarabine (10mg/ml)	(Fludara);	Central	pharmacy,
	Heidelberg University Hospital		
Bortezomib (2.5mg/ml)	(Velcade);	Central	pharmacy,
	Heidelberg University Hospital		
Paclitaxel (PTX; 6mg/ml)	(Taxol); Bristol Arzneimittel, Munich,		
	Germany		

2.1.8. Antibodies, ELISA controls and standards

FITC-labeled f(ab')2 gt α ms IgG	DAKO-BIOZOL, Eching, Germany		
Alexa fluor 488-labeled rb α gt	Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany		
IgG			
ms α iC3b	Quidel (A209); Kornwestheim, Germany		
ms α CD46	IgG1, clone GB24; Dr. J. Atkinson,		
	Washington University, St. Louis, MO,		
	USA		
ms α CD55	IgG1, clone Bric 216; International Blood		
	Group Reference Laboratory, IBGRL,		
	Birmingham, England		
ms α CD59	IgG2b, clone Bric 229; International Blood		
	Group Reference Laboratory, IBGRL,		
	Birmingham, England		
ms IgG1 isotype control	15H6; Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL,		
	USA		
ms IgG2b isotype control	A-1; Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL,		
	USA		
Polyclonal rabbit antiserum	In-house produced, Institute of		
against tumour cells	Immunology, Heidelberg, Germany		
	(Odening <i>et al.,</i> 2009)		

Rituximab (10mg/ml)	Rituxan®, Central pharmacy, Heidelberg		
	University Hospital		
ELISA, factor I (fl) -antibodies			
1. gt α human fl	Quidel (A313); Kornwestheim, Germany		
2. ms α human fl	Quidel (A247); Kornwestheim, Germany		
3. F(ab')2 gt α ms IgG (H+L)-	Dianova 115-036-062), Hamburg,		
PO	Germany		
Factor I control	Control sera SEKO14 and SEPO4 from		
	Diagnostic lab, Institute of Immunology,		
	Heidelberg University, Germany		
Factor I standard (30µg/ml)	Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany		
ELISA, factor H (fH) -antibodies			
1. gt α human fH	Quidel (A312); Kornwestheim, Germany		
2. ms α human fH	Serotec (MCA 509, OX 24 S/N); Biorad,		
	Puchheim, Germany		
3. F(ab')2 gt α ms IgG (H+L)-	Dianova (115-036-062), Hamburg,		
PO	Germany		
Factor H standard (1.05mg/ml)	Advanced Research Technologies, San		
	Diego, CA, USA		
Factor H controls	Control serum SEKO 10 and Kons.		
	128694 from the Diagnostic lab, Institute		
	of Immunology, Heidelberg, Germany		
ELISA, C1-Inhibitor (C1-Inh)			
antibodies			
1. rb polyclonal α human C1-	AK 133; DAKO-BIOZOL, Eching,		
Inh	Germany		
2. gt polyclonal α human C1-			
Inh	AK 47; ATAB, Germany		
3. rb polyclonal α gt IgG			
(H+L)-PO	Dianova (305-036-45), Hamburg,		
	Germany		

C1-Inh standard (10.9mg/ml):	GSL; Behring, Germany		
C1-Inh controls	Control sera SEPO4 and SEKO14 from		
	Diagnostic lab, Institute of Immunology,		
	Heidelberg, Germany		
gt polyconal α human fH	MERCK-Biosciences, Darmstadt,		
	Germany		

2.1.9 Normal human serum (NHS) as a source of complement

Active serum	A pool of sera from healthy blood donors, sterile filtrated
	and stored at -70°C.
Inactive (i.a.)	The same pool of sera was complement-inactivated by
serum	heating at 56°C for 30min
C8 depleted	Human serum deficient in C8, Complement Technology
serum	Inc., Texas, USA

2.1.10 Tumor cell lines

Cell	Adherent/	Cell type	Origin	Medium	DSMZ
line	Suspension				-Nr.
BT474	Adherent	Mammary	60 years adult with	RPMI-	ACC-
		gland; ductal	invasive breast	1640	64
		carcinoma	cancer		
SKBR3	Adherent	Breast	Established from	McCoy's	ACC-
		carcinoma	the pleural effusion	- 5a	736
			of a 43-year-old		
			Caucasian woman		
			with breast		
			carcinoma in 1970		
Raji	Suspension	Burkitt-	Established from	RPMI-	ACC-
		lymphoma	the left maxilla of a	1640	319
			12-year-old African		
			boy with Burkitt		
			lymphoma in 1963.		

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cell culture

SKBR3 cells were cultured in McCoy's 5a (90% McCoy's 5a + 10% h.i. FCS), BT474 and Raji cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 media (90% RPMI 1640 + 10% h.i. FCS + 10µg/ml human insulin + 2mM L-glutamine). For all cell lines, the media were supplemented with 10% FCS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin. The cells were grown under standard conditions (humidified atmosphere, 5% CO₂ at 37°C) and passaged two or three times a week to keep the culture in logarithmical growth. For propagation and seeding, adherent cells were washed with PBS, trypsinized in 0.25% Trypsin/EDTA and the cell pellets were collected by centrifugation at 200xg for 5min. Cell count was determined, followed by re-suspending the cells into desired cell density according to the experimental needs (Mamidi *et al.*, 2013). Cells growing in suspension were collected by centrifugation as mentioned above, followed by cell counting in appropriate fresh culture medium. Finally, cell densities were adjusted according to the experimental needs (Mamidi *et al.*, 2015).

2.2.2 Cell lines storage

Storing and reseeding of frozen cells were carried out according to DSMZ regulations. Briefly, tumor cells were harvested from cell culture flasks and resuspended in freezing medium consisting of 70% fresh culture medium (appropriate medium for each cell lines), 20% FCS, and 10% DMSO. The cell density was adjusted at 1-1.5×10⁶cells/ml and 1ml of cell suspension was immediately transferred into a sterile cryo-vial and stored at -80°C for short term or in liquid nitrogen for long term storage. Frozen cells were thawed directly in water bath at 37°C and immediately mixed in 15ml falcon tubes with 10ml fresh cell culture medium containing 10% FCS. The cells were collected by centrifugation at 200×g for 5min, the supernatant was discarded and the cell pellets were re-suspended in an appropriate volume of culture medium.
2.2.3 Cell treatment

Anti-cancer agents (Doxorubicin 2mg/ml; Fludarabine 10mg/ml; Paclitaxel (Taxol) 6mg/ml; Bortezomib 2.5mg/ml) were stored at 4°C as stock solution until use. Working drug concentrations were freshly prepared in appropriate cell culture media and precisely mixed before use. In all further experiments, the term un-treated is referring to tumor cells grown in absence of anti-cancer agents. The term 'treated' refers to tumor cells grown in presence of one of the anti-cancer agents at indicated time interval.

2.2.4 Trypan blue dye exclusion assay

The cells were seeded in 6-well cell culture plates at 8x10⁵ cells/well and adherent cells were allowed to grow 24h before treatment. Cells were then pretreated with different concentrations of anti-cancer drugs: taxol (0, 5, 10 and 20nM); doxorubicin (0, 2, 5 and 10µM); bortezomib (0, 5, 10 and 20nM) for 48h under standard growth conditions (humidified atmosphere, 5% CO2 and 37°C). For Raji cells, cell density was adjusted to 8x10⁵ cells/ml followed by immediate treatment with above mentioned bortezomib concentrations for 48h. Raji cells were pretreated with fludarabine (0, 1, 3 and 5µM) at 48h under standard growth conditions. Working drug concentrations were used for doxorubicin (Pilco-Ferreto and Calaf, 2016), taxol (Liebmann et al., 1993), bortezomib (Di Raimondo et al., 1995) and fludarabine (Bil et al., 2010) as previously recommended. The trypan blue dye exclusion assay was used to determine the number of viable cells in a cell suspension (Strober et al., 2001). Briefly, 50µL of the cell suspension were added into a cryo-vial, mixed with an equal volume of 0.4% trypan blue dye and incubated for at least 3min at room temperature. With the coverslip, one side of a hemacytometer counter was filled with the cell suspension and, using a conventional light microscope, coloured (death) cells were counted and the percentage of viable cells was calculated. As we here analyse the impact of anti-cancer drugs on antibody mediated cancer cell killing or opsonisation, tolerable, non-toxic concentrations of used anti-cancer drugs are indispensable to use for further analysis in this study.

2.2.5 Analysis of mCRP expression

8x10⁵ cells/well of each tumor cell line were prepared in duplicates and seeded into six well cell culture plates. Adherent cells as well as growing cells in a suspension were handled as previously described. Levels of mCRPs were analyzed by flow cytometry assay according to Mamidi et al, 2015. Briefly, collected tumor cells were re-suspended and distributed at 1x10⁵/100µL FACS buffer (1% BSA, 0.1% NaN₃ in PBS)/well in V-shape bottom 96 well plates. The cells were washed twice in FACS buffer by centrifugation at 150×g each for 5min and 4°C. Different sets of the cells were incubated at 4°C for 30min with either ms α human primary antibody against CD46, CD55 and CD59 or with ms IgG1 isotype control (10µg/ml). The cells were then washed twice, followed by centrifugation for 5min at 4°C in FACS buffer. The cell pellet in each well was re-suspended in 100µl FACS buffer containing FITC-conjugated f(ab')2 goat a mouse IgG antibody (1:50) and incubated in the dark for 30min at 4°C. Finally, the cells were washed three times by centrifugation in FACS buffer 5min at 4°C and fixed in 100µl fixing buffer (4% paraformaldehyde in PBS). Stained cells were analysed using FACS LSRII. For each cell line, an appropriate voltage was adjusted on a sample from untreated cells. For each mAb used an appropriate isotype control was included for gating to exclude the background due to non-specific staining. The gated cells were analysed and the data were presented in percentage (mean values \pm SD) of the givin tumor cells with positive mCRP expression. Untreated cells were taken as a reference and all experiments were performed 3 times with three biological replicates for each variable.

2.2.6 Analysis of fH binding to cancer cells

Tumor cells (8x10⁵) cells/well were cultured in duplicates in cell culture medium in presence or absence of anticancer drugs as previously mentioned. At 48h, cells were collected as described above, washed once by centrifugation in PBS for 5min at room temperature and re-suspended in 1x PBS containing 1% BSA (PBS-BSA). The cells were further incubated with NHS diluted 1:4 in PBS-BSA –buffer, for 20min at 37°C. Binding of fH to tumor cells was detected using goat anti-human fH polyclonal antibody (1:500) in PBS-BSA and Alexa Fluor 488-labeled rabbit anti-goat IgG (1:800) in PBS-BSA. Goat pre-immune

sera were used as a negative control. 1×10^5 cells in three independent experiments with each 3 biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed by FACS LSRII as mentioned above. The data are presented as percentage (mean values \pm SD) of gated tumor cells with positive fH binding. Untreated cells were taken as reference and all experiments were performed 3 times and three biological replicates for each variable were analysed.

2.2.7 Analysis of cell lysis by CDC

Complement-dependent lysis of tumor cells was analysed by radioactive ⁵¹chromium (⁵¹Cr) release assay as described by Mamidi *et al.*, (2015). Briefly, untreated and pre-treated tumor cells (1x10⁶) were labeled in 100µl complete growth medium (appropriate medium for each cell lines with 10% FCS) with 100µCi ⁵¹Cr for 2h at 37°C. Labeled cells were washed three times in assay medium (0.6mM MgCl₂ and 0.1% BSA in FCS-free RPMI or McCoy's 5a) and the cell count was adjusted at 2x10⁵ cells/ml in assay medium. The cell suspension (1x10⁴/50µl) was distributed in U-shape bottom 96 well plates and incubated with complement activating antibody. For Raji cells RTX (10µg/ml) was used. To achieve optimal CDC and because of lack of broad reacting and CDC-inducing mAbs against breast cancer cell lines, polyclonal rabbit antitumour antibodies (1:50) from previously immunized rabbits (described in detail in Odening et al., 2009) were used. In a set of experiments, mCRP specific noncomplement activating neutralizing antibodies anti-CD46 (clone GB-24), anti-CD55 (clone Bric 110), and anti-CD59 (clone Bric 229) were applied at a concentration of 2µg/ml for 20min to inhibit the respective inhibitors. Normal human serum (NHS) (1:10) in assay medium were used as complement source for 60min at 37°C. Heat inactivated (i.a.) serum served as control. To determine the spontaneous ⁵¹Cr release, NHS was replaced by test medium in few wells. Maximum ⁵¹Cr release was determined by adding 1% Triton® X-100 into control wells. Finally, the plates were centrifuged at $150 \times q$ for 5min and radioactivity in supernatants was measured in a γ -counter. The data are presented as the mean valus ± SD of lysed cells (in %). Untreated cells were taken as a reference and all experiments were performed 3 times with three biological replicates for each variable. Specific lysis of each sample was calculated

according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneous release)/ (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

2.2.8. Analysis of cell opsonisation with iC3b

Opsonisation with iC3b of untreated and drug-treated tumor cells in response to anticancer drugs was analysed by flow cytometry as described by Mamidi et al. 2013. Briefly, tumor cells (1x10⁵/100µl) were re-suspended in VBS-buffer (5mM Sodium Barbital (pH= 7.4), 0.15mM CaCl₂, 1mM MqCl₂, 150mM NaCl₂; 0.1% BSA). In order to induce complement activation, cells were pre-incubated with either RTX (10µg/ml) final concentration or polyclonal rabbit anti-tumor antibodies (1:50) for 30min at 37°C. C8-depleted or heat inactivated human serum in VBS-buffer were added to avoid terminal MAC formation and further incubated for 20min at 37°C. The cells were washed twice with FACS buffer each for 5min at 4°C and iC3b opsonisation was quantified by applying (1) primary antibody: mouse monoclonal anti-iC3b/lgG (10µg/ml) final concentration for 30min at 37°C; (2) secondary antibody: FITC labeled goat anti-mouse IgG (1:50) for 30min at 37°C. Finally, cells were washed twice in FACS-buffer for 5min at 4°C. The data are presented in percentage (mean values ± SD) of gated tumor cells positive for iC3b staining. Untreated tumor cells were taken as a reference and all experiments were performed 3 times and three biological replicates for each variable were analysed.

2.2.9. Analysis of soluble complement inhibitor secretion (C1-inhibitor, factor H and factor I) by cancer cells

Levels of factor H (fH), factor I (fI) and C1-inhibitor (C1-Inh) in the collected cell culture supernatants of untreated and drug-treated cells were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay as described by Mamidi et al 2013. In brief, 96-well microtitre plates with flat-shape bottom were coated with the respective specific antibodies in 50mM Na2CO3/NaHCO3, pH 9·6 for 16h at 4°C [fH, (gt α human fH (1:1000); fI, (gt α human fI (1:300); C1-Inh, (rb polyclonal α human C1-Inh (1:300)]. After washing the plates three times in ELISA-washing buffer PBS; 0.1% Tween-20 pH 7.4, the remaining unspecific binding sites were blocked with 1% BSA in PBS, 100µl/well from each cell culture supernatant was added in triplicate for 1h at room temperature. The plates were washed three times and incubated with the respective detection

antibodies [fH, (ms α human fH (1:400); fl, (ms α human fl (1:1000); C1-Inh, (gt polyclonal α human C1-Inh (1:2000)] for 1 h at room temperature followed by peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody f(ab¹)₂ rabbit anti-goat IgG (1:5000) or goat anti-mouse IgG (1:2000 and/or 1:1000), respectively, for 1h at room temperature. The assay was developed using ABTS 2mg/ml Citrate-Phosphate-buffer (pH 4.6)/H₂O₂ as a substrate. After terminating the reaction with 0.2M oxalic acid as stop solution, the microtitre plates were analysed at 405nm, with reference filter at λ max: 492nm on an ELISA plate reader. Purified C1-Inh, fH and fl were used as standards.

2.2.10. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism software (Version 5.0; GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). Multiple comparisons were performed using either Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc test or by using One-way ANOVA, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison test. The results are presented as mean values \pm SD of triplicates of three independent experiments. For all studied parameters, untreated tumor cells were used as reference and the effects of tested drugs on these parameters were analysed at selected time intervals for each drug concentration. The differences between data sets were considered significant at p < 0.05.

Chapter 3 – Results

3.1. Viability of different cancer cell lines upon treatment with different chemotherapeutics at 48h

To allow interpretation of complement-mediated cytotoxicity (CDC) versus drug-induced cell killing, viability of tumor cells from different lines upon treatment with respective drugs was analysed at 48h in a dose dependent manner. The influence of anti-cancer drugs on the viability of cancer cells was almost neglectable at 24h, whereas a measurable influence was observed at 48h (Table 1 and Figure 3).

Untreated BT474 cells showed a viability of $89.1\pm2\%$ at 48h. Doxorubicin-treated cells showed $80.2\pm2.8\%$, $72.4\pm2.1\%$ and $69.4\pm2.2\%$ viability at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM drug concentration, respectively. Upon treatment with taxol these cells had a viability of $83.2\pm3.7\%$, $72.9\pm3.1\%$ and $70.7\pm3.2\%$ at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM, respectively. Viability of bortezomib-treated cells was $82.7\pm3.7\%$, $79.2\pm3.7\%$ and $69.7\pm2.6\%$ at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol, respectively (Table 3 & Figure 3a, c & e).

Untreated SKBR-3 cells showed a viability of $88.6\pm3.5\%$ at 48h. Upon treatment with doxorubicin viability was $79.1\pm1.8\%$, $74.5\pm3.5\%$ and $69.4\pm2.1\%$ at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM, respectively (Table 1 & Figure 3a & b). Taxol-treated cells showed $81.4\pm1.7\%$, $75.8\pm4.5\%$ and $71.1\pm1.5\%$ viability at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM drug concentration, respectively (Table 1 & Figure 3c & d). Viability of bortezomib-treated cells was $75.4\pm3.9\%$, $68.8\pm1.4\%$ and $63.7\pm3.5\%$ at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM, respectively (Table 3 & Figure 3b, d & f).

Untreated Raji cells showed 91.2 \pm 1.8% viability at 48h. Upon treatment with bortezomib a viability of 83.7 \pm 3.9%, 74.8 \pm 3.2% and 66.0 \pm 5.7% was recorded at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib concentration, respectively (Table 1 & Figure 3e, f & g). Fludarabine-treated Raji cells showed 81.2 \pm 1.9%, 73.5 \pm 4.2% and 70.0 \pm 3.1% viability at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M drug concentration, respectively (Table 3 & Figure 3g & h).

								Dru	ıgs							
	Doxorubicin				Taxol				Bortezomib				Fludarabine			
	(μM)				(nM)				(nM)				(µM)			
Cell line	0	2	5	10	0	5	10	20	0	5	10	20	0	1	3	5
BT474																
Viability	91.1	82.7	74.4	71.7	91.1	83.2	73.1	70.4	91.1	87.0	82.7	72.8				
(%)	89.3	77.1	72.8	67.2	89.3	87.0	76.0	73.9	89.3	81.6	79.6	68.4				
	87.0	81.0	70.2	69.3	87.0	79.6	69.7	67.8	87.0	79.7	75.3	67.9				
															I	
Mean	89.1	80.2	72.4	69.4	89.1	83.2	72.9	70.7	89.1	82.7	79.2	69.7				
SD	±2	±2.8	±2.1	±2.2	±2	±3.7	±3.1	±3.2	±2	±3.7	±3.7	±2.6				
SKBR-3																
Viability	85.0	77.3	71.8	70.3	85.0	81.3	79.5	72.8	85.0	81.3	79.5	72.8				
(%)	92.0	79.3	73.3	71.9	92.0	83.2	77.4	70.8	92.0	83.2	77.4	70.8				
	89.0	81.0	78.5	67.7	89.0	79.8	70.7	69.7	89.0	79.8	70.7	69.7				
Mean	88.6	79.1	74.5	69.4	88.6	81.4	75.8	71.1	88.6	75.4	68.8	63.7				
SD	±3.5	±1.8	±3.5	±2.1	±3.5	±1.7	±4.5	±1.5	±3.5	±3.9	±1.4	±3.5				
Raji																
Viability									91.0	87.6	75.2	70.7	91.0	83.4	77.8	72.9
(%)									93.2	79.8	77.9	67.8	93.2	80.4	73.4	70.5
. ,									89.5	83.7	71.4	59.7	89.5	79.7	69.3	66.7
						<u> </u>										
Mean									91.2	83.7	74.8	66.0	91.2	81.2	73.5	70.0
SD									±1.8	±3.9	±3.2	±5.7	±1.8	±1.9	±4.2	±3.1

Table 1: Viability of different cancer cell lines upon treatment with different chemotherapeutics at 48h



Fig. 3: Viability of different cancer cell lines upon treatment with different chemotherapeutics for 48h. (a&b) Viability of doxorubicin-treated BT474 & SKBR-3 cells. **(c&d)** Viability of taxol-treated BT474 & SKBR-3 cells. **(e, f & g)** Viability of bortezomib-treated BT474, SKBR-3 & Raji cells. **(h)** Viability of fludarabine-treated Raji cells. All cancer cells (5x10⁵/well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of each anti-cancer drug. Trypan blue exclusion assay was used to determine cell viability as described in Methods. Each symbol represents an independent experiment. Horizontal line: mean of three experiments; vertical line: SD.

3.2. Impact of doxorubicin on breast cancer cell lines

3.2.1. Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59

33% of untreated BT474 cells were CD46 positive at 24h. Upon treatment with doxorubicin, 44.6%, 35.1% and 36.1% of the given cells were positive for this regulator with an increase by 11.6% at 2µM (p < 0.001), 2.1% at 5µM (p > 0.05) and 3.1% at 10µM (p < 0.01) drug concentration. 18.7% of untreated cells stained positive for CD55. 21.9%, 31.2% and 33% of the drug-treated cells were positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 3.2% (p < 0.01), 12.5% and 14.3% (p < 0.001) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM, respectively. 29.1% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. 43%, 37% and 36% of the cells were positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 13.9%, 7.9% and 6.9% (p < 0.001) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM, respectively (Figure 4a).

At 48h, 36.2% of untreated BT474 cells were CD46 positive. Upon treatment with doxorubicin, 27%, 30.5% and 35.2% of the cells were positive for this regulator with a significant reduction by 9.2% (p < 0.05), 5.7% and 1% (p > 0.05) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM drug concentration, respectively. 14.7% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 18.9%, 26.3% and 34.7% of the cells were positive for this regulator with an increase by 4.2% (p > 0.05), 11.6% (p < 0.01) and 20% (p < 0.001) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM drug concentration, respectively. 46.1% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. Upon treatment with doxorubicin, 51.3%, 54.9% and 55.6% of the cells stained positive for this regulator with an increase by 5.2% (p > 0.05), 8.8% (p < 0.05) and 9.5% (p < 0.01) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM, respectively (Figure 4b).

41.3% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were CD46 positive at 24h. 59.9%, 62.2% and 72.3% of the cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 18.6%, 20.9% and 31% (p < 0.001 at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM drug concentration), respectively. 25.8% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 34.5%, 43.9% and 60.6% of the cells were positive for this mCRP with a significant increase by 8.7% (p < 0.05), 18.1% and 34.8% (p < 0.001) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM, respectively. 67.1% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. Upon treatment, 73.5%, 74.2% and 79.8% of the cells were positive for this inhibitor with an increase by 6.4% (p > 0.05), 7.1% (p > 0.05) and 12.7% (p < 0.001) at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM drug concentration, respectively (Figure 4c).

At 48h, 46.5% of untreated cells were CD46 positive. 33%, 46.2% and 52.3% of the cells stained positive for this mCRP with a significant reduction by 13.5% at 2 μ M (p < 0.001), without change at 5 μ M, but with a significant increase by 5.8% at 10 μ M drug concentration. 57.5% of untreated cells stained positive for CD55. Upon treatment, 38%, 48.8% and 52.5% of the cells were positive for this regulator with a significant reduction by 19.5% (p < 0.001), 8.7% (p < 0.001) and 5% (p < 0.01), at 2 μ M, 5 μ M and 10 μ M drug concentration, respectively. 69% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. Upon treatment, 66%, 70% and 69.8% of the cells were positive for this inhibitor at 2 μ M, 5 μ M and 10 μ M drug concentration, respectively (p > 0.05) (Figure 4d).







Fig. 4: Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59 by doxorubicin-treated breast cancer cell lines. (a&b) BT474 cells pre-treated for 24h & 48h. (c&d) SKBR-3 cells pre-treated for 24h & 48h. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated drug concentrations. The monoclonal ms α human CD59, CD55 and CD46 or ms IgG1 isotype control (10µg/ml) were used as a primary antibody, followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values ± SD for mCRP positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences to drug-untreated cells are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test were used for statistical analysis.

3.2.2. Complement fH binding

20.3% of untreated BT474 cells were positive for fH binding at 48h. In doxorubicin-treated cells, 61%, 99.6% and 84.3% of the cells were positive for fH binding with an increase by 40.7% (p > 0.05), 79.3% (p < 0.01) and 64% (p < 0.05) at 2μ M, 5μ M and 10μ M drug concentration, respectively (Figure 5a).

36% of untreated SKBR-3 cells stained positive for fH binding at 48h. 37% of 2 μ M (p > 0.05), 41.4% of 5 μ M with a 5.4% significant increase (p < 0.01) and 32.5% with a 3.5% significant decrease of 10 μ M doxorubicin-treated cells were positive for fH binding (p < 0.01; Figure 5b).



Fig. 5: Complement fH binding to doxorubicin-treated breast cancer cell lines. (a) Complement fH-binding to BT474 cells. (b) Complement fH-binding to SKBR-3 cells. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of doxorubicin. The cells were incubated with NHS (1:4), washed and stained with polyclonal goat α hum fH primary antibody (1:500), followed by Alexa Fluor 488-Labeled rb α gt IgG (1:800). Goat pre-immune serum was used as a control. The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for fH-positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by *Dunn's Multiple Comparison* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.2.3. Cell lysis by CDC

80% of untreated BT474 cells were lysed by CDC at 24h. 34.7%, 26.1% and 28.5% of doxorubicin-treated cells were lysed at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM with a significant reduction by 45.3%, 53.9% and 51.5%, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralizing Abs, 81.7% of untreated cells were lysed. 35.7%, 31.2% and 28.1% of treated cells were lysed at 2µM, 5µM and 10µM drug concentration with a significant reduction by 45.9%, 50.5% and 53.6% (p < 0.001), respectively (Figure 6a).

At 48h, 92% of untreated cells were lysed. 25.2%, 17.2% and 20.4% of the cells were lysed at 2, 5 and 10 μ M doxorubicin with a significant reduction by 66.8%, 74.8% and 71.6%, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralizing Abs, 83% of untreated cells were lysed. 23.4%, 18% and 21.3% of the cells were lysed at 2 μ M, 5 μ M and 10 μ M drug concentration with a significant reduction by 59.6%, 65% and 61.7%, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 6b).

At 24h, 57.1% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were lysed. 20.2%, 28.5% and 35% of the cells were lysed at 2 μ M, 5 μ M and 10 μ M doxorubicin with a significant reduction by 36.9%, 28.6% and 22.1%, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralizing Abs, 63.4% of untreated cells were lysed. 32.4%, 39.4% and 37.1% of the cells were lysed at 2 μ M, 5 μ M and 10 μ M drug concentration with a significant reduction by 31%, 24% and 26.3% respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 6c).

At 48h, 54.8% of untreated cells were lysed. 41.9% were lysed at 2µM, with a significant reduction by 12.9% (p < 0.01). 61.7% were lysed at 5µM with an increase by 6.9% and 55.5% were lysed at 10µM drug concentration. In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs 52.2% of untreated cells were lysed. 37.8% were lysed at 2µM, with a significant reduction by 14.4% (p < 0.01), 57.1% were lysed at 5µM, with an increase by 4.9% (P > 0.05) and 63.3% were lysed at 10µM drug concentration with an increase by 11.1% (p < 0.01; Figure 6d).



I



Fig. 6: CDC of doxorubicin-treated breast cancer cell lines. (a&b) CDC of BT474 cells at 24& 48h. (c&d) CDC of SKBR-3 cells at 24h & 48h. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of doxorubicin. The cells were labelled with ⁵¹Cr and then incubated with α tumor antibody (1:50) in absence or presence of mCRP specific neutralizing Abs (2µg/ml). Human serum (25%) was used as a complement source. The data are presented as mean values ± SD for CDC (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.2.4. Opsonisation with iC3b

50.5% of untreated BT474 cells were opsonised with iC3b at 48h. 64.6% of 2µM doxorubicin-treated cells stained positive for iC3b with a significant increase by 14.1% (p < 0.05), 55.1% of 5µM drug-treated cells were positive for iC3b with an increase by 4.6% (p > 0.05) and 60.5% of 10µM treated cells were opsonised with iC3b with an increase by 10% (p > 0.05; Figure 7a).

43.3% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were opsonised with iC3b. 48.7% of 2µM doxorubicin-treated cells stained positive for iC3b with an increase by 5.4% (p > 0.05), 60.9% of the cells treated with either 5µM or 10µM doxorubicin stained positive for iC3b with a significant increase by 17.6% with the both concentrations (p < 0.01; Figure 7b).



Fig. 7: Opsonisation of doxorubicin-treated breast cancer cell lines with iC3b. (a) BT474 cells. (b) SKBR-3 cells. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of doxorubicin. The cells were incubated with α tumor antibodies (1:50), followed by adding either C8-depleted or heat-inactivated serum as a complement source. The cells were stained with monoclonal ms α human iC3b primary antibody (10μ g/ml), followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for iC3b positive cells (in %) are presented. In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison test was used for statistical analysis.

3.3. Impact of taxol on breast cancer cell lines

3.3.1. Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59

61% of untreated BT474 cells were CD46 positive at 24h. Upon treatment, 55.4%, 44.1% and 35.4% of the cells were positive for this regulator at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol with a significant reduction by 5.6% (p < 0.05), 16.9% and 25.6% (p < 0.001), respectively. 26% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 24%, 23.9% and 26.4% of the cells stained positive for this regulator at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM drug concentration, respectively. 64.5% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. Upon treatment, 59.3% of 5nM taxol-treated cells were positive with a significant reduction by 5.2% (p < 0.05), 51.9% of 10nM taxol-treated cells were cells stained positive for this regulator at 5.6% (p < 0.001) and 46.3% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this mCRP with a significant reduction by 18.2% (p < 0.001; Figure 8a).

At 48h, 69.6% of untreated cells stained positive for CD46. Upon treatment, 68.1%, 60.9% and 81.6% of the cells were positive for this regulator at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol (each n.s.), respectively. 26.6% of the given untreated cells were CD55 positive. 38.2% and 32.7% of the cells were positive for this regulator at 5nM and 10nM taxol, respectively (p > 0.05) whereas 48.5% of 20nm taxol-treated cells were positive for the CD46 with a significant increase by 21.9% (p < 0.05). 70.4% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. Upon treatment, 70.4%, 68.4% and 68.5% of the cells were CD46 positive at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol, respectively (Figure 8b).

17% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were CD46 positive at 24h. upon treatment, 44.3%, 47.6% and 62.8% of the cells were positive for this inhibitor with a significant increase by 27.3%, 30.6% and 45.8% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol, respectively (p < 0.001). 17.6% of untreated cells were positive for CD55. 29.8%, 31.2% and 40.3% of the cells stained positive for the CD55 with a significant increase by 12.2% (p < 0.01), 13.6% and 22.7% (p < 0.001) at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM drug concentration, respectively. 39.6% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. After treatment, 58.2%, 58.3% and 68.7% of the cells were positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 18.6%, 18.7% and 29.1% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 8c).

At 48h, 18% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were CD46 positive. After treatment, 42.2%, 41.6% and 48% of the cells were positive for this regulator

with a significant increase by 24.2%, 23.6% and 30% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol, respectively (p < 0.001). 34.1% of untreated cells stained positive for CD55. Upon treatment, 31.4% of 5nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this regulator with a 2.7% reduction (p > 0.05), 25.7% of 10nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this regulator with 8.7 reduction (p > 0.05) and 26.2% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this regulator with 7.9% reduction (p < 0.05). 51.3% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. Upon treatment, 61.4% of 10nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this inhibitor (p > 0.05), 50.5% and 62.6% of 5nM and 20nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this inhibitor (p > 0.05), 50.5% and 62.6% of 5nM and 20nM taxol-treated cells were positive for this inhibitor (p < 0.01; Figure 8d).







Fig. 8: Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59 by taxol-treated breast cancer cell lines. (a&b) BT474 cells pre-treated for 24h & 48h. (c&d) SKBR-3 cells pre-treated for 24h & 48h. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24 and 48h either without treatment or with indicated drug concentrations. The cells were stained with ms lgG1 isotype control or with monoclonal ms α human CD59, CD55 and CD46 primary antibodies ($10\mu g/ml$), followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for cells staining positive for mCRP (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.3.2. Complement fH binding

25.1% of untreated BT474 cells were positive for fH binding at 48h. 23.7% of 5nM taxol-treated cells stained positive for fH. 27.7% of 10nM taxoltrreated cells were positive for fH bindinig with a significant increase by 2.6% (p < 0.01). 33% of 20nM drug-treated cells stained positive for fH bindinig with an increase by 7.3% (p < 0.001; Figure 9a).

32% of untreated SKBR-3 cells stained positive for fH at 48h. 34% and 32% of 5nM and 10nM taxol-treated cells were positive for fH, wereas, 39% of 20nM taxol-treated cells stained positive for fH with a 7% significant increase (p < 0.05; Figure 9b).



Fig. 9: Complement fH binding to taxol-treated breast cancer cell lines. (a) fH-binding to BT474 cells. **(b)** fH-binding to SKBR-3 cells. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of taxol. These cells were incubated with NHS (1:4), washed and stained with polyclonal goat α human fH primary antibody (1:500), followed by Alexa Fluor 488-Labeled rb α gt IgG (1:800). Goat pre-immune serum was used as a control. The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for fH positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by *Dunn's Multiple Comparison* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.3.3. Cell lysis by CDC

72.6% of untreated BT474 cells were lysed at 24h by CDC. 62.3%, 60.9% and 68.7% of the cells were lysed with a reduction by 10.3%, 11.7% and 3.9% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol (p > 0.05), respectively. In presence of mCRP neutralizing Abs, 55% of untreated cells were lysed by CDC. 53.8% of 5nM, 60.2% of 10nM with an increase by 5.2% and 61.6% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with an increase by 6.6% (Figure 10a).

At 48h, 83.9% of untreated BT474 cells were lysed. 67.11% of 5nM taxoltreated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 16.1% (p < 0.001), 75.41% of 10nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 8.4% (p < 0.01) and 49% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 34.9% (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 47.5% of untreated cells were lysed. 55.4 % of 5nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant increase by 7.9% (p < 0.05) , 72.1% of 10nM taxoltreated cells were lysed with a significant increase by 24.6% (p < 0.001) and 38.8% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant decrease by 8.7% (p < 0.01; Figure 10b).

81.6% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were lysed at 24h by CDC. 77.7% of 5nM taxol-treated cells were lysed, 65.2% and 39.3% of 10nM and 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 16.4% (p <0.01) and 42.5% (p < 0.001), respectively. In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 59.9% of untreated cells were lysed. 72.6% of 5nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant increase by 12.7% (p < 0.01), 51.3% of 10nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 8.6% (p > 0.05) and 41.3% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 18.6% (p < 0.001; Figure 10c).

At 48h, 69.2% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were lysed. 49.5%, 47.8% and 3.5% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant decrease by 19.7%, 21.4% and 65.7%, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralizing Abs, 60.3% of untreated cells were lysed. 67% of 5nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant increase by 6.7% (p < 0.05), 53.9% and 5.2% of 10nM and 20nM taxol-treated cells were lysed with a significant decrease by 6.4% and 55.1%, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 10d).



(b)- 48h





Fig. 10: CDC of taxol-treated breast cancer cell lines.

(a&b) CDC of BT474 cells at 24& 48h. **(c&d)** CDC of SKBR-3 cells at 24h & 48h. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of taxol. The cells were labelled with ⁵¹Cr and then incubated with α tumor antibodies (1:50) in absence or presence of mCRP neutralising antibodies (2μ g/ml). Human serum (25%) was used as a complement source. The data are presented as mean values ± SD for CDC (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences). Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.3.4. Opsonisation with iC3b

50.5% of the untreated BT474 cells were opsonised with iC3b at 48h. 81.4%, 80.1% and 76.3% of the cells stained positive for iC3b with a significant increase by 30.9%, 29.6% and 25.8% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM taxol, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 11a). 20.7% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were opsonised with iC3b at 48h. 21.8% of 5nM taxol-treated cells were iC3b positive with an increase by 1.1% (p > 0.05), 28.7% of 10nM taxol-treated cells stained positive for iC3b with a significant increase by 8% (p < 0.01) and 36.8% of 20nM taxol-treated cells were opsonised with iC3b recording a significant increase by 16.1% (p < 0.001; Figure 11b).



Fig. 11: Opsonisation of taxol-treated breast cancer cell lines with iC3b.

(a) BT474 cells. (b) SKBR-3 cells. Tumor cells $(5x10^5/\text{well})$ were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of taxol. The cells were incubated with anti-tumor antibodies (1:50), followed either by C8-depleted or heat-inactivated serum as a complement source. The cells were stained with monoclonal ms α human iC3b primary antibody (10µg/ml), followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values ± SD for iC3b positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by *Dunn's Multiple Comparison* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.4. Impact of bortezomib on different cancer cell lines

3.4.1. Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59

22.4% of the untreated BT474 cells stained positive for CD46 at 24h. 21.5%, 22.8% and 21.8% of the cells were positive for this regulator at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib, respectively (p > 0.05). 16.6% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 16%, 16.3% and 16.2% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05). 35% of untreated cells stained positive for CD59. 35.5%, 36% and 36.4% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05; Figure 12a).

At 48h, 54.4% of untreated BT474 cells were CD46 positive. 36.8%, 36.7% and 31.4% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant reduction by 17.6%, 17.7% and 23%, respectively (p < 0.001). 27.5% of untreated cells stained positive for CD55. 22.9%, 21.9% and 20.9% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator with a partial decrease by 4.6%, 5.6% and 6.6%, respectively (p > 0.05). 63.4% of untreated cells were positive for CD59. 45.2%, 36.8% and 38.3% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant reduction by 18.2%, 26.6% and 25.1%, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 12b).

26.4% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were CD46 positive at 24h. 24.4% and 26.2% of 5nM and 10nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05), whereas 34.4% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were CD46 positive with a significant increase by 8% (p < 0.001). 15.1% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 15.8% and 16.7% of 5nM and 10nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05), whereas 18.1% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 3% (p < 0.001). 41% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. 41.4% of 5nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator (p > 0.05), 44.1% and 50.1% of 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator (p > 0.05), 44.1% and 50.1% of 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 3.1%; p < 0.05 and 9.1%; p < 0.001, respectively (Figure 12c).

At 48h, 22.8% of untreated cells stained positive for CD46. 22%, 21.1% and 21.2% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for

this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05). 25.4% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 25.4%, 24.7% and 24.4% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05). 31.3% of untreated cells stained positive for CD59. 30.1%, 30.6% and 31% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05; Figure 12d).

32.9% of untreated Raji cells were CD46 positive at 24h. 34.6% of 5nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with an increase by 1.7% (p > 0.05), 38.3% of 10nM bortezomib-treated cells were CD46 positive with an increase by 5.4% (p < 0.01) and 38.9% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with an increase by 6% (p < 0.001). 30.6% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 34% of 5nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 4.6% (p < 0.05), 35.5% of 10nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 4.6% (p < 0.05), 35.5% of 10nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator with a significant increase by 4.9% and 35.8% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were CD55 positive with a significant increase by 5.2% (p < 0.01). 30.3% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. 32.2%, 35.1% and 34.6% of the cells were positive for this regulator with an increase by 1.9% (p > 0.05), 4.8% (p < 0.001) and 4.3% (p < 0.01) at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib, respectively (Figure 12e).

At 48h, 45.5% of untreated cells were CD46 positive. 48.3%, 46.9% and 47.7% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05).

41.2% of unntreated cells were CD55 positive. 40.2%, 41.4% and 41.9% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for this regulator, respectively (p > 0.05). 37.8% of untreated cells were CD59 positive positive. 40.3%, 38% and 38.1% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were positive for this inhibitor, respectively (p > 0.05; Figure 12f).





L







Fig. 12: Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59 by different bortezomibtreated cancer cell lines. (a&b) BT474 cells at 24 & 48h. (c&d) SKBR-3 cells at 24h & 48h. (e&f) Raji cells at 24h & 48h.Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated drug concentrations. The cells were stained with ms IgG1 isotype control or with monoclonal ms α hum CD59, CD55 and CD46 primary antibodies (10μ g/ml), followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values \pm SD of mCRP positive tumor cells cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.4.2. Complement fH binding

20.3% of untreated BT474 cells were positive for fH binding at 48h.

31.3% of the cells stained positive for fH with an increase by 11% at 5nM bortezomib (p < 0.05) whereas 67.3% and 51.3% of the cells were positive for fH at 10nM and 20nM bortezomib with a significant increase by 47% (p < 0.01) and 31% (p < 0.05), respectively (Figure 13a).

19.3% of untreated SKBR-3 cells stained positive for fH binding at 48h. 20.9%, 20.2% and 18.1% of the cells stained positive for fH at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib, respectively (p > 0.05; Figure 13b).

13.2% of untreated Raji cells were fH positive at 48h. 8.8% of 5nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for fH with a significant reduction by 4.4% (p < 0.05), 10.9% of 10nM bortezomib-treated cells were fH positive with a reduction by 2.3% (p > 0.05) and 23% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for fH with a significant increase by 9.8% (p < 0.001; Figure 13c).



Fig. 13: Complement fH binding to different bortezomib-treated cancer cell lines. (a) fH binding to BT474 cells. (b) fH binding to SKBR-3 cells. (c) fH binding to Raji cells. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of bortezomib. The cells were incubated with NHS (1:4) washed and then stained with polyclonal goat α human fH primary antibody (1:500), followed by Alexa Fluor 488-Labeled rb α gt IgG (1:800). Goat pre-immune serum was used as a control. The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for fH-binding (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison test was used for statistical analysis.

3.4.3. Cell lysis by CDC

71% of untreated BT474 cells were lysed at 24h by CDC. 75.8%, 65.3% and 79.5% of 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were lysed, respectively (p > 0.05). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 74.7% of untreated cells were lysed. 72.4% and 72.8% of the cells were lysed at 5nM and 10nM bortezomib, respectively, whereas 89.5% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a significant increase by 14.9% (p < 0.05; Figure 14a).

At 48h, 96.6% of untreated BT474 cells were lysed. 65.8%, 72.2% and 69.1% of the cells were lysed with a significant decrease by 30.8%, 24.4% and 27.5% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM bortezomib, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 83.8% of untreated cells were lysed. 70.2%, 58.2% and 63.5% of bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a significant decrease by 13.6%, 25.6% and 63.5% at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM drug concentration, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 14b).

73.3% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were lysed at 24h by CDC. 67.3% of 5nM bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 6% (p > 0.05), 45.7% of 10nM bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 27.6% (p < 0.01) and 52.3% of 20nM bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 21% (p < 0.01). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 76% of untreated cells were lysed. 71.4%, 54% and 60.4% of bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 22% and 15.6% at 5nM (p > 0.05), but it was with a significant reduction by 22% and 15.6% at 10nM and 20nM drug concentration, respectively (p < 0.01; Figure 14c).

At 48h, 66.1% of untreated SKBR-3 cells were lysed. 76.5%, 95.4% and 76.6% of the cells were lysed with an increase by 10.4% (p > 0.05) at 5nM bortezomib, with a significant increase by 29.3% (p < 0.001) at 10nM bortezomib and with an increase by 10.5% (p > 0.05) at 20nM bortezomib. In presence of mCRP neutralizing Abs, 73.6% of untreated cells were lysed. 86.4%, 104.4% and 77.6% of bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with an increase by 12.8% at 5nM (p > 0.05), with a significant increase by 30.8% (p < 0.001) at 10nM and with an increase by 4% at 20nM (p > 0.05; Figure 14d).

70.1% of untreated Raji cells were lysed at 24h by CDC. 48.1% and 36.7% of bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by

22% at 5nM (p < 0.01) and with a significant reduction by 33.4% at 20nM (p < 0.001). 36.8% of 10nM bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 6.4% (p > 0.05). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 63.7% of untreated cells were lysed. 57.8%, 59.9% and 46.8% of bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with a reduction by 5.9% at 5nM, a reduction by 3.8% at 10nM (p > 0.05) whereas a significant reduction by 16.9% was noticed at 20nM bortezomib (p < 0.05; Figure 14e).

At 48h, 52.7% of untreated Raji cells were lysed. 50.7%, 63.4% and 52.6% of the cells were lysed with a reduction by 2% at 5nM bortezomib (p > 0.05), with a significant increase by 10.7% at 10nM bortezomib (p > 0.01). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 54.7% of untreated cells were lysed. 59.6%, 72% and 61.6% of bortezomib-treated cells were lysed with an increase by 4.9% at 5nM (p > 0.05), with a significant increase by 17.3% at 10nM (p > 0.01) and with an increase by 6.9% at 20nM (p > 0.05; Figure 14f).





I






Fig. 14: CDC of different bortezomib-treated cancer cell lines.

(a&b) CDC of BT474 cells at 24& 48h. (c&d) CDC of SKBR-3 cells at 24 & 48h. (e&f) CDC of Raji cells at 24h & 48h. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of bortezomib. The cells were labelled with ⁵¹Cr and then incubated with α tumor antibodies (1:50) or with Rituximab (10µg/ml) in absence or presence of ms α hum mCRP neutralising antibodies (2µg/ml). Human serum (25%) was used as a complement source. The data are presented as mean values ± SD for CDC (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences). Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis

3.4.4. Opsonisation with iC3b

50.5% of untreated BT474 cells were opsonised with iC3b at 48h. 42.7%, 59.6% and 58.7% of bortezomib-treated cells stained positive for iC3b with a significant reduction by 7.8% at 5nM (p < 0.05), with a significant increase by 9.1% and 8.2% at 10nM and 20nM drug concentration, respectively (p < 0.05; Figure 15a).

53.9% of the untreated SKBR-3, cells stained positive for iC3b at 48h. 66.9%, 67.4% and 73.4% of the cells were iC3b positive with a significant increase by 13% at 5nM (p < 0.05), 13.5% at 10nM (p < 0.05) and by 19.5 % at 20nM drug concentration (p < 0.01; Figure 15b).

10.8% of untreated Raji cells were iC3 positive at 48h. 13.4%, 12.6% and 15.3% of bortezomib-treated cells were opsonised with iC3b at 5nM, 10nM and 20nM, respectively (p > 0.05; Figure 15c).



Fig. 15: Opsonisation of different bortezomib-treated cancer cell lines with iC3b. (a) BT474 cells. (b) SKBR-3 cells. (c) Raji cells. Tumor cells $(5x10^5/well)$ were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of bortezomib. The cells were incubated with specific polyclonal α tumor antibodies (1:50) or rituximab (10 µg/ml), followed by adding either C8-depleted or heat-inactivated serum as a complement source. The cells were stained with monoclonal ms α human iC3b primary antibody (10µg/ml), followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values ± SD for iC3b positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by *Dunn's Multiple Comparison* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.5. Impact of fludarabine on Raji cells

3.5.1. Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59

20.8% of untreated Raji cells were CD46 positive at 24h. 19.6%, 19.8% and 19.6% of the cells were positive for this regulator at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively. 22.8% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 23%, 22% and 22.4% of the cells were positive for this regulator at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively. 16.5% of untreated cells stained positive for CD59. 16.7%, 16.2% and 16.3% of fludarabine-treated cells were positive for this regulator at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively. 16.5% of untreated cells were positive for this regulator at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine-treated cells were positive for this regulator at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively. (Figure 16a).

At 48h, 35.5% of untreated Raji cells were CD46 positive. 28%, 27.3% and 28.5% of the cells stained positive for this inhibitor with a significant reduction by 7.5%, 8.2% and 7% at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively (p < 0.001). 20.1% of untreated cells were CD55 positive. 20.2%, 20.3% and 21.1% of fludarabine-treated cells were positive for this regulator, at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M, respectively. 16.7% of untreated cells were CD59 positive. 24.2%, 22.5% and 22.2% of the cells stained positive for this mCRP with a significant increase by 7.5%, 5.8% and 5.5% at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M drug concentration, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 16b).



Fig. 16: Expression of CD46, CD55 and CD59 by fludarabine-treated Raji cells. (a) Raji cells at 24h. (b) Raji cells at 48h. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated drug concentrations. The cells were stained with ms IgG1 isotype control or with monoclonal ms α human CD59, CD55 and CD46 primary antibodies (10μ g/ml followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for the mCRP expression (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.5.2. Complement fH binding

13.2% of untreated Raji cells were positive for fH binding at 48h. 25.7%, 40.8% and 35.6% of fludarabine-treated cells stained positive for fH with a significant increase by 12.5% at 1 μ M (p < 0.05), by 27.6% and 22.4% at 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 17).





Tumor cells (5x10⁵/well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of fludarabine for 48h. The cells were incubated with NHS (1:4) washed and then stained with polyclonal goat α human fH primary antibody (1:500), followed by Alexa Fluor 488-Labeled rb α gt IgG (1:800). Goat pre-immune serum was used as a control. The data are presented as mean values ± SD for fH positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by *Dunn's Multiple Comparison* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.5.3. Cell lysis by CDC

57.7% of untreated Raji cells were lysed at 24h by CDC. 25.4%, 14.5% and 5.5% of fludarabine-treated cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 32.3%, 43.2% and 52.2% at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 41.3% of untreated cells were lysed. 33.3%, 21.4% and 9.7% of the cells were lysed with a reduction by 8% at 1 μ M (p < 0.01), 19.9% and 31.6% at 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively (p < 0.001; Figure 18a).

At 48h, 45.4% of untreated Raji cells were lysed. 6.7%, 3.5% and 2.5% of the cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 38.7%, 41.9% and 43.1% at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively (p < 0.001). In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, 38.5% of untreated cells were lysed. 8.7%, 3.7% and 1.7% of the cells were lysed with a significant reduction by 29.8%, 34.8% and 36.8% at 1 μ M, 3 μ M and 5 μ M fludarabine, respectively (P < 0.001; Figure 18b).



Fig. 18: Cell lysis of fludarabine- treated Raji cells by CDC.

(a) CDC at 24h. (b) CDC at 48h.Tumor cells $(5x10^{5}/well)$ were allowed to grow for 24h and 48h either without treatment or with indicated fludarabine concentrations. The cells were labelled with ⁵¹Cr and then incubated with Rituximab (10µg/ml) in absence or presence of α mCRP neutralising antibodies (2µg/ml). Human serum (25%) was used as a complement source. The data are presented as mean values ± SD for CDC (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**), p < 0.001 (***) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. Two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used for statistical analysis

3.5.4. Opsonisation with iC3b

10.8% of untreated Raji cells were opsonised with iC3b at 48h. 19.3%, 18.5% and 24% of fludarabine-treated cells were iC3b positive with an increase by 8.5% at 1 μ M (p < 0.01), 7.7% at 3 μ M (p < 0.05) and 13.2% at 5 μ M (p < 0.001; Figure 19).



Fig. 19: Opsonisation of fludarabine-treated Raji cells with iC3b. Tumor cells ($5x10^{5}$ /well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated fludarabine concentrations. The cells were incubated with Rituximab ($10\mu g$ /ml), followed by either C8-depleted or heat-inactivated serum as a complement source. And then, the cells were stained with monoclonal ms α human iC3b primary antibody ($10\mu g$ /ml), followed by goat α ms IgG-FITC (1:50). The data are presented as mean values \pm SD for iC3b positive cells (in %). In three independent experiments, three biological replicates at each drug concentration were analyzed. Significant differences are indicated by asterisks, p < 0.01 (**) whilst (ns) indicates non-significant differences. One-way ANOVA, followed by *Dunn's Multiple Comparison* test was used for statistical analysis.

3.6. Influence of anti-cancer drugs on the secretion of soluble complement regulatory proteins by cancer cells

In only one out of four independent experiments, secretion of complement factor H (fH) into cell culture supernatant of doxorubicin-treated SKBR3 cells was observed (data not presented). We assume that the level of secretion of this complement regulator was either under the detection limit of our assay or our cell lines could did not secrete this regulator into the surrounding environment.

3.7. Summarizing tables of results

3.7.1. Impact of doxorubicin on breast cancer cell lines on the expression of mCRPs (CD46, CD55 and CD59), cell lysis by CDC, fH binding and opsonisation with iC3b (mean values and SD of 3 independent experiments are presented).

BT474 cell line											
		24h						48h			
	1		[Doxorul	picin (µl	M)					
	Conc.	0	2	5	10		0	2	5	10	
	Analyzed markers										
	CD46 (%)	33.7 32.0	45.3 44.0	33.7 35.6	35.7 36.1		37.9 32.6	24.8 25.0	28.3 30.0	31.0 34.0	
		33.4	44.6	36.2	36.5		38.1	31.3	33.2	40.7	
Mean		33.0	44.6	35.1	36.1		36.2	27.0	30.5	35.2	
SD		0.9	0.6	1.3	0.4		3.1	3.6	2.4	4.9	
	I					1		1	1		
		17.7	22.8	30.8	30.9		16.3	19.7	25.1	35.1	
	CD55 (%)	19.1	20.9	31.6	34.2		12.7	19.0	25.6	33.8	
		19.5	22.1	31.4	34.0		15.3	18.1	28.4	35.2	
Mean		18.7	21.9	31.2	33.0		14.7	18.9	26.3	34.7	
SD		0.9	0.9	0.4	1.8		1.8	0.80	1.7	0.7	
	I	1	1	1	[1		1	1	1	
		27.3	41.1	35.6	36.6		43.3	51.5	59.7	57.6	
	CD59 (%)	29.1	43.0	37.9	36.6		45.1	48.3	59.3	55.6	
		31.0	44.9	37.6	36.9		50.0	54.2	45.8	53.8	
Mean		29.1	43.0	37.0	36.7		46.1	51.3	54.9	55.6	
SD		1.8	1.9	1.2	0.1		3.4	2.9	7.9	1.9	
	CDC (%)	88.8	36.0	26.2	29.8		95.4	25.5	16.1	20.5	
		81.3	34.4	26.8	29.1		80.2	22.1	19.2	18.5	
		69.9	33.7	25.3	26.8		100.4	28.0	16.5	22.2	
Mean		80.0	34.7	26.1	28.5		92.0	25.2	17.2	20.4	
SD		7.7	0.9	0.6	1.2		8.5	2.4	1.3	1.5	
						-					
	CDC (%)	84.7	37.2	32.0	26.4		74.9	25.0	18.5	19.5	
	+mCRP	79.4	34.1	30.3	28.6		77.5	21.7	16.9	21.8	
	neutral.	81.0	36.3	31.5	29.4		96.6	23.7	18.6	22.6	
Mean		81.7	35.8	31.2	28.1		83.0	23.4	18.0	21.3	
SD		2.7	1.5	0.8	1.5		11.8	1.6	0.9	1.6	
	fH-binding						19.0	48.0	118.0	84.0	
	(%)						19.0	66.0	117.0	83.0	
							23.0	69.0	64.0	86.0	
Mean							20.3	61.0	99.6	84.3	
SD							2.3	11.3	30.8	1.5	
	1					1					
							44.6	69.1	60.7	54.2	
	iC3b (%)						52.3	61.2	41.0	62.8	
							51.9	67.7	58.0	62.2	
							53.2	60.6	60.9	63.1	

L

Mean							50.5	5	6	4.6	5	5.1	60.5
SD							3.97	7	4	.37	9	.52	4.26
	•			•									
				SKBR-3	3 cell lii	ne							
		24h								48h			
	1	T		Doxorul	oicin (µl	M)		1					
	Conc.	0	2	5	10		0	2		5)		10
	Analyzed markers												
		35.9	59.2	62.8	74.5		46.5	32.	.6	44.	1	5	2.1
	CD46 (%)	48.3	62.4	61.7	70.5		48.0	33.	.0	46.	4	5	2.6
		39.8	58.3	62.3	72.0		45.0	33.	.4	48.	3	5	2.3
Mean		41.3	59.9	62.2	72.3		46.5	33.	.4	46.	2	5	2.3
SD		6.3	2.1	0.5	2.0		1.5	0.4	4	2.1	1	().2
	1		05.0	10.4					0	10	4	_	
		26.8	35.6	43.4	60.2		57.7	38.	3	49.	1	5	2.8
	CD55 (%)	25.6	34.6	44.2	58.6		5/./	35.	.9	49.	4	5	2.0
Maan		25.2	33.3	44.3	63.Z		57.1 57. 1	39.	ŏ.	47.	9	5	2.8
Niean		23.8	34.5	43.9	00.0		57.5	38.	0	48.	0 7)	2.3
30		0.0	1.1	0.4	2.3		0.3	1.3	9	0.7		(J.4
		67.2	64.5	60.0	80.6		68.8	66	2	68	8	6	0 /
	CD59 (%)	67.8	74.3	72 1	79.6		69.7	68	1	60. 69	1	7	01
		66.3	81.9	80.6	79.3		68.7	66	2	73	8	7	0.1
Mean		67.1	73.5	74.2	79.8		69.0	66	8	70	5	6	9.8
SD		0.7	8.7	5.6	0.6		0.5	1.0	0	2.8	3	(1.3
		•	•	0.0	0.0		0.0		•		-		
	CDC (%)	67.7	19.6	28.6	33.1		53.0	37.	.3	59.	1	5	2.7
		49.4	21.1	29.7	33.9		61.1	39.	9	57.	5	5	4.0
		54.3	20.1	27.3	38.2		50.5	48.	.5	68.	7	5	9.9
Mean		57.1	20.2	28.5	35.0		54.8	41.	.9	61.	7	5	5.5
SD		7.7	0.62	0.98	2.2		4.5	4.	7	4.9)		3.1
		-	-		-	_	-	-					
	CDC (%)	65.4	35.1	28.6	33.1		54.6	39)	55.	5	6	6.9
	+mCRPs	66.5	31.6	29.7	33.9		48.2	37.	.8	57	,		61
	neutral.	48.7	30.5	43.4	38.2		53.9	36.	.7	58.	9		62
Mean		60.2	32.4	33.9	35.7		52.2	37.	.8	57.	1	6	3.3
SD		9.9	2.4	8.2	2.7		3.5	1.1	1	1.7	(3.1
				1			00.4	07	0	4.4	7	0	0.4
	TH binding						36.1	37.	.2	41.	/ 2	3	3,4
	(%)						30.4	30. 20	.4 1	41.	ა ი	2	26
Moan							36.0	30.	່ າ	41.	<u>5</u> 1	3 2	2.0
SD							03	0.9	י ב פ	-+I. 0 1	•	3	2.3 1 8
	1	1	I	1	I	I	0.5	0.0	5	0.2	_		
							38.4	<u>4</u> 7	7	54	2	6	2.0
	iC3b (%)						43.8	51	2	61	2	6	1.8
							47.9	47	4	67	5	5	9.0
Mean							43.3	48	.7	60.	9	6	0.9
SD							4.76	2.1	1	6.6	6	-	1.6

I

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		BT474 cell line												
$\begin{tabular}{ c $			24h						48h					
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$				[Doxorul	bicin (µl	M)							
		Conc.	0	2	5	10		0	2	5	10			
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Analyzed markers												
CD46 (%) 32.0 44.0 35.6 36.1 32.6 25.0 30.0 34.0 Mean 33.0 44.6 35.1 36.1 36.2 27.0 30.5 35.2 Mean 33.0 44.6 35.1 36.1 36.2 27.0 30.5 35.2 D 0.9 0.6 1.3 0.4 3.1 3.6 24.4 4.9 D 17.7 22.8 30.8 30.9 16.3 19.7 25.1 35.1 Mean 18.7 21.9 31.2 33.0 14.7 18.9 26.3 34.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 27.3 41.1 35.6 36.6 43.3 51.5 59.7 57.6 SD 27.3 43.0 37.0 36.7			33.7	45.3	33.7	35.7		37.9	24.8	28.3	31.0			
Mean 33.4 44.6 36.2 36.5 38.1 31.3 33.2 40.7 Mean 33.0 44.6 35.1 36.1 36.2 27.0 30.5 35.2 SD 0.9 0.6 1.3 0.4 3.1 3.6 2.4 4.9 CD55 (%) 19.1 20.9 31.6 34.2 12.7 19.0 25.1 35.1 Mean 18.7 21.9 31.2 33.0 14.7 18.9 26.3 34.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 17.7 0.7 Mean 18.7 21.9 31.2 33.0 14.7 18.9 26.3 34.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 34.7 55.6 Mean 29.1 43.0 37.9 36.6 45.1 48.3 53.8 53.8 Mean 20.0 33.7 25.3 26.		CD46 (%)	32.0	44.0	35.6	36.1		32.6	25.0	30.0	34.0			
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		()	33.4	44.6	36.2	36.5		38.1	31.3	33.2	40.7			
SD 0.9 0.6 1.3 0.4 3.1 3.6 2.4 4.9 CD55 (%) 17.7 22.8 30.8 30.9 16.3 19.7 25.1 35.1 Mean 18.7 21.9 31.6 34.2 12.7 19.0 25.6 33.8 Mean 18.7 21.9 31.2 33.0 14.7 18.9 26.3 34.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 27.3 41.1 35.6 36.6 43.3 51.5 59.7 57.6 SD 1.8 1.9 7.2 0.1 3.4 2.9	Mean		33.0	44.6	35.1	36.1		36.2	27.0	30.5	35.2			
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	SD		0.9	0.6	1.3	0.4		3.1	3.6	2.4	4.9			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$														
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			17.7	22.8	30.8	30.9		16.3	19.7	25.1	35.1			
Mean 19.5 22.1 31.4 34.0 15.3 18.1 28.4 35.2 Mean 18.7 21.9 31.2 33.0 14.7 18.9 26.3 34.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 27.3 41.1 35.6 36.6 43.3 51.5 59.7 57.6 CD59 (%) 29.1 43.0 37.0 36.6 45.1 48.3 59.3 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.3 26.8 100.4 28.0 19.2 18.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6		CD55 (%)	19.1	20.9	31.6	34.2		12.7	19.0	25.6	33.8			
Mean 18.7 21.9 31.2 33.0 14.7 18.9 26.3 34.7 SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 SD 27.3 41.1 35.6 36.6 43.3 51.5 59.7 57.6 CD59 (%) 29.1 43.0 37.9 36.6 45.1 48.3 59.3 55.6 SD 29.1 43.0 37.0 36.7 46.1 51.3 54.9 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 8.4 2.0 7.9 1.9 Mean 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.8 29.1 80.2 22.1 19.2 18.5 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2			19.5	22.1	31.4	34.0		15.3	18.1	28.4	35.2			
SD 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.80 1.7 0.7 CD59 (%) 27.3 41.1 35.6 36.6 43.3 51.5 59.7 57.6 31.0 44.9 37.6 36.6 45.1 48.3 59.3 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 37.0 36.7 46.1 51.3 54.9 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 Mean 81.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 metral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.	Mean		18.7	21.9	31.2	33.0		14.7	18.9	26.3	34.7			
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	SD		0.9	0.9	0.4	1.8		1.8	0.80	1.7	0.7			
CD59 (%) 27.3 41.1 35.6 36.6 43.3 51.5 59.7 57.6 Mean 29.1 43.0 37.9 36.6 45.1 48.3 59.3 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 37.0 36.7 46.1 51.3 54.9 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 22.2 Mean 60.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 Mean 81.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 Mean 81.7 <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>_</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>_</td></th<>				-			_				_			
CD59 (%) 29.1 43.0 37.9 36.6 45.1 48.3 59.3 55.6 Mean 29.1 43.0 37.0 36.7 46.1 51.3 54.9 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.3 26.8 100.4 28.0 16.5 22.2 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 77.5 21.7 16.9 21.8 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.8 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28			27.3	41.1	35.6	36.6		43.3	51.5	59.7	57.6			
Mean 31.0 44.9 37.6 36.9 50.0 54.2 45.8 53.8 Mean 29.1 43.0 37.0 36.7 46.1 51.3 54.9 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.4 26.8 29.1 80.2 22.1 19.2 18.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 Mean 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8		CD59 (%)	29.1	43.0	37.9	36.6		45.1	48.3	59.3	55.6			
Mean 29.1 43.0 37.0 36.7 46.1 51.3 54.9 55.6 SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 18.5 69.9 33.7 25.3 26.8 100.4 28.0 16.5 22.2 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 mean 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 sD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>31.0</td><td>44.9</td><td>37.6</td><td>36.9</td><td></td><td>50.0</td><td>54.2</td><td>45.8</td><td>53.8</td></t<>			31.0	44.9	37.6	36.9		50.0	54.2	45.8	53.8			
SD 1.8 1.9 1.2 0.1 3.4 2.9 7.9 1.9 CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.4 26.8 29.1 80.2 22.1 19.2 18.5 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 #mCRPs 79.4 34.1 30.3 28.6 77.5 21.7 16.9 21.8 neutral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 84.0 (%) 2.7 1.5 0.8	Mean		29.1	43.0	37.0	36.7		46.1	51.3	54.9	55.6			
CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 34.4 26.8 29.1 80.2 22.1 19.2 18.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 85.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 Mean CDC (%) 84.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 +mCRPs 79.4 34.1 30.3 28.6 77.5 21.7 16.9 21.8 neutral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 15.8 11.8 16.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5	SD		1.8	1.9	1.2	0.1		3.4	2.9	7.9	1.9			
CDC (%) 88.8 36.0 26.2 29.8 95.4 25.5 16.1 20.5 Mean 80.0 33.7 25.3 26.8 100.4 28.0 16.5 22.2 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 CDC (%) 84.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 +mCRPs 79.4 34.1 30.3 28.6 77.5 21.7 16.9 21.8 neutral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean (%) 2.7 1.5														
81.3 34.4 26.8 29.1 80.2 22.1 19.2 18.5 Mean 80.0 34.7 25.3 26.8 100.4 28.0 16.5 22.2 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 CDC (%) 84.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 neutral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 </td <td></td> <td>CDC (%)</td> <td>88.8</td> <td>36.0</td> <td>26.2</td> <td>29.8</td> <td></td> <td>95.4</td> <td>25.5</td> <td>16.1</td> <td>20.5</td>		CDC (%)	88.8	36.0	26.2	29.8		95.4	25.5	16.1	20.5			
Mean 69.9 33.7 25.3 26.8 100.4 28.0 16.5 22.2 Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 U 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 U CDC (%) +mCRPs neutral. 84.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 Mean 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 <td></td> <td></td> <td>81.3</td> <td>34.4</td> <td>26.8</td> <td>29.1</td> <td></td> <td>80.2</td> <td>22.1</td> <td>19.2</td> <td>18.5</td>			81.3	34.4	26.8	29.1		80.2	22.1	19.2	18.5			
Mean 80.0 34.7 26.1 28.5 92.0 25.2 17.2 20.4 SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 CDC (%) +mCRPs neutral. 84.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 Mean 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 V (%) 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 V 1.9.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 18.0 84.0 18.0 84.0 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 SD 2.7 1.5 2.8 2.3			69.9	33.7	25.3	26.8		100.4	28.0	16.5	22.2			
SD 7.7 0.9 0.6 1.2 8.5 2.4 1.3 1.5 CDC (%) +mCRPs neutral. 84.7 37.2 32.0 26.4 74.9 25.0 18.5 19.5 neutral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 2.8 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 <td>Mean</td> <td></td> <td>80.0</td> <td>34.7</td> <td>26.1</td> <td>28.5</td> <td></td> <td>92.0</td> <td>25.2</td> <td>17.2</td> <td>20.4</td>	Mean		80.0	34.7	26.1	28.5		92.0	25.2	17.2	20.4			
CDC (%) +mCRPs neutral. 84.7 79.4 81.0 37.2 34.1 36.3 32.0 31.5 26.4 29.4 74.9 96.6 25.0 21.7 18.5 16.9 19.5 21.8 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean (%) 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 23.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 SD 23.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 Mean <t< td=""><td>SD</td><td></td><td>7.7</td><td>0.9</td><td>0.6</td><td>1.2</td><td></td><td>8.5</td><td>2.4</td><td>1.3</td><td>1.5</td></t<>	SD		7.7	0.9	0.6	1.2		8.5	2.4	1.3	1.5			
CDC (%) +mCRPs neutral. 84.7 79.4 37.2 34.1 30.3 30.3 28.6 28.6 77.5 77.5 21.7 21.7 16.9 21.8 21.8 Mean 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean (%) 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 84.0 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 Mean 2.8 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 Mean 2.9 2.8 2.3.2 60.6 60.7		1	1	T	T	T	1		1					
+mCRPs neutral. 79.4 34.1 30.3 28.6 77.5 21.7 16.9 21.8 Mean 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 FH binding (%) 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 Mean 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 SD 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 Mean 19.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 SD 23.0 69.0 64.0 84.3 SD 23.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 Mean 23.3 61.2 41.0 62.8 S		CDC (%)	84.7	37.2	32.0	26.4		74.9	25.0	18.5	19.5			
neutral. 81.0 36.3 31.5 29.4 96.6 23.7 18.6 22.6 Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 GMan (%) 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 Mean 2.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 Mean		+mCRPs	79.4	34.1	30.3	28.6		77.5	21.7	16.9	21.8			
Mean 81.7 35.8 31.2 28.1 83.0 23.4 18.0 21.3 SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 fH binding (%) 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 19.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 Mean 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 Mean SD <td></td> <td>neutral.</td> <td>81.0</td> <td>36.3</td> <td>31.5</td> <td>29.4</td> <td></td> <td>96.6</td> <td>23.7</td> <td>18.6</td> <td>22.6</td>		neutral.	81.0	36.3	31.5	29.4		96.6	23.7	18.6	22.6			
SD 2.7 1.5 0.8 1.5 11.8 1.6 0.9 1.6 fH binding (%) fH binding (%) 11.5 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 19.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 1 1 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 1 1 1 1 1 1 60.7 54.2 iC3b (%) 1 1 1 1 1 1 62.8 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 5D 60.6 60.9 63.1 60.5 60.6 60.9 63.1 Mean 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 60.5 SD 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 iC3b (%) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 SD	Mean		81.7	35.8	31.2	28.1		83.0	23.4	18.0	21.3			
fH binding (%) 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 19.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 Mean 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 Mean 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5 SD 51.9 57.7 58.0 62.2 63.1 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26	SD		2.7	1.5	0.8	1.5		11.8	1.6	0.9	1.6			
fH binding (%) 19.0 48.0 118.0 84.0 (%) 19.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 Mean 60.6 60.9 61.0 60.7 54.2 SD 61.2 41.0 62.8 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 60.5 64.6 55.1 60.5 SD SD SD SD SD 53.97 4.37 9.52 4.26			1				-							
(%) 19.0 66.0 117.0 83.0 Mean 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 Mean 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 Mean 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5 SD 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26		fH binding						19.0	48.0	118.0	84.0			
Mean 23.0 69.0 64.0 86.0 Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 Mean 67.7 58.0 62.2 Mean 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5 SD 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26		(%)						19.0	66.0	117.0	83.0			
Mean 20.3 61.0 99.6 84.3 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 iC3b (%) 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 Mean 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5 SD 9.52 4.26 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26								23.0	69.0	64.0	86.0			
SD 2.3 11.3 30.8 1.5 iC3b (%) 44.6 69.1 60.7 54.2 iC3b (%) 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 Mean 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5 SD 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26	Mean							20.3	61.0	99.6	84.3			
iC3b (%) <td< td=""><td>SD</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>2.3</td><td>11.3</td><td>30.8</td><td>1.5</td></td<>	SD							2.3	11.3	30.8	1.5			
iC3b (%) <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>T</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>44.0</td><td>00.4</td><td>00.7</td><td>54.0</td></td<>			T					44.0	00.4	00.7	54.0			
Mean 52.3 61.2 41.0 62.8 SD 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26								44.6	69.1	60.7	54.2			
Mean 51.9 67.7 58.0 62.2 SD 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1		IC3D (%)						52.3	61.2	41.0	62.8			
Mean 53.2 60.6 60.9 63.1 SD 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5								51.9	60.0	58.0	62.2			
Mean SD 50.5 64.6 55.1 60.5								53.2	60.6	60.9	63.1			
SD 30.5 04.0 55.1 00.5 SD 3.97 4.37 9.52 4.26	Maan							50 F	616	<u>55 1</u>	60 5			
טט								2.07	04.0 4 07	0.52	4.26			
	30						<u> </u>	3.97	4.37	9.52	4.20			

l

				SKBR-	3 cell lir	۱e					
		24h		_		-			48h		
				Doxoru	bicin (µľ	<u>(N</u>					
	Conc.	0	2	5	10		0	2	5	10	
	Analyzed markers										
		35.9	59.2	62.8	74.5		46.5	32.6	44.1	52.1	
	CD46 (%)	48.3	62.4	61.7	70.5		48.0	33.0	46.4	52.6	
		39.8	58.3	62.3	72.0		45.0	33.4	48.3	52.3	
Mean		41.3	59.9	62.2	72.3		46.5	33.4	46.2	52.3	
SD		6.3	2.1	0.5	2.0		1.5	0.4	2.1	0.2	
									-		
		26.8	35.6	43.4	60.2		57.7	38.3	49.1	52.8	
	CD55 (%)	25.6	34.6	44.2	58.6		57.7	35.9	49.4	52.0	
		25.2	33.3	44.3	63.2		57.1	39.8	47.9	52.8	
Mean		25.8	34.5	43.9	60.6		57.5	38.0	48.8	52.5	
SD		0.8	1.1	0.4	2.3		0.3	1.9	0.7	0.4	
									-		
		67.2	64.5	69.9	80.6		68.8	66.2	68.8	69.4	
	CD59 (%)	67.8	74.3	72.1	79.6		69.7	68.1	69.1	70.1	
		66.3	81.9	80.6	79.3		68.7	66.2	73.8	70.0	
Mean		67.1	73.5	74.2	79.8		69.0	66.8	70.5	69.8	
SD		0.7	8.7	5.6	0.6		0.5	1.0	2.8	0.3	
			•	•							
	CDC (%)	67.7	19.6	28.6	33.1		53.0	37.3	59.1	52.7	
		49.4	21.1	29.7	33.9		61.1	39.9	57.5	54.0	
		54.3	20.1	27.3	38.2		50.5	48.5	68.7	59.9	
Mean		57.1	20.2	28.5	35.0		54.8	41.9	61.7	55.5	
SD		7.7	0.62	0.98	2.2		4.5	4.7	4.9	3.1	
		1	1	1				1	1	I	
	CDC (%)	65.4	35.1	28.6	33.1		54.6	39	55.5	66.9	
	+mCRPs	66.5	31.6	29.7	33.9		48.2	37.8	57	61	
	neutral.	48.7	30.5	43.4	38.2		53.9	36.7	58.9	62	
Mean		60.2	32.4	33.9	35.7		52.2	37.8	57.1	63.3	
SD		9.9	2.4	8.2	2.7		3.5	1.1	1.7	3.1	
		r	r	r							
	fH binding						36.1	37.2	41.7	33,4	
	(%)						36.4	36.4	41.3	31.7	
							35.7	38.1	41.3	32.6	
Mean							36.0	37.2	41.4	32.5	
SD							0.3	0.8	0.2	0.8	
		1			1		<u> </u>	4			
							38.4	47.7	54.2	62.0	
	IC3b (%)						43.8	51.2	61.2	61.8	
							47.9	47.4	67.5	59.0	
Mean							43.3	48.7	60.9	60.9	
SD							4.76	2.11	6.6	1.6	

l

3.7.2. Impact of taxol on breast cancer cell lines on the expression of mCRPs (CD46, CD55 and CD59), cell lysis by CDC, fH binding and opsonisation with iC3b (mean values and SD of 3 independent experiments are presented).

	BT474 cell line												
		24h						48h					
	r			Тахо	ol (nM)								
	Conc.	0	5	10	20		0	5	10	20			
	Analyzed markers												
	CD64 (%)	58.0 64.6	53.5 56.9	41.3 47.7	35.2 34.5		68.9 68.9	68.0 63.7	70.2 80.1	78.1 84.6			
Moon		60.4 61.0	55.9 55. 9	43.5	36.5		<u>/1.0</u>	69.1	32.5	82.2 91.6			
SD		22	55.4	44.1	35.4	_	1.2	00.1	25.1	2.2			
30		3.3	1.7	3.2	1.0		1.2	4.5	20.1	3.2			
	CD55 (%)	21.1	22.7	26.5	25.0		19.4 19.4	34.2	32.3	37.4			
	0000 (70)	29.9	27.3 25.4	23.5	27.0		41 1	47 A	32.5	72.2			
Mean		26.2	24.3	23.9	26.4		26.6	38.2	32.7	48.5			
SD		4.5	1.4	2.3	1.2		12.5	7.9	0.5	20.5			
0.0				2.0			.2.0	110	0.0	20.0			
	CD59 (%)	66.1 63.0	60.5 56.5	53.8 51.6	45.9 46.2		74.8 67.2	70.3 69.7	65.3 64.6	72.4 64.2			
	. ,	64.6	61.0	50.4	47.0		69.3	71.2	75.5	69.1			
Mean		64.5	59.3	51.9	46.3		70.4	70.4	68.4	68.5			
SD		1.5	2.4	1.7	0.5		3.9	0.7	6.1	4.1			
	CDC (%)	78.9	61.3	62.0	66.1		84.4	65.6	78.8	50.7			
		67.9	60.4	57.3	70.2		85.7	64.1	74.0	48.9			
		71.2	64.7	63.5	70.0		81.8	71.8	74.3	47.5			
Mean		72.6	62.1	60.9	68.7		83.9	67.1	75.7	49.0			
SD		5.6	2.2	3.2	2.3		1.9	4.0	2.6	1.6			
	T			1				1					
	CDC (%)	50.0	53.1	46.7	48.1		47.9	56.0	74.4	34.5			
	+mCRPs	52.6	49.3	50.9	58.0		45.4	53.0	69.4	36.6			
	neutral.	60.5	59.2	83.1	78.8		49.3	57.3	72.6	45.4			
Mean		54.3	53.8	60.2	61.6		47.5	55.4	72.1	38.8			
SD		5.4	4.9	19.9	15.6		1.9	2.2	2.5	5.7			
	T	1							00.4				
	fill have been						24.2	23.2	26.4	33.2			
	TH binding						25.8	23.3	26.3	31.1			
	(%)						25.1	23.7	29.1	33.8			
							25.0 25.6	24.0	29.0	33.2			
Moan							25.0	23.7	27.7	33.0 32.8			
SD							 	23.7	13	1.0			
50	<u> </u>						0.0	0.5	1.3	1.0			
							116	77 1	827	76 5			
							52.3	81 7	78.8	78.4			
	iC3b (%)						51.9	81.8	80.0	78.1			
							53.2	85.3	78.9	72.5			

Mean							50.	5	81.	4	8	0.1	76.3
SD							3.9)	3.3	3		1.8	2.7
				SKBR-3	3 cell li	ne							
		24h							48	3h			
		1 -		Taxo	ol (nM)			<u> </u>				1	
-	Conc.	0	5	10	20	-	0	5		10)		20
	Analyzed markers												
		16.0	42.3	46.5	62.5		19.8	39.6	5	38.5	5	5	1.4
	CD46 (%)	17.7	46.4	47.5	60.0		17.6	44.8	3	41.3	3	4	3.7
		17.5	44.4	49.0	65.9		16.7	42.3	3	45.1	1	4	9.0
Mean		17.0	44.3	47.6	62.8		18.0	42.2	2	41.6	5	4	8.0
SD		0.9	2.0	1.2	2.9	-	1.5	2.6	3	3.3			3.9
	1	470					<u> </u>		- T	~-			
		17.3	29.9	31.9	39.9		30.5	30.7		25.4	1	2	7.8
	CD55 (%)	17.5	29.6	30.3	41.2		33.0	31.9		26.6	5 N	2	5.5
		18.1	30.1	31.6	39.8		38.8	31.8	5	25.3	3	2	5.4
Mean		17.6	29.8	31.2	40.3		34.1	31.4	•	25.	<u> </u>	2	<u>6.2</u>
50		0.4	0.2	0.8	0.7		4.2	0.6		0.7		1	.3
		20.2	50.0	62.0	74.0		F 2 0	60 /		<u> </u>	.	F	0.4
		38.Z	58.U	62.0	74.3		53.Z	6Z.4		33.4 AF 0	2	5	9.4
	CD59 (%)	40.5	50.0 50.0	00.0 5/1	70.7 55.2		21.1 40.6	09.5	,	40.0	2	0	0.9
Moon		40.1 20.6	50.5	59.2	55.2 69.7		49.0 51 2	02. 61 /		50.0	5	0 6	<u>9.1</u> 26
SD		1.2	0.2	20	11 7		1 0	1 2	•	<u> </u>	<u>,</u>	0	<u>2.0</u>
30		1.2	0.2	3.9	11.7		1.0	1.3		4.7		ز).4
	CDC (%)	79.0	79.2	60.8	42.8		69.2	51 (<u>4</u> 9 4	1		3.0
		78.8	74.1	61.0	37.8		70.2	48.6	Ś	45.4	4		3.7
		89.0	80.0	73.8	36.9		68.4	49.1		48.6	5		3.8
Mean		82.2	77.7	65.2	39.1		69.2	49.5	5	47.8	3	3	3.5
SD		5.8	3.2	7.4	3.1		0.9	1.2		2.1		().4
	CDC (%),	60.9	72.8	45.4	42.8		68.7	67.0)	54.5	5	8	3.9
	+mCRPs	57.5	69.9	50.0	43.4		54.1	61.6	5	52.1	1	3	3.1
	neutral.	61.4	75.1	58.7	37.7		58.1	72.2	2	55.2	2	3	3.7
Mean		59.9	72.6	51.3	41.3	-	60.3	66.9)	53.9	9	Ę	5.2
SD		2.1	2.6	6.7	3.1		7.5	5.3		1.6		3	3.1
	fH binding						31.5	33.1		34.9	9	4	0.7
	(%)						32.9	34.1		29.2	2	3	9.4
							33.5	35.5	5	31.9	9	3	7.3
Mean							32.6	34.2	2	32.0)	3	9.1
SD							1.0	1.2		2.8		1	1.7
	•	1	I		I			1				1	
							18.5	22.8	3	29.6	3	3	7.6
	iC3b (%)					5.2							
							20.3	21.6	j	29.9)	3	<u> </u>
Mean							20.7	21.6	5	28.7	(3	6.8
SD							2.4	0.8		1.7		1	1.4

L

3.7.3. Impact of bortezomib on different cancer cell lines on the expression of mCRPs (CD46, CD55 and CD59), cell lysis by CDC, fH binding and opsonisation with iC3b (mean values and SD of 3 independent experiments are presented).

BT474 cell line												
		24h						48h				
			 _	Bortezo	mib (nN	/I)		<u> </u>				
	Conc.	0	5	10	20		0	5	10	20		
	Analyzed markers		1	1				I	I			
		22.2	23.1	17.1	21.4		51.0	37.7	32.6	30.3		
	CD46 (%)	20.5	21.7	26.8	21.9		54.4	34.3	47.5	29.4		
Maan		24.5	19.7	24.1	22.2		57.9	38.5	30.0	34.6		
Niean		22.4	21.5	22.6	21.8		54.4	36.8	36.7	31.4		
30		2.0	1.7	5.0	0.4		3.4	Ζ.Ζ	9.4	2.7		
	CD55 (%)	16.1 15.7 18.0	16.0 16.0 16.1	15.5 17.1 16.3	16.3 15.9 16.6		30.5 25.3 26.8	21.3 25.0 22.1	24.0 20.3 21.6	23.8 19.0 20.1		
Mean		16.6	16.0	16.3	16.2		27.5	22.8	21.9	20.9		
SD		1.2	0.05	0.8	0.3		2.6	1.9	1.8	2.5		
	CD59 (%)	33.0 34.7 33.1	33.1 34.7 38.9	31.0 38.9 40.1	36.1 35.2 37.9		62.3 62.8 61.1	43.3 37.6 54.7	36.3 33.1 41.2	43.5 35.0 36.4		
Mean		33.6	35.5	36.6	36.4		62.0	45.2	36.8	38.3		
SD		0.9	2.9	4.9	1.3		0.8	8.7	4.0	4.5		
	CDC (%),	73.3 71.1 68.2	65.0 84.2 79.4	66.1 73.5 56.3	82.6 77.8 78.1		92.6 93.6 103.7	65.4 69.0 63.1	69.7 68.8 78.1	65.4 68.0 74.0		
Mean		70.8	76.2	65.3	79.5		96.6	65.8	72.2	69.1		
SD		2.5	9.9	8.6	2.6		6.1	2.9	5.1	4.4		
	CDC (%), +mCRPs neutral.	78.0 71.2 74.8	82.3 76.0 59.1	77.0 70.0 71.5	90.0 88.6 90.1		87.6 79.9 84.1	71.6 73.1 66.1	55.6 55.8 63.4	63.7 63.8 63.0		
Mean		74.6	72.4	72.8	89.5		83.8	70.2	58.2	63.5		
SD		3.4	11.9	3.6	0.8		3.8	3.6	4.4	0.4		
	filbinding						10.0	20.0	70.0	44.0		
	(%)						19.0 23.0 19.0	29.0 29.0	76.0 76.0 50.0	44.0 43.0 67.0		
Mean							20.3	31.3	67.3	51.3		
SD							2.3	4.0	15.0	13.5		
					_							
	iC3b (%)						44.6 52.3 51.9 53.2	49.0 40.3 40.3 41.3	57.1 61.1 58.3 62.1	60.9 57.2 61.1 55.9		

Mean							50.	5 4	42.7	59.6	6	58.7
SD							3.9		4.2	2.3		2.6
		246	Ś	SKBR-3		ne			10h			
		2411		Bortezo	mih (n	<i>I</i>)			40[]			
	Conc	0	5	10	20	,,,	0	5	10			20
		U	5	10	20		U	5		,		20
	markers			I					1			
		29.6	27.4	26.8	35.9		22.5	21.6	21.4	4	2′	1.5
	CD46 (%)	26.0	22.5	27.0	34.6		23.1	22.9	20.	8	2′	1.2
		23.6	23.3	24.9	32.7		23.0	21.7	21.	2	2	1.1
Mean		26.4	24.4	26.2	34.4		22.8	22.0	21.	1	2	1.2
SD		3.0	2.6	1.1	1.6		0.3	0.7	0.3		0	.2
		14.3	16.4	17.0	18.2		25.4	24.5	25.	3	23	3.2
	CD55 (%)	16.0	15.0	17.4	17.7		24.7	26.2	22.	9	25	5.4 4 0
Mean		15.0 15.1	10.1	15.7 16.7	10.0		20.1	20.0 25 /	20.	7	24	+.0 1 /
SD		0.8	0.7	0.8	0.4		0.7	0.8	16	/ }	<u></u> 1	1.4 3
00		0.0	0.7	0.0	0.1		0.7	0.0	1.0	, I		.0
		42.5	42.2	43.6	47.1		32.9	29.2	29.	0	32	2.4
	CD59 (%)	40.4	41.4	44.6	50.9		30.9	31.0	31.	0	28	8.4
		40.2	40.8	44.3	52.5	-	30.2	30.3	31.	9	32	2.4
Mean		41.0	41.4	44.1	50.1		31.3	30.1	30.	6	3	1.0
SD		1.2	0.7	0.5	2.7		1.4	0.9	1.4		2	.3
		79.6	710	45.0	50.1		75.2	72.0	102	2	0.	10
	CDC(70),	70.0	74.0 66.5	45.0	50.8		70.0 60.8	73.0	88	.3 2	04 71	+.U 2 2
		68.7	60.7	45.5	47.2		53.3	80.9	95.	7	73	3.8
Mean		73.3	67.3	45.7	52.3		66.1	76.5	95.4	4	70	6.6
SD		4.9	7.0	0.8	6.1		11.4	3.8	7.0)	6	.4
	CDC (%),	81.2	71.9	58.1	54.0		72.6	92.3	109	.6	80	D.1
	+mCRPs	72.5	74.6	51.1	63.6		81.0	78.8	104	.9	77	7.5
	neutral.	74.5	67.9	52.9	63.6		67.3	88.1	98.	8	75	5.4
Mean		76.0	71.4	54.0	60.4		73.6	86.4	104	4	77	7.6
SD		4 5	33	3.6	55		69	69	54	1	2	3
00		1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		0.0	0.0	0.1	•		
	fH binding						17.0	19.7	19	4	19	9.0
	(%)						18.8	23.3	20	5	19	8.4
							22.3	10.7	20.	8	17	7 1
Maan							10 2	200	20.0	ິ າ	10	2.1
wean							19.2	20.9	20.	~		
SD						<u> </u>	2.6	2.0	0.7	,	0	.9
				1				[1	<u> </u>		
	iC3b (%)						57.2	61.1	68.	4	73	3.1

L

			1							
							55.2	68.4	63.9	74.6
							49 4	71.3	70.0	72.6
Maan							52.0	~ 1.0	07.4	72.0
wean							53.9	00.9	07.4	73.4
SD							4.0	5.2	3.1	1.0
				Raji c	ell line					
		24h							48h	
	1	I		Bortezo	mib (nN	1)			r	1
	Conc.	0	5	10	20		0	5	10	20
	Analyzed markers									
		31.9	35.6	39.0	37.5		43.6	48.0	46.3	48.1
	CD46 (%)	33.2	33.9	39.2	38.4		49.0	47.9	46.7	48.9
		33.8	34.3	36.9	40.8		44.0	49.7	47.7	46.2
Mean		32.9	34.6	38.3	38.9		45.5	48.5	46.9	47.7
SD		0.9	0.8	1.2	1.7		3.0	1.0	0.7	1.3
		-								
		31.6	32.1	35.8	33.0		43.0	41.0	39.8	43.6
	CD55 (%)	32.6	35.5	34.9	37.4		41.0	41.1	44.0	42,0
		27.8	34.6	36.0	37.2		39.8	39.6	40.5	40.1
Mean		30.6	34.0	35.5	35.8		41.2	40.5	41.4	41.8
SD		2.5	1.7	0.5	2.4		1.6	0.8	2.2	2.4
				1					1	
		30.3	30.9	35.7	33.7		38.2	40.2	40.4	38.2
	CD59 (%)	32.1	33.0	34.7	35.4		38.0	41.1	37.8	40.5
		28.6	32.9	34.9	34.7		37.3	39.7	35.9	35.7
Mean		30.3	32.2	35.1	38.1		37.8	40.3	38.0	38.1
SD		1.7	1.1	0.5	0.8		0.4	0.7	2.2	2.4
	1	1	1	1					r	
	CDC (%),	59.5	45.7	43.0	32.2		49.5	50.2	66.4	53.0
		69.4	49.2	67.0	32.1		50.9	46.7	57.2	52.9
		81.5	49.5	80.2	46.2		52.8	55.4	66.8	52.0
Mean		70.1	48.1	63.4	36.8		51.0	50.7	63.4	52.6
SD		11.0	2.1	18.8	8.1		1.6	4.3	5.4	6.5
		1	1	1	r					
	CDC (%),	59.3	48.8	49.6	53.3		55.7	55.9	69.7	63.7
	+mCRPs	63.0	57.3	61.9	45.0		53.2	56.4	65.7	53.7
	neutral.	69.0	67.3	67.0	42.3		55.4	66.6	80.6	67.4
Mean		63.7	57.8	59.5	46.8		57.7	59.6	72.0	61.6
SD		4.8	9.2	8.9	5.7		1.3	6.0	7.7	7.0
		1	1	1	1			10.0	44.0	
	tH binding						11.6	10.0	11.0	23.8
	(%)						12.4	8.4	10.8	22.0
					├		15.8	8.2	11.0	23.2
Mean							13.2	8.8	10.9	23.0
SD							2.2	0.9	0.1	0.9
				1	г г		14.0	44.0	10.4	10.0
	IC3D (%)						11.6	11.9	12.1	12.8
							9.0	14.6	11.9	13.1
NA							11.8	13.9	13.8	20.1
Mean							10.8	13.4	12.6	15.3
SD							1.5	1.4	1.0	4.1

3.7.4. Impact of fludarabine on Raji cells on the expression of mCRPs (CD46, CD55 and CD59), cell lysis by CDC, fH binding and opsonisation with iC3b (mean values and SD of 3 independent experiments are presented).

	Raji cell line											
		24h							48h			
	1	I	F	Iudara	bine (µl	M)	I		I	1		
	Conc.	0	1	3	5		0	1	3	5		
	Analyzed markers											
		19.7	19.2	19.0	19.5		35.0	30.3	25.4	26.3		
	CD46 (%)	22.0	20.4	20.4	20.0		36.2	26.0	28.0	29.0		
		20.9	19.3	20.0	19.3		35.3	27.7	28.7	30.2		
Mean		20.8	19.6	19.8	19.6		35.5	28.0	27.3	28.5		
50		1.1	0.6	0.7	0.3		0.6	2.1	1.7	1.9		
		22.0	23.4	22.1	22.5		21.7	10.0	20.0	21.3		
	CD55 (%)	22.0	23.4	20.7	22.3		20.6	21 7	20.0	21.5		
	0000 (70)	22.7	24.0	23.4	22.6		18.2	20.0	20.4	21.7		
Mean		22.8	23.0	22.0	22.4		20.1	20.2	20.3	21.1		
SD		0.9	1.1	1.3	0.2		1.7	1.3	0.2	0.6		
	1						1					
		16.3	16.5	15.7	15.9		17.1	24.7	23.7	22.7		
	CD59 (%)	17.1	16.8	16.8	16.8		16.1	23.5	21.9	22.3		
		16.2	17.0	16.2	16.4		16.9	24.4	22.0	21.7		
Mean		16.5	16.7	16.2	16.3		16.7	24.2	22.5	22.2		
SD		0.4	0.2	0.5	0.4		0.5	0.6	1.0	0.5		
			10.0	44.0			45.0					
	CDC (%),	55.1	19.2	11.0	5.2		45.9	6.3	2.7	0.0		
		58.4	25.7	15.4	5.0		48.7	5.6	3.7	0.0		
Meen		59.8	31.4	11.2	0.0 5 5		41.7	8.Z	4.1	0.5		
SD		21	23.4	3 1	0.8		45.4	0.7	3.5	0.1		
30		2.4	0.1	5.1	0.0		5.5	1.5	0.7	0.2		
	CDC (%)	40.0	29.9	22.3	7.6		37.0	10.0	3.7	0.2		
	+mCRPs	41.1	34.1	22.4	8.1		35.9	7.8	3.2	0.4		
	neutral.	43.0	36.1	19.6	13.5		42.8	8.5	4.4	0.2		
Mean		41.3	33.3	21.4	9.7		38.5	8.7	3.7	0.3		
SD		1.5	3.1	1.5	3.2		3.7	1.1	0.6	0.1		
	fH binding						11.6	17.8	39.2	35.0		
	(%)						12.4	29.4	39.8	38.8		
							15.8	30.0	43.4	33.2		
Mean							13.2	25.7	40.8	35.6		
SD							2.2	6.8	2.2	2.8		
	1						44.0	04.0	45.4	047		
	100h (0/)						11.6	21.9	15.4	24.7		
	1C3D (%)						9.0	10.4	10.9	23.1 22.0		
Mean							10.8	10.3	21.3 18.5	23.0 24 0		
SD							15.0	22	20	0.5		
00				I			1.0	۲.۲	2.0	0.0		

Chapter 4– Discussion

During the past three decades different treatment regimens for various kinds of tumors have been developed based on the availability of cancer-specific monoclonal antibodies. In general, the Ab-based therapy is considered effective but is not able not provide a complete cure for most of the cases. This led to the combined application of conventional chemo-and/or-radio-therapy with mAbs in a wide range of treatment regimens (Hurvitzet *et al.,* 2013; Jain and O'Brien, 2013).

The identification of biomarkers for tumor response to chemotherapy, radiotherapy or combined chemoradiation therapy represents a highly interesting research area with the aim to control treatment-associated toxicity and to provide optimal treatment strategies.

Many studies suggested that the cytotoxicity of chemotherapy, the CDC and the ADCC are efficiently regulated by shared groups of intracellular proteins (Reslan et al., 2009; Gancz & Fishelson, 2009). Accordingly, it was reasonable to expect in our current work a modified response to CDC and ADCC as a result of pre-treating cancer cells with various anti-cancer drugs. We therefore investigated the possible impact of clinically relevant chemotherapies on tumor cell susceptibility to CDC and/or on the opsonisation of these cells with the C3 fragment iC3b. We also aimed to address the question if the alterations in complement effects are associated with a modified expression of membrane complement regulators. Since most of the previous studies were performed with long-term exposure of cancer cells to anti-cancer drugs, we wished to study if a modulatory effect could also occur after treating cancer cells for short intervals with selected clinically relevant drugs.

4.1. Breast cancer cell lines: impact of doxorubicin on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3

In soft tissue sarcomas (STS), response to chemotherapy has been associated with the expression of several complement genes (Zhang *et al.,* 2020). Subtypes of STS were relatively responsive to chemotherapies by expressing high levels of complement genes, a phenomenon considered to be of clinical significance (Zhang *et al.,* 2020).

We found a significant increase of CD55 and CD59 expression on BT474 cells upon treatment with doxorubicin for 24h. CD59 serves as biomarker for various tumors. Higher CD59 expression was associated with reduced survival in colorectal cancer patients (Watson *et al.*, 2006). An enhanced expression of CD46, CD55, and CD59, in a concentration-dependent manner, was also noticed in the cells treated for 48h.

In SKBR-3, doxorubicin significantly elevated CD46 and CD55 expression at 24h. At the same interval, alteration of CD59 expression was dependent on the drug concentration. At 48h, doxorubicin lead to elevated expression of CD46 on SKBR-3 in a concentration dependent manner but induced a significant decrease of the CD55 expression.

Higher expression of the mCRPs (CD46, CD55, and CD59) by cancer, compared to normal, cells has been widely reported (Seya *et al.*, 1994; Niehans *et al.*, 1996; Donin *et al.*, 2003, Fishelson and Kirschfink, 1999, 2019). Cancer cells exposed to various anti-cancer drugs showed variable levels of the mCRPs ranging from expression of higher CD59 and CD55 (Gelderman *et al.*, 2002) to lower levels of CD59 (Gorter *et al.*, 1996; Kuraya *et al.*, 1992) or CD55 (Maio *et al.*, 1998). This impact of anti-cancer drugs appears to be cell-type dependent: e.g. while daunomycin had no influence on CD59 expression in osteosarcoma cells (Bjørge and Matre, 1995), it induced over-expression of the regulator in ovarian carcinoma cells (A2780-MDR; Sedlak *et al.*, 1994).

In ovarian carcinoma, doxorubicin-resistant variants (OAW42-dox) expressing P-gp showed higher expression of CD59 and CD46 relative to parental cells (OAW42; Odening *at al.,* 2009). Upon treatment with tamoxifen, HER2-positive SKBR-3 and BT474 cells showed a reduction of CD55 but not of CD59 or CD46 on both RNA and protein levels (Mei Liu *et al.,* 2014).

In human oral carcinoma, multidrug-resistant cell variants (KB-V1) expressed a lower level of CD55 than parental cell line (KB-3-1; Bomstein *et al.,* 1997). Proteomic analysis of human plasma from breast cancer patients revealed modulation of the complement components by epirubicin and docetaxel as early as 24h following the initiation of treatment (MichImayr *et al.,* 2010). This study suggested that certain C3 isoforms may have a potential as early predictive biomarkers for breast cancer response to epirubicin and docetaxel.

Both, complement fH and fHL-1 proteins bind to some tumors, including lung cancer cells (Ajona *et al.*, 2004). fH and fHL-1 proteins are soluble complement inhibitors which can bind to cell membranes through a complex process (Jozsi *et al.*,2004). Complement fH reacts with polyanionic surface proteins such as glycosamino-glycans which are often over-expressed by tumor cells (Ajona *et al.*, 2007; Fedarko *et al.*, 2000; Gasque *et al.*, 1992; Junnikkala *et al.*, 2002; Junnikkala *et al.*, 2000; Rodriguez de Cordoba *et al.*, 2004) through the C-terminal region and then induces inhibition of complement activation through its N-terminal region (Kopp *et al.*, 2012).

Our results demonstrate that treatment with doxorubicin for 48h significantly also enhance the binding of fH to BT474 cells, whereas this phenomenon was not observed in SKBR-3 cells. Besides the over-expression of the mCRPs, binding of fH to cancer cells is relevant to provide additional protection against unwanted complement activation (Jozsi *et al.*, 2004).

Activation of the complement system by tumor-targeting antibodies induces three main effector mechanisms: (a) opsonisation of target cells with C3 fragments like C3b and iC3b, (Perlmann *et al.*, 1981), (b) recruitment and activation of various immune cells by anaphylatoxins including C3a and C5a, (Markiewski *et al.*, 2008), and (c) formation of the membrane attack complex, C5b-9, which leads to tumor cell killing (Gelderman *et al.*, 2004).

We noticed that BT474 cells, exposed to doxorubicin for 24 and 48h, showed a significantly reduced sensitivity to the CDC. This can be attributed, at least in part, to the induction of CD55 and CD59 expression by doxorubicin at 24h and by over-expression of the three mCRPs at 48h. As treatment with doxorubicin for 48h also increased the binding of fH to BT474 cells, there is convincing evidence that doxorubicin induces an enhanced resistance to CDC even after short time exposure.

Also, SKBR-3 augmented the resistance to CDC after a 24h pretreatment with doxorubicin, which was also associated with over-expression of the three mCRPs. Binding of fH was higher in untreated SKBR-3 cells compared to BT474 cells and an additional increase of its binding to SKBR-3 cells was observed at 5μ M doxorubicin. Also, here, the reduced susceptibility of these cells to complement lysis at 48h might be due to over-expression of both CD46 and CD55 and an enhanced binding level of fH.

In a previous work conducted by our research group, conversion of parental ovarian cells (OAW42) into a doxorubicin-resistant variant (OAW42-doxo) expressing P-gp was associated with a diminished sensitivity to CDC as a consequence of an over-expression of CD46 and CD55 (Odening *et al.*, 2009). This phenomenon was also reported for HL60 myeloid leukemia cells (Weisburg *et al.*, 1996), whereas doxorubicin-resistant human colon carcinoma cells were more sensitive to complement lysis than doxorubicin-sensitive cells (Gambacorti-Passerini *et al.*, 1988). Also, the multi-drug-resistant human oral carcinoma cell variants (KB-V1) exhibited a higher susceptibility to CDC compared to the parental cell variant (KB-3-1; Bomstein *et al.*, 1997). Anticancer drugs may not only induce tumor cell resistance to CDC but may also effectively inhibit NK-mediated cell killing with an obvious impact on immunotherapy (Markasz *et al.*, 2007).

In previous studies sensitivity of various tumor cells to CDC could be enhanced by post-transcriptional gene silencing and/or inhibition of mCRPs with neutralising antibodies (Jurianz *et al.*, 2001; Donin *et al.*, 2003; Zell *et al.*, 2007; Geis *et al.*, 2010; Mamidi *et al.*, 2013 & 2015). In our series of experiments, blocking mCRPs with specific antibodies induced a minor improvement in succeptibility of untreated cells to CDC and drug-treated cell lysis slightly augmented only with the higher drug concentrations. Neutralising Abs increased the lysis of untreated and of doxorubicin-treated SKBR-3 cells at 24, whereas at 48h, this effect was only seen in drug-treated cells at higher drug concentrations.

Activated C3b is converted into the inactive form iC3b by fl in the presence of fH as a cofactor. The iC3b opsonin serves as ligand for the CD11b/CD18 receptor on phagocytic cells (monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, and dendiritic cells) to facilitate cell destruction by CDCC and by augmentation of ADCC (Mamidi *et al.*, 2015). In contrast to the poor susceptibility of drug-treated breast (BT474 and SKBR-3) cancer cells to CDC, we observed higher opsonisation levels with iC3b upon treatment with doxorubicin for 48h. This is in line with previous reports that knock down of CD46 and CD55 with siRNA significantly increased the opsonisation levels of tumor cells with iC3b (Geis *et al.*, 2010).

Collectively, our data suggest that combination of short-term application of doxorubicin with anti-cancer Abs supports tumor cell killing by both CDCC and ADCC. Further investigation is needed, to elucidate if Ab-induced mCRP inhibition also augments opsonisation with iC3b and subsequent impact on CDCC and ADCC.

4.2. Breast cancer cell lines: impact of taxol on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3

We also obsereved a higher expression of CD46 and CD59 in BT474 cells after 24h treatment with taxol. Only after 48h the expression of CD55 in BT474 cells significantly increased upon treatment, with the strongest effect at the highest drug concentration. In contrast, human ovarian carcinoma cells responded with a reduced expression of CD59 when treated with paclitaxel (John and George, 2012).

Earlier work of our group on human ovarian carcinoma cells indicated that taxol-resistant variants (OAW42-tax) expressing P-gp showed significantly higher expression levels of the mCRPs in the order: CD59 > CD46 > CD55 (Odening et al., 2009). In our experiments, levels of mCRP expression on SKBR-3 cells were significantly increased after short-term treatment with taxol for 24h. Interestingly this effect was less pronounced after 48h exposure. Clinically, over-expression of CD55 and/or CD59 is considered as a marker for poor prognosis also reflecting the differentiation degrees of colorectal carcinoma (Durrant et al., 2003; Watson et al., 2006). In breast cancer, CD46 expression and the involvement of lymph nodes represent independent risk factors for disease-free survival. A less favorable diagnosis of this cancer was linked to the expression of this regulator (Maciejczyk et al., 2011). Higher expression of CD55 in breast cancer was also associated with more resistance to apoptotic stimuli and to a higher growth rate (Ikeda et al., 2008). This was suggested as an independent prognostic factor for the tumor recurrency (lkeda et al., 2008).

Binding of fH at 48h to taxol-treated BT474 cells was significantly higher than to untreated cells whereas binding of this regulator to taxol-treated SKBR-3 cells was not influenced. Although BT474 cells, treated with taxol for 24h, expressed significantly lower levels of CD46 and CD59 compared to untreated cells, these cells showed less sensitivity to complement lysis. This has also been reported for tumor cells of different origin where reduced mCRP expression levels went along with a reduced susceptibility to CDC (Weisburg *et al.*, 1996; Bomstein and Fishelson 1997; Odening *et al.*, 2009). In contrast, exposure of BT474 to taxol for 48h resulted in a reduced CDC which could be explained with both, a slightly higher CD46 and CD55 expression and higher levels of fH binding.

Noteworthy, tumor cells can eliminate surface MAC complexes by shedding macrovesicles, allowing them to escape from complement-mediated lysis (Pilzer *et al.*, 2005; Pilzer and Fishelson, 2005). Exosomes confer resistance to treatment either by acting as a decoy for immunotherapies or by exporting drugs from cancer cells (Safaei *et al.*, 2005; Aung *et al.*, 2011). This suggests a possible additional mechanism behind the observed tumor cell resistance to CDC beyond the impact of complement regulators as investigated in our experiments.

CDC could be enhanced by inhibiting mCRPs by neutralising Abs. The antagonistic impact of both the membrane bound and soluble forms of fH on the sensitivity to complement attack has been widely documented (Schmidt *et al.,* 2008; Kopp *et al.,* 2012; Geller and Yan, 2019). Binding of fH to SKBR-3 cells was not influenced by taxol. However, these cells showed a significantly higher resistance to CDC at 24h due to a higher mCRPs expression, an association which was less pronounced at 48h. Here, mCRP neutralising Abs increased the sensitivity of breast cancer cells to CDC but only at the low drug concentrations.

Both, BT474 and SKBR-3, were better opsonised with iC3b after 48h taxol exposure. A higher opsonisation rate has already been previously reported after blocking the expression of CD46 and/or CD55 (Geis *et al.*, 2010).

4.3. Cancer cells of different origin: impact of bortezomib on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3b

Treatment of BT474 cells with bortezomib showed no influence on mCRPs expression at 24h but reduced the regulator levels at 48h. Exposure of SKBR3 cells to bortezomib for 24h elevated the mCRPs expression especially at the highest drug concentration. However, no impact for this drug on mCRP expression was noticed at 48h. Bortezomib-treated Raji cells for 24h showed a partial increase of CD46 and CD59 expression wereas CD55 expression was significantly increased. Although being out of the scope of the current study, in

various tumors several cytokines including IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-4, EGF, TNF- α , IFN γ , and Prostaglandin E2 regulate CD55 expression (Andoh *et al.*, 1996; Nasu *et al.*, 1998; Varsano *et al.*, 1998b; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2001; Wang and Dubois, 2006). Therefore, if the synthesis and secretion of some cytokines by the relevant cancer cells were influenced by pre-treatment with bortezomib needs further investigation. At 48h, mCRP expression was comparable on drug-treated and untreated cells. Expression of mCRP by cancer cells in response to various anti-cancer drugs was variable ranging from expression of higher CD59 and CD55 (Gelderman *et al.*, 2002) to lower levels of CD59 (Gorter *et al.*, 1996; Kuraya *et al.*, 1992) or CD55 (Maio *et al.*, 1998). This influence was also cell-type dependent (Bjørge and Matre, 1995; Sedlak *et al.*, 1994).

Higher levels of fH were bound to bortezomib-treated BT474 cells at 48h in particular at the highest drug concentration wereas binding of fH to drugtreated SKBR-3 cells was not influenced. In Raji cells, binding to fH to drugtreated cells was significantly higher than on untreated cells.

Our results showed a comparable sensitivity of untreated and bortezomib-treated BT474 cells to CDC at 24h. In presence of mCRP neutralising Abs, drug-treated cells had a higher susceptibility to CDC, in particular at the highest concentration. This finding can also be explained by the lack of impact of bortezomib on the expression of mCRPs on BT474 cells at this time point. Upon blocking the regulatory activity of the mCRPs by neutralising Abs, a strong synergistic effect on tumor cell killing by CDC was achieved, in particular at the highest drug concentration.

BT474 cells treated with bortezomib for 48h showed a reduced susceptibility to CDC both in absence and presence of the mCRP neutralising Abs. Interestingly, although bortezomib-treated BT474 cells responded with a down-regulation of mCRP expression, binding of fH to drug-treated cells was increased which could explain the observed resistance to the CDC

Also, bortezomib-treated SKBR-3 cells for 24h were highly resistant to CDC, going along with a drug-induced elevation of mCRPs expression. At 48h drug-treated cells were as sensitive to CDC as untreated cells. Only after neutralising the mCRPs, sensitivity of these cells to CDC was enhanced. Although, bortezomib had no impact on the expression of the mCRPs, drug-treated cells bound high levels of fH which could account for the observed

enhanced resistance to CDC. Previous results indicated that apoptotic and/or necrotic actions induced by trastuzumab on HER-2 positive cells were synergistically enhanced upon treatment with bortezomib which was explained by targeting the NF-kappa B and p27 pathways by both drugs (Cardoso *et al.,* 2006).

Raji cells treated with bortezomib for 24h were highly resistant to CDC. This is going in line with the observed higher CD46, CD59 and CD55 expression induced by this drug at this interval. In various lymphoma cell lines, over-expression of the mCRPs was associated with a limited sensitivity to rituximab-mediated CDC (Golay *et al.*, 2000; Macor *et al.*, 2007; Horl *et al.*, 2013). In B-cell lymphoma, consumption of complement by exosomes might be implicated in protection against anti-CD20 antibodies (Aung *et al.*, 2011), although it has not been studied here, it could not be excluded as an additional factor for the observed resistance of Raji cells to CDC.

At 48h, bortezomib-treated cells showed the same sensitivity to CDC like that of untreated cells. An increase in susceptibility to CDC only occurred in presence of the mCRP neutralising Abs. Rituximab-treated B cell lymphoma with blocked activity of CD55 and CD59 were significantly more susceptible to CDC and the higher impact was associated with CD55 than CD59 (Golay *et al.,* 2000). Interestingly, expression of the mCRP by drug-treated and untreated Raji cells was comparable at this time point. However, binding to fH to drug-treated cells was significantly higher than to untreated cells which, like in SKBR-3, might be the cause behind the observed resistance of these cells to CDC.

BT474 cells treated with bortezomib were stronger opsonised with iC3b at the two highest used drug concentrations. This could be due to the obeserved reduction of CD46 and CD55 expression which confirms the previously reported data by our research group (Geis *et al.*, 2010).

Although exposure of SKBR-3 cells to bortezomib for 48h showed no impact on mCRP expression, these cells were opsonised with a higher level of iC3b and this is worth more investigations. Our results suggest that the combination of bortezomib and trastuzumab to treat HER-2 positive breast cancer may be a good choice to benefit from the synergistic effect of tumor cell killing by CDC, CDCC and ADCC.

The lack of impact of bortezomib on iC3b opsonisation of Raji cells goes along with a missing influence of this drug on mCRP expression.

4.4. Raji cells: impact of fludarabine on on mCRP expression, binding of fH, cell lysis and opsonisation with iC3

While expression of the mCRPs on both fludarabine-treated and untreated Raji cells was comparable after 24h, expression of CD46 in drugtreated cells was significantly reduced at 48h. A previous study revaled that activation of nuclear factor κB (NF-κB) is critical for CD46 expression (Ni Choileain *et al.*, 2017) which might reflect a possible interplay between fludarabine and the signaling cascade of NF-κB, an attractive link that needs to be addressed in the future. In contrast, expression of CD59 was significantly increased in drug-treated cells at the same time interval. CD59 has a biomarker value in tumors. High expression of CD59 was associated with decreased overall survival and progression-free survival in patients with diffuse large B cell lymphoma and adenocarcinomas of the prostate (Xu *et al.*, 2005; Song *et al.*, 2014). Patients with various refractory B-cell malignancies expressed significantly elevated levels of CD59 (Golay *et al.*, 2000; Treon *et al.*, 2001). In a follicular cell lymphoma cell line, expression of CD55 was down-regulated in response to fludarabine (Di Gaetano *et al.*, 2001).

At 24h, fludarabine-treated Raji cells were significantly less sensitive to CDC, although both, drug-treated and untreated cells expressed comparable levels of mCRPs. At 48h, drug-treated Raji cells were less sensitive to CDC compared to untreated cells. This could be explained by both the induction of a higher expression level of CD59 and stronger fH binding to the drug-treated cells. Previous reports showed synergistic impact of both fludarabine and rituximab on follicular cell lymphoma cytotoxicity which was linked to down-regulation of CD55 expression by the two agents (Di Gaetano *et al.,* 2001). Certainly, additional complement regulation mechanisms might be involved in the observed effect of fludarabine on CDC and this deserves further investigation. Fludarabine-treated Raji cells for 48h were highly opsonised with iC3b which could enhance the susceptibility of these cells to CDCC and ADCC.

From our point of view, the variable effect of mCRP-neutralising Abs on CDC of the studied cancer cells may be accredited to the following: (1) different expression mCRP levels among different tumor cell types, (2) differences

between the used in vitro cell culture system and - more relevant – (3) the conditions in vivo of the tumor microenvironment regarding both the type and the concentration of the released cytokines. Previous studies have shown that an inflammatory environment induces over-expression of mCRPs due to secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Andoh *et al.,* 1996; Nasu *et al.,* 1998; Fang *et al.,* 2011).

Moreover, the sublytic insertion of MACs into the tumor cell membrane is associated with the activation of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway, as seen by the inhibition of apoptosis in oligodendrocytes, and contribution to poor therapeutic responses (Song *et al.*, 2014). This highlights a potential involvement of this signaling pathway in the here whitnessed cells response to C5b-9.

4.5. Influence of different anti-cancer drugs on the secretion of soluble complement inhibitors by different cancer cell lines

Soluble complement regulatory proteins like C1-Inh, fI and fH are produced by many cancer cells and considered to contribute to complement regulation in the tumor microenvironment (Ziegler *et al.*, 2001). Secretion of C1-Inh and fI by the parental ovarian carcinoma cell line (OAW42) and taxol-resistant variant (OAW42-Tax) of these cells has been previously reported by our group (Odening *et al.*, 2009). Interfering with these soluble inhibitors conferred more susceptibility of ovarian carcinoma cells to CDC even at higher expression levels of the mCRPs (Unnikkala *et al.*, 2000).

In the current work secretion of soluble complement regulatory proteins (C1-Inh, fl and fH) into cell culture medium could not be detected by ELISA. Obviously, concentrations of these regulatory proteins were below the detection limit of our test system. We also cannot rule out that the selected cancer cells are inable to secrete any of these regulatory proteins under our experimental conditions. Since the major aspect of this study was to investigate the possible impact of anti-cancer drugs on tumor cell killing and/or opsonisation we did not put more efforts to this experimental line.

In conclusion, our results not only support previous findings but add more informations regarding the possible role of anti-cancer drugs to modulate the susceptibility of cancer cells to complement-mediated cytotoxicity. Although to a different extent, the drug-induced modulation of mCRP expression as well as higher fH binding levels in general augmented the resistance of cancer cells to CDC. However, this may be counter- balanced by a better opsonisation of drugtreated cells with the opsonine iC3b which may potentially augment the destruction of the tumor by CDCC and ADCC.

4.6. Future outlook

To better estimate the influence of the applied anti-cancer drugs on the opsonisation of cancer cells with iC3b, further work is needed. This includes to analyse in more detail the possible role of immune effector cells like macrophages, NK-cells and neutrophils in the eradication of iC3b- opsonised tumor cells by CDCC and ADCC through their interaction with the complement receptor 3 (CR3, CD11b/CD18).

Further investigations are also needed to increase our understanding about the molecular mechanisms behind a stronger fH binding to drug-treated cancer cells and its impact on tumor cell opsonisation and CDC. Interfering with fH binding to drug-treated cells may be a strategy to increase eradication of solid tumor cells by CDC. This, however, requires a deeper knowledge on the relative potency of an improved CDC versus a stronger CDCC/ADCC upon successful opsonisation with iC3b.

Finally, both fH and iC3b fragments may be considerd as targets for CD8 positive T cells through bi-specific antibodies to provide effective cancer cell killing. This requires further evaluation in appropriate animal models bearing human cancer xenografts.

Summary

Although widely used in cancer therapy, chemotherapeutic drugs and anticancer antibodies are still unable to provide a desirable cure for all cancer patients. A major obstacle is the development of resistance mechanisms against chemotherapeutic drugs and immuotherapy. Most tumors are resistant to complement-mediated cytotoxicity (CDC), primarily due to over-expression of the membrane-associated regulatory proteins (mCRP) CD46, CD55 and CD59. This complement resistance has been shown to be modified (mostly augmented) not only by inflammatory cytokines and even sublytic complement and perforin, but also by various chemotherapeutic drugs in-vitro upon longterm treatment.

The present work aimed at analyzing the possible <u>short-term</u> impact of selected chemotherapeutic drugs on tumor cell lysis by CDC and/or opsonisation as well as the potential involvement of complement regulatory proteins.

A semi-kinetic approach was carried out in this study by choosing two different intervals (24h, 48h), applying different concentrations of the chemotherapeutic drugs doxorubicin, taxol, fludarabin and bortezomib on cancer cell lines of various histological origin (breast: BT474; SKBR-3; Lymphoma: Raji). Expression of mCRP, cancer cells opsonisation with iC3b and binding of the soluble complement regulator factor H to cancer cells were assessed by cytofluorometric analysis, cytotoxicity by ⁵¹Cr-release assay and secretion of soluble inhibitors by ELISA.

The results indicate a close association between the modified expression of the mCRP and response of cancer cells to CDC. The strongest influence on expression was on CD55 and CD59. I could show for the first time that bortezimib inhibits mCRP expression on breast cancer cell lines leading to increased sensitivity to CDC. Although expression of membrane complement regulators was not enhanced in Raji cells upon treatment with bortezomib, a reduced sensitivity to CDC was still observed. Soluble complement inhibitors, such as C1-inhibitor, fH and fI potentially contributing to resistance of cancer cells to complement, were not detectable. However, I could demonstrate that drug-treated cells often efficiently bound higher levels of fH, in part in a dose dependency manner, another possible protective mechanism against complement attack.

To improve the synergistic effect of the combined treatment regimens, I tried to abolish drug-induced complement resistance by blocking membrane regulators using specific neutralising antibodies. Neutralisation of the mCRP partially enhanced sensitivity of doxorubicin-treated BT474 cells to CDC but not of taxol-treated cells. In SKBR-3 cells treated with taxol for 48h, mCRP neutralisation could enhance their sensitivity to CDC, but was only partially able to improve sensitivity of bortezomib-treated and fludarabine-treated Raji cells to complement-mediated lysis. Interestingly, drug-treated cancer cells were often more efficiently opsonised with iC3b than untreated cells.

In conclusion, the here presented data demonstrate that even upon shortterm exposure cancer cells develop an increased resistance to CDC. However, a more efficient opsonisation with iC3b could enhance their elimination through an augmented complement-mediated cellular cytotoxicity (CDCC) and antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC).

Zusammenfassung

Trotz des zunehmenden Einsatzes von Chemotherapeutika, aber auch von therapeutischen Antikörpern ist eine Heilung von Tumorpatienten auch heute noch oftmals nicht möglich. Ein großes Hindernis stellt dabei die Resistenzentwicklung gegenüber Chemotherapeutika, aber auch gegenüber immuntherapeutischen Ansätzen dar. Die meisten Tumoren sind unempfindlich gegenüber einem Komplement-vermittelten cytotoxischen Angriff, was im Wesentlichen auf die Überexpression der Komplement-Membranregulatoren (mCRP) CD46, CD55 und CD59 zurückzuführen ist. Nicht nur inflammatorische Zytokine und selbst sub-lytisches Komplement und Perforin verändern (meist verstärken) diese Komplementresistenz, sondern auch verschiedene chemotherapeutische Medikamente in vitro nach Langzeitbehandlung der Tumorzellen.

Ziel der hier dargestellten Dissertation war es, den Einfluss einer Kurzzeitbehandlung ausgewählter Chemotherapeutika auf die Antiköperinduzierte, Komplement-vermittelte Opsonisierung und cytotoxische Zerstörung von Krebszellen zu untersuchen. In einem semikinetischen Ansatz mit 2 Inkubationszeiten (24 und 48 Stunden) wurden Zellen von Tumorzelllinien verschiedenen histologischen Ursprungs (Brusttumoren: BT474; SKBR-3; Lymphom: Raji) mit unterschiedlichen Konzentrationen der Chemotherapeutika Doxorubicin, Taxol, Fludarabin und Bortezomib behandelt.

Die Expression der mCRP, die Opsonisierung mit iC3b sowie die Bindung des Regulators Faktor H (fH) wurden mittels cytofluorometrischer Analyse, die zytotoxische Zerstörung mittels ⁵¹Chrom- Freisetzungstest und die löslichen Komplementregulatoren (C1-Inhibitor, Faktor H und Faktor I) mittels ELISA quantifiziert.

Die Ergebnisse zeigen einen deutlichen Einfluss der mCRP-Expression auf die Empfindlichkeit der Tumorzellen gegenüber dem zytolytischen Komplement-Angriff. Die stärkste Wirkung übten die Chemotherapeutika auf die Regulatoren CD55 und CD59 aus. Ich konnte erstmalig zeigen, dass Bortezomib die Expression der Membranregulatoren auf Brusttumorzellen hemmt und dies zu einer erhöhten Sensitivität gegenüber der Komplementvermittelten Zytotoxizität führt. Diese erhöhte Empfindlichkeit gegenüber Bortezomib wurde auch bei Raji-Zellen beobachtet, obwohl dies nicht mit einer verminderten Expression der mCRP einherging. Eine Freisetzung der löslichen Regulatoren C1-Inhibitor, Faktor H und Faktor I aus unseren Tumorzellen konnte nicht nachgewiesen werden. Es gelang jedoch der Nachweis, dass, abhängig von der Dosis, Chemotherapeutika-behandelte Krebszellen Faktor H binden und damit eine mögliche weitere Steigerung der Komplementresistenz dieser Tumoren erreicht wird.

Um den synergistischen Effekt der Chemo- und Immuntherapie zu verbessern, versuchten wir die unter Einfluss der Chemotherpeutika hochexpremierten mCRP durch spezifische neutralisierende Antikörper zu blockieren. Diese Blockade führte zum Teil zu einer besseren zytotoxischen Zerstörung der mit Doxorubicin, jedoch nicht von mit Taxol behandelten BT474 Zellen. Bei den über 48 Stunden mit Taxol vorbehandelten SKBR-3 Zellen führte die Regulatorblockade zu einer erhöhten Empfänglichkeit gegenüber einem zytotoxischen Komplementangriff, was bei Bortezomib- und Fludarabin-behandelten Lymphomzellen jedoch nur teilweise gelang.

Interessanterweise wurden alle Chemotherapeutka-behandelten Tumorzellen, zum Teil dosisabhängig, besser durch Ablagerung von iC3b opsonisiert.

Zusammengefasst zeigen die hier präsentierten Daten zwar eine erhöhte Resistenz der Chemotherapeutik-behandete Tumorzellen gegenüber der Komplement-vermittelten Lyse auch nach Kurzzeitexposition, jedoch auch eine verstärkte Opsonisierung, was zu einer verbesserten Tumorzell-Elimination mittels Komplement-abhängiger zellulärer Zytotoxizität (CDCC) und Antikörperabhängigen zellulären Zytotoxizität (ADCC) beitragen könnte.

Chapter 5- Bibliography

- Ajona D, Castaño Z, Garayoa M, Zudaire E, Pajares MJ, Martinez A, Cuttitta F, Montuenga LM, Pio R. (2004) Expression of complement factor H by lung cancer cells: effects on the activation of the alternative pathway of complement. Cancer Res, 64(17):6310-8.
- Ajona D, Hsu, YF, Corrales L, Montuenga LM, and Pio R. (2007) Downregulation of human complement factor H sensitizes non-small cell lung cancer cells to complement attack and reduces in vivo tumor growth. J Immunol, 178:5991-98.
- Andoh A, Fujiyama Y, Sumiyoshi K, Sakumoto H, Bamba T. (1996) Interleukin 4 acts as an inducer of decay-accelerating factor gene expression in human intestinal epithelial cells. Gastroenterology,111:911–8.
- Armitage JO, Weisenburger DD. (1998) New approach to classifying non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: clinical features of the major histologic subtypes. Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Classification Project. J Clin Oncol, 16:2780– 95.
- Aung T, Chapuy B, Vogel D, Wenzel D, Oppermann M, Lahmann M, Weinhage T, Menck K, Hupfeld T, Koch R, Trümper L, Wulfet GG. (2011) Exosomal evasion of humoral immunotherapy in aggressive B-cell lymphoma modulated by ATP-binding cassette transporter A3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 108:5336–15341.
- Barok M, Isola J, Palyi-Krekk, Z, Nagy P, Juhász I, Vereb, G, Kauraniemi P, Kapanen A, Tanner M, Vereb G, Szöllösi J. (2007) Trastuzumab causes antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity-mediated growth inhibition of submacroscopic JIMT-1 breast cancer xenografts despite intrinsic drug resistance. Mol Cancer Ther, 6:2065–72.
- Beers SA, Chan CH, French RR, Cragg MS, Glennie MJ. (2010) CD20 as a target for therapeutic type I and II monoclonal antibodies. Semin Hematol, 47:107-14.
- Beers SA, Cragg MS, Glennie MJ. (2009) Complement: help or hindrance? Blood, 114:5567-8, author reply 5568.
- Behzad M, Ali M, Sadaf D, Solmaz Sh, Behzad B. (2017) The Different Mechanisms of Cancer Drug Resistance: A Brief Review. Adv Pharm Bull, 7(3):339–48.
- Bhutani D, Vaishampayan UN. (2013) Monoclonal antibodies in oncology therapeutics: present and future indications. Expert Opin Biol Ther, 13(2):269-82.

- Bil J, Winiarska M, Nowis D, Bojarczuk K, Dabrowska-Iwanicka, A, Basak GW, Sułek K, Jakobisiak M, Golab J. (2010) Bortezomib modulates surface CD20 in B-cell malignancies and affects rituximab-mediated complement-dependent cytotoxicity. Blood, 115:3745–55.
- Bjørge L, Matre R. (1995) Down-regulation of CD59 (protectin) expression on human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell lines by levamisole. Scand J Immunol, 42:512–6.
- Bjørge L, Hakulinen J, Wahlström T, Matre R, Meri S. (1997) Complementregulatory proteins in ovarian malignancies. Int J Cancer; Jan 6;70(1):14-25.
- Bjorge L, Stoiber, H, Dierich MP, Meri S. (2006) Minimal residual disease in ovarian cancer as a target for complement-mediated mAb immunotherapy. Scand J Immunol, 63:355–64.
- Bomstein, Y, Fishelson Z. (1997) Enhanced sensitivity of P-glycoproteinpositive multidrug resistant tumor cells to complement-mediated lysis. Eur J Immunol, 27:2204-11.
- Bushey RT, Moody MA, Nicely NL, Haynes BF, Alam SM, Keir ST, Bentley RC, Roy Choudhury K, Gottlin EB, Campa MJ, Liao HX, Patz EF Jr A. (2016) Therapeutic Antibody for Cancer Derived from Single Human B Cells. Cell Rep., 15(7):1505–13.
- Cardoso F, Durbecq V, Laes JF, Badran B, Lagneaux L, Bex F, Desmedt C, Willard-Gallo K, Ross JS, Burny A, Piccart M, Sotiriou C. (2006) Bortezomib (PS-341, Velcade) Increases the Efficacy of Trastuzumab (Herceptin) in HER-2-positive Breast Cancer Cells in a Synergistic Manner. Mol Cancer Ther, 5(12):3042-51.
- Carney DF, Koski CL, Shin ML. (1985) Elimination of terminal complement intermediates from the plasma membrane of nucleated cells: the rate of disappearance differs for cells carrying C5b-7 or C5b-8 or a mixture of C5b-8 with a limited number of C5b-9. J Immunol, 134:1804–9.
- Carter P, Presta L, Gorman CM, Ridgway JB, Henner D, Wong WL, Rowland AM, Kotts C, Carver ME, Shepard HM. (1992) Humanization of an antip185HER2 antibody for human cancer therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89:4285–9.
- Castells M, Thibault B, Delord JP, and Couderc B. (2012) Implication of tumor microenvironment in chemoresistance: tumor-associated stromal cells protect tumor cells from cell death. Int J. Mol Sci, 13:9545–71.
- Clegg LX, Reichman ME, Miller BA, Hankey BF, Singh GK, Lin YD, Goodman MT, Lynch CF, Schwartz SM, Chen VW, Bernstein L, Gomez SL, Graff JJ. Lin CC, Johnson NJ, Edwards BK. (2009) Impact of socioeconomic
status on cancer incidence and stage at diagnosis: selected findings from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results: National Longitudinal Mortality Study. Cancer Causes Control 20:417-35.

- Clynes RA, Towers TL, Presta LG, Ravetch JV. (2000) Inhibitory Fc receptors modulate in vivocytoxicity against tumor targets. Nat Med, 6:443–6.
- Cobleigh MA, Vogel CL, Tripathy D, Robert NJ, Scholl S, Fehrenbacher L, Wolter JM, Paton V, Shak S, Lieberman G, Slamon DJ. (1999) Multinational study of the efficacy and safety of humanized Anti-HER2 monoclonal antibody in women who have HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer that has progressed after chemotherapy for metastatic disease. J Clin Oncol, 17:2639–48.
- Coiffier B, Lepage E, Briere J, Herbrecht R, Tilly H, Bouabdallah R, Morel P, Van Den Neste E, Salles G, Gaulard P, Reyes F, Lederlin P, Gisselbrecht C. (2002) CHOP chemotherapy plus rituximab compared with CHOP alone in elderly patients with diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma. New Engl J Med, 346:235–42.
- Cole SP, Bhardwaj G, Gerlach JH, Mackie JE, Grant CE, Almquist KC, Stewart AJ, Kurz EU, Duncan AM, Deeley RG. (1992) Overexpression of a transporter gene in a multidrug-resistant human lung cancer cell line. Science, 258(5088):1650–4.
- Coral S, Fonsatti E, Sigalotti L, de Nardo C, Visintin A, Nardi, G, Colizzi F, Colombo MP, Romano G, Altomonte M, Maio M. (2000) Overexpression of protectin (CD59) down-modulates the susceptibility of human melanoma cells to homologous complement. J Cell Physiol, 185:317–23.
- Curado MP, Edwards B, Shin HR. (2007) Cancer Incidence in Five Continents. Vol. 9. Lyon, France: IARC Press, p.160.
- Davies A, Lachmann PJ. (1993) Membrane defence against complement lysis: the structure and biological properties of CD59. Immunol Res, 12:258– 75.
- De Bruijn MH, Van der Bliek AM, Biedler JL, Borst P. (1986) Differential amplification and disproportionate expression of five genes in three multidrug-resistant Chinese hamster lung cell lines. Mol Cell Biol, 6 (12):4717–22.
- Di Gaetano, N, Cittera E, Nota R, Vecchi A, Grieco V, Scanziani E, Botto M., Introna, M, Golay J. (2003) Complement activation determines the therapeutic activity of rituximab in vivo. J Immunol, 171(3):1581–7.
- Di Gaetano N, Xiao Y, Erba E, Bassan R, Rambaldi A, Golay J, Introna M. (2001) Synergism between fludarabine and rituximab revealed in a

follicular lymphoma cell line resistant to the cytotoxic activity of either drug alone. Br J Haematol, 114(4):800-9.

- Di Raimondo F, Palumbo GA, Romeo MA, Cacciola E, Milone G, Impera S, Giustolisi R, and Cacciola E. (1995). In vitro sensitivity of B-CLL cells to fludarabine and interferons. Leuk Lymphoma, 17: 449-453.
- Donin N, Jurianz K, Ziporen L, Schultz S, Kirschfink M, Fishelson Z, (2003) Complement resistance of human carcinoma cells depends on membrane regulatory proteins, protein kinases and sialic acid. Clin. Exp. Immunol, 131:254–63.
- Drebin, JA, Link, VC and Greene, MI. (1988) Monoclonal antibodies specific for the neu oncogene product directly mediate antitumor effects in vivo. Oncogene 2:387–94.
- Durrant LG, Chapman MA, Buckley DJ, Spendlove I, Robins RA, Armitage NC, (2003). Enhanced expression of the complement regulatory protein CD55 predicts a poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. Cancer Immunol. Immunother, 52: 638–42.
- Cancer Facts & Figures 2017. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2017.
- Fang C, Miwa T, Song WC. (2011) Decay-accelerating factor regulates T-cell immunity in the context of inflammation by influencing costimulatory molecule expression on antigen-presenting cells. Blood, 118:1008–14.
- Fearon DT and Austen KF. (1975a) Initiation of C3 cleavage in the alternative complement pathway. J. Immunol,115:1357-61.
- Fearon DT and Austen KF. (1975b) Properdin: binding to C3b and stabilization of the C3b-dependent C3 convertase. J Exp Med, 142:856.
- Fearon DT. (1978) Regulation by membrane sialic acid of beta1H-dependent decay-dissociation of amplification C3 convertase of the alternative complement pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 75(4):1971-5.
- Fedarko NS, Fohr B, Robey PG, Young MF, and Fisher LW. (2000) Factor H binding to bone sialoprotein and osteopontin enables tumor cell evasion of complement-mediated attack. J Biol Chem, 275:16666-72.
- Fendly BM, Winget M, Hudziak, RM, Lipari MT, Napier MA, Ullrich A. (1990) Characterization of murine monoclonal antibodies reactive to either the human epidermal growth factor receptor or HER2/neu gene product. Cancer Res, 50:1550–8.
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. (2015) Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer, 136: E359-386.

- Ferlay J, Autier P, Boniol M, Heanue M, Colombet M, Boyle P. (2007) Estimates of the cancer incidence and mortality in Europe in 2006. Ann Oncol, 18(3):581-92.
- Fishelson Z, Donin N, Zell S, Schultz S, Kirschfink M. (2003) Obstacles to cancer immunotherapy: Expressions of membrane complement regulatory proteins (mCRPs) in tumors. Mol Immunol, 40:109–23.
- Fishelson Z, Kirschfink M. (2019) Complement C5b-9 and Cancer: Mechanisms of Cell Damage, Cancer Counteractions, and Approaches for Intervention. Front Immunol, 10; 10:752.
- Fitzmaurice C, Dicker D, Pain A, Hamavid H, Moradi-Lakeh M, MacIntyre MF, Allen C, Hansen G, Woodbrook R, Wolfe C, Hamadeh RR, Moore A, Werdecker A., Gessner BD, Te Ao B, McMahon B, Karimkhani C, Yu C, Cooke GS, Schwebel DC, Carpenter DO, Pereira DM, Nash D, Kazi DS, De Leo D, Plass D, Ukwaja KN, Thurston GD, Yun Jin K, Simard EP, Mills E, Park EK, Catalá-López F, deVeber G, Gotay C, Khan G, Hosgood HD 3rd, Santos IS, Leasher JL, Singh J, Leigh J, Jonas JB, Sanabria J, Beardsley J, Jacobsen KH, Takahashi K, Franklin RC, Ronfani L, Montico M, Naldi L, Tonelli M, Geleijnse J, Petzold M, Shrime MG, Younis M, Yonemoto N, Breitborde N, Yip P, Pourmalek F, Lotufo PA, Esteghamati A, Hankey GJ, Ali R, Lunevicius R, Malekzadeh R, Dellavalle R, Weintraub R, Lucas R, Hay R, Rojas-Rueda, D, Westerman R, Sepanlou SG, Nolte S, Patten S, Weichenthal S, Abera SF, Fereshtehnejad SM, Shiue I, Driscoll T, Vasankari T, Alsharif U, Rahimi-Movaghar V, Vlassov VV, Marcenes WS, Mekonnen W, Melaku YA, Yano Y, Artaman A, Campos I, MacLachlan J, Mueller U, Kim D, Trillini M, Eshrati B, Williams HC, Shibuya K, Dandona R, Murthy K, Cowie B, Amare AT, Antonio CA, Castañeda-Orjuela C, van Gool CH, Violante F, Oh IH, Deribe K, Soreide K, Knibbs L, Kereselidze M, Green M, Cardenas R, Roy N, Tillmann T, Li Y, Krueger H, Monasta L, Dey S, Sheikhbahaei S, Hafezi-Nejad N, Kumar GA, Sreeramareddy, CT., Dandona, L., Wang, H., Vollset, SE., Mokdad, A., Salomon JA, Lozano R, Vos T, Forouzanfar M, Lopez A, Murray C, Naghavi M. (2015) The Global Burden of Cancer 2013. JAMA Oncol, 1:505-2.
- Fonsatti E, Altomonte M, Coral S, de Nardo C, Lamaj E, Sigalotti L, Natali PG, Maio M. (2000) Emerging role of protectin (CD59) in humoral immunotherapy of solid malignancies. Clin Ther,151:187–93.
- Frank MM. (1987) Complement in the pathophysiology of human disease. N Engl J Med, 316(24):1525–30.
- Gambacorti-Passerini C, Radrizzani M, Marolda R, Belli F, Sciorelli G, Galazka AR, Schindler JD, Cascinelli N, Parmiani G. (1988) In vivo activation of lymphocytes in melanoma patients receiving escalating doses of recombinant interleukin 2. Int J Cancer, 15;41(5):700-6.

- Gancz D and Fishelson Z. (2009) Cancer resistance to complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC): Problem-oriented research and development. Mol Immunol, 46:2794–800.
- Gasque P, Julen N, Ischenko AM, Picot C, Mauger C, Chauzy C, Ripoche J, and Fontaine M. (1992) Expression of complement components of the alternative pathway by glioma cell lines. J Immunol, 149, 1381-7.
- Geis N, Zell S, Rutz R, Li W, Giese T, Mamidi S, Schultz S, Kirschfink M. (2010)
 Inhibition of membrane complement inhibitor expression (CD46, CD55, CD59) by siRNA sensitizes tumor cells to complement attack in vitro. Curr Cancer Drug Targets, 10:922-31
- Gelderman KA, Blok VT, Fleuren GJ, Gorter A. (2002) The inhibitory effect of CD46, CD55, and CD59 on complement activation after immunotherapeutic treatment of cervical carcinoma cells with monoclonal antibodies or bispecific monoclonal antibodies. Lab Invest, 82:483–93.
- Gelderman KA, Tomlinson S, Ross GD, Gorter A. (2004) Complement function in mAb-mediated cancer immunotherapy. Trends Immunol, 25(3):158-64.
- Geller A, Yan J. (2019) The Role of Membrane Bound Complement Regulatory Proteins in Tumor Development and Cancer Immunotherapy. Front Immunol, May 21;10:1074.
- Gillet JP, Gottesman MM. (2010) Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in cancer. Methods Mol Biol 596:47–76.
- Giona F, Testi AM, Annino L, Amadori S, Arcese W, Camera A, Montezemolo LC D, Ladogana S, Liso V, Meloni G, Moleti ML, Rondelli R, Zanesco L, Pession A, Mandelli F. (1994) Treatment of primary refractory and relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukaemia inchildren and adults: the GIMEMA/AIEOP experience. Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche Malignedell' Adulto. Associazione Italiana Ematologiaed Ocologia Pediatrica. Br J Haematol, 86, 55–61.
- Gluz O, Liedtke C, Gottschalk N, Pusztai L, Nitz U, Harbeck N. (2009) Triplenegative breast cancer-current status and future directions. Ann Oncol, 20:1913–1927.
- Golay J, Zaffaroni L, Vaccari T, Lazzari M, Borleri GM, Bernasconi S, Tedesco F, Rambaldi A, and Introna M. (2000) Biologic response of B lymphoma cells to anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab in vitro: CD55 and CD59 regulate complement-mediated cell lysis. Blood, 95:3900-8.
- Golay J, Lazzari M, Facchinetti V, Bernasconi S, Borleri G, Barbui T, Rambaldi A, Introna M. (2001) CD20 levels determine the in vitro susceptibility to

rituximab and complement of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: further regulation by CD55 and CD59. Blood, 98:3383–89.

- Goldenberg MM. (1999) Trastuzumab, a recombinant DNA-derived humanized monoclonal antibody, a novel agent for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. Clin Ther, 21(2):309–18.
- Gorter A, Blok VT, Haasnoot WH, Ensink NG, Daha MR, Fleuren GJ. (1996) Expression of CD46, CD55, and CD59 on renal tumour cell lines and their role in preventing complement-mediated tumour cell lysis. Lab Invest, 74:1039–49.
- Gottesman MM. (1993) How cancer cells evade chemotherapy: sixteenth Richard and Hinda Rosenthal Foundation Award Lecture. Cancer Res, 53(4):747–54.
- Gros P, Raymond M, Bell J, Housman D. (1988) Cloning and characterization of a second member of the mouse mdr gene family. Mol Cell Biol, 8(7):2770–8.
- Guo Y, Kotova E, Chen ZS, Lee K, Hopper-Borge E, Belinsky MG, Kruh GD. (2003) MRP8, ATP-binding cassette C11 (ABCC11), is a cyclic nucleotide efflux pump and a resistance factor for fluoropyrimidines 2',3'dideoxycytidine and 9'-(2'-phosphonylmethoxyethyl) adenine. J Biol Chem, 278(32):29509–14.
- Hainsworth JD, Litchy S, Barton JH, Houston GA, Hermann RC, Bradof JE, Greco FA. (2003) Single-agent rituximab as first-line and maintenance treatment for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia or small lymphocytic lymphoma: a phase II trial of the Minnie Pearl Cancer Research Network. J Clin Oncol, 21:1746–1751.
- Harjunpaa A, Junnikkala S, Meri S. (2000) Rituximab (anti-CD20) therapy of Bcell lymphomas: direct complement killing is superior to cellular effector mechanisms. Scand J Immunol, 51:634–64.
- Hayashi K, Nagasaki E, Kan S, Ito M, Kamata Y, Homma S, Aiba K. (2016) Gemcitabine enhances rituximab-mediated complement dependent cytotoxicity to B cell lymphoma by CD20 upregulation. Cancer Sci, 107(5):682-9.
- Herceg Z, Hainaut P. (2007) Genetic and epigenetic alterations as biomarkers for cancer detection, diagnosis and prognosis. Mol Oncol,1(1):26-41.
- Hiddemann W, Kneba M, Dreyling M, Schmitz N, Lengfelder E, Schmits R, Reiser M, Metzner B, Harder H, Hegewisch-Becker S, Fischer T, Kropff M, Reis HE, Freund M, Wörmann B, Fuchs R, Planker M, Schimke

J, Eimermacher H, Trümper L, Aldaoud A, Parwaresch R, Unterhalt M. (2005) Frontline therapy with rituximab added to the combination of cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone (CHOP) significantly improves the outcome for patients with advanced-stage follicular lymphoma compared with therapy with CHOP alone: results of a prospective randomized study of the German Low-Grade Lymphoma Study Group. Blood,106:3725–32.

- Hofmeister V, Vetter C, Schrama D, Bröcker EB, Becker JC. (2006) Tumor stroma-associated antigens for anti-cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 55:481–94.
- Holers VM. (2014) Complement and its receptors: new insights into human disease. Annu Rev Immunol, 32:433-59.
- Horl S, Banki Z, Huber G, Ejaz A, Windisch D, Muellauer B, Willenbacher E, Steurer M, Stoiber H. (2013) Reduction of complement factor H binding to CLL cells improves the induction of rituximab-mediated complement-dependent cytotoxicity. Leukemia, 27(11):2200–8.
- Hosch SB, Scheunemann P, Lüth M, Inndorf S, Stoecklein NH, Erbersdobler A, Rehders A, Gundlach M, Knoefel WT, Izbicki JR. (2001) Expression of 17-1A antigen and complement resistance factors CD55 and CD59 on liver metastasis in colorectal cancer. J Gastrointest Surg, 5:673–9.
- Hu W, Ge X, You T, Xu T, Zhang J, Wu G, Peng Z, Chorev M, Aktas BH, Halperin JA, Brown JR, Qin X. (2011) Human CD59 inhibitor sensitizes rituximab-resistant lymphoma cells to complement-mediated cytolysis. Cancer Res, 71(6):2298–307.
- Hu Z, Fan C, Oh DS, Marron JS, He X, Qaqish BF, Livasy, C, Carey LA, Reynolds E, Dressler L, Nobel A, Parker J, Ewend MG, Sawyer LR, Wu J, Liu Y, Nanda R, Tretiakova M, Ruiz Orrico A, Dreher D, Palazzo JP., Perreard, L., Nelson, E, Mone M, Hansen H, Mullins M, Quackenbush JF, Ellis MJ, Olopade OI, Bernard PS, Perou CM. (2006) The molecular portraits of breast tumors are conserved across microarray platforms. BMC Genomics, 27; 7:96.
- Hudis CA. (2007) Trastuzumab mechanism of action and use in clinical practice. New Engl J Med, 357:39–51.
- Hurvitz SA, Hu Y, O'Brien N, Finn RS. (2013) Current approaches and future directions in the treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer. Cancer treatment reviews, 39:219-29.

- Ikeda J, Morii E, Liu Y, Qiu Y, Nakamichi N, Jokoji R, Miyoshi Y, Noguchi S, Aozasa K. (2008) Prognostic significance of CD55 expression in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 14:4780–6.
- Inamura. (2017) Lung Cancer: Understanding Its Molecular Pathology and the 2015 WHO Classification. Front Oncol, 7:193.
- Inic Z, Zegarac M, Inic M, Markovic I, Kozomara Z, Djurisic I, Inic I, Pupic G, Jancic S. (2014) Difference between Luminal A and Luminal B Subtypes According to Ki-67, Tumor Size, and Progesterone Receptor Negativity Providing Prognostic Information. Clin. Med. Insights Oncol, 8:107–11.
- Introna M, Golay J. (2009) Complement in antibody therapy: friend or foe? Blood, 114:5247-8.
- Jack DL, Klein N., Turner MW. (2001) Mannose-binding lectin: targeting the microbial world for complement attack and opsonophagocytosis. Immunol Rev, 180:86–99.
- Jain P, O'Brien S. (2013) Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Expert opinion on biological therapy, 13:169-82.
- Janeway CA Jr, Travers P, Walport M, et al. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. 5th edition. New York: Garland Science; 2001. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK10757/
- Jarvis GA, Li J, Hakulinen J, Brady KA, Nordling S, Dahiya R, Meri S. (1997) Expression and function of the complement membrane attack complex inhibitor protectin (CD59) in human prostate cancer. Int J Cancer, 71:1049–55.
- Jiang HX, Wagner E, Zhang H, Frank MM. (2001) Complement 1 inhibitor is a regulator of the alternative complement pathway. J Exp Med, 194:1609–1616.
- Jozsi M, Manuelian T, Heinen S, Oppermann M, and Zipfel, P F. (2004) Attachment of the soluble complement regulator factor H to cell and tissue surfaces: relevance for pathology. Histol Histopathol, 19: 251-8.
- Juhl H, Melmig F, Baltzer K, Kalthoff H, Hennebruns D, Kremer B. (1997) Frequent expression of complement resistance factors CD46, CD55, and CD59 on gastrointestinal cancer cells limits the therapeutic potential of monoclonal antibody 17-1A. J Surg Oncol, 64:222–30.
- Junnikkala S, Hakulinen J, Jarva H, Manuelian T, Bjorge L, Butzow R, Zipfel PF, and Meri S. (2002) Secretion of soluble complement inhibitors factor H and factor H-like protein (FHL-1) by ovarian tumour cells. Br J Cancer, 87:1119-27.

- Junnikkala S, Jokiranta TS, Friese MA, Jarva H, Zipfel PF, and Meri S. (2000) Exceptional resistance of human H2 glioblastoma cells to complementmediated killing by expression and utilization of factor H and factor H-like protein 1. J Immunol, 164:6075-81.
- Jurianz K, Ziegler S, Garcia-Schuler H, Kraus S, Bohana-Kashtan O, Fishelson Z, Kirschfink M. (1999) Complement resistance of tumor cells: basal and induced mechanisms. Mol Immunol, 36: 929–39.
- Jurianz K, Ziegler S, Donin N, Reiter Y, Fishelson Z, Kirschfink M (2001) K562 erythroleukemic cells are equipped with multiple mechanisms of resistance to lysis by complement. Int J Cancer, 93:848–54.
- Kishi S, Ueda T. (2014) Chemotherapy. Nihon Rinsho, 72(3):462-7.
- Kopp A, Hebecker M, Svobodova E, and Jozsi M. (2012) Factor H: a complement regulator in health and disease, and a mediator of cellular interactions. Biomolecules, 2:46-75.
- Koretz K, Brüderlein S, Henne C, Möller P. (1992) Decay-accelerating factor (DAF, CD55) in normal colorectal mucosa, adenomas and carcinomas. Br J Cancer, 66:810–4.
- Kraus S, Fishelson Z. (2000) Cell desensitization by sublytic C5b-9 complexes and calcium ionophores depends on activation of protein kinase C. Eur J Immunol, 30:1272–80.
- Kraus S, Seger R, Fishelson Z. (2001) Involvement of the ERK mitogenactivated protein kinase in cell resistance to complement-mediated lysis. Clin Exp Immunol, 123:366–74.
- Kuraya M, Yefenof E, Klein G, Klein E (1992) Expression of the complement regulatory proteins CD21, CD55 and CD59 on Burkitt lymphoma lines: their role in sensitivity to human serum-mediated lysis. Eur J Immunol, 22:1871–6.
- Lewis AD, Forrester LM, Hayes JD, Wareing CJ, Carmichael J, Harris AL, Mooghen M, Wolf CR. (1989) Glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes in human tumours and tumour derived cell lines. Br J Cancer, 60(3):327– 31.
- Liebmann, J. E., Cook, J. A., Lipschultz, C., Teague, D., Fisher, J., and Mitchell, J. B. (1993). Cytotoxic studies of paclitaxel (Taxol) in human tumour cell lines. Br J Cancer, 68:1104-1109.
- Li L, Spendlove I, Morgan J, Durrant LG. (2001) CD55 is over-expressed in the tumour environment. Br J Cancer, 84:80–6.

- Lina Reslan, Stéphane Dalle, Charles Dumontet. (2009) Understanding and circumventing resistance to anticancer monoclonal antibodies MAbs, 1(3):222–229.
- Lippert TH, Ruoff HJ, Volm M. (2011) Current status of methods to assess cancer drug resistance. Int J Med Sci, 8:245–53.
- Liszewski MK, Farries TC, Lublin DM, Rooney IA, Atkinson JP. (1996) Control of the complement system. Adv Immunol, 61:201-83
- Liu YC, Chen L, Peng SY, Hoang-Vu C. (2005) Role of CD97 (stalk) and CD55 as molecular markers for prognosis and therapy of gastric carcinoma patients. J Zhejiang Univ Sci, 6:913–18.
- Liu M, Yang YJ, Zheng H, Zhong XR, Wang Y, Wang Z, Wang YG, Wang YP. (2014) Membrane-bound complement regulatory proteins are prognostic factors of operable breast cancer treated with adjuvant trastuzumab: a retrospective study. Oncol Rep, 32(6):2619-27.
- Loberg RD, Day LL, Dunn R, Kalikin LM, Pienta KJ. (2006) Inhibition of decayaccelerating factor (CD55) attenuates prostate cancer growth and survival in vivo. Neoplasia, 8:69–78.
- Longley DB, Johnston PG.(2005) Molecular mechanisms of drug resistance.J Pathol, 205 (2):275-92.
- Luqmani YA. (2005) Mechanisms of drug resistance in cancer chemotherapy. Med Princ Pract14 Suppl, 1:35-48.
- MacConaill LE, Garraway LA. (2010) Clinical implications of the cancer genome. J Clin Oncol, 28(35):5219–28.
- Maciejczyk A, Szelachowska J, Szynglarewicz B, Szulc R, Szulc A, Wysocka T, Jagoda E, Lage H, Surowiak P. (2011) CD46 Expression is an unfavorable prognostic factor in breast cancer cases. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol,19:540–6.
- Macor P, Piovan E, Zorzet S, Tripodo C, Marzari R, Amadori A, Tedesco F. (2007a) In vivo targeting of human neutralizing antibodies against CD55 and CD59 to lymphoma cells increases the antitumor activity of rituximab. Cancer Res, 67(21):10556-63.
- Macor P and Tedesco F. (2007b) Complement as effector system in cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Lett, 111:6–13.
- Maio M, Brasoveanu LI, Coral S, Sigalotti L, Lamaj E, Gasparollo A, Visintin A, Altomonte M, Fonsatti E. (1998) Structure, distribution, and functional role of protectin (CD59) in complement-susceptibility and in immunotherapy of human malignancies. Int J Oncol, 13:305–18.

- Mamidi S, Cinci M, Hasmann M, Fehring V, Kirschfink M. (2013) Lipoplex mediated silencing of membrane regulators (CD46, CD55 and CD59) enhances complement-dependent antitumor activity of trastuzumab and pertuzumab. Mol Oncol, 7:580–94.
- Mamidi S, Hone S, Teufel C, Sellner L, Zenz T, Kirschfink M. (2015) Neutralization of membrane complement regulators improves complement-dependent effector functions of therapeutic anticancer antibodies targeting leukemic cells. Oncoimmunology, 4(3): e979688.
- Mansoori B, Mohammadi A, Davudian S, Shirjang S, Baradaran B. (2017) The Different Mechanisms of Cancer Drug Resistance: A Brief Review. Adv Pharm Bull, Sep;7(3):339-348.
- Markasz L, Stuber G, Vanherberghen B, Flaberg E, Olah E, Carbone E, Eksborg S, Klein E, Skribek H, Szekely L. (2007) Effect of frequently used chemotherapeutic drugs on the cytotoxic activity of human natural killer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics, 6: 644-54.
- Markiewski MM DR, Benencia F, Ricklin-Lichtsteiner SK, Koutoulaki A, Gerard C, Coukos G, Lambris JD. (2008) Modulation of the antitumor immune response by complement. Nat Immunol, 9(11):1225-35
- Matthews KW, Mueller-Ortiz SL, Wetsel RA. (2004) Carboxypeptidase N: a pleiotropic regulator of inflammation. Mol Immunol, 40(11):785–93.
- McLaughlin P, Grillo-Lopez AJ, Link BK, Levy R, Czuczman MS, Williams ME, Heyman MR, Bence-Bruckler I, White, CA, Cabanillas F, Jain V, Ho AD, Lister J, Wey K, Shen D, Dallaire BK. (1998) Rituximab chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy for relapsed indolent lymphoma: half of patients respond to a four-dose treatment program. J Clin Oncol, 16(8):2825–33.
- Meads MB, Gatenby RA, Dalton WS. (2009) Environment mediated drug resistance: amajor contributor to minimal residual disease. Nat Rev Cancer, 9: 665–674.
- Meri S, Morgan BP, Davies A, Daniels RH, Olavesen MG, Waldmann H, Lachmann PJ. (1990) Human protectin (CD59), an 18,000–20,000 MW complement lysis restricting factor, inhibits C5b-8 catalysed insertion of C9 into lipid bilayers. Immunology, 71:1–9.
- Mineo JF, Bordron A, Quintin-Roue I, Loisel S, Ster KL, Buhé V, Lagarde N, Berthou C. (2004) Recombinant humanised anti-HER2/neu antibody (Herceptin) induces cellular death of glioblastomas. Br J Cancer, 91:1195–9.
- Michlmayr A, Bachleitner-Hofmann T, Baumann S, Marchetti-Deschmann M, Rech-Weichselbraun I, Burghuber C, Pluschnig U, Bartsch R, Graf A, Greil R, Allmaier G, Steger G, Gnant M, Bergmann M, Oehler R. (2010)

Modulation of plasma complement by the initial dose of epirubicin/docetaxel therapy in breast cancer and its predictive value. Br J Cancer, 12;103(8):1201-8.

- Morgan BP, Meri S. (1994) Membrane proteins that protect against complement lysis. Springer Semin. Immunopathol, 15:369-396.
- Morgan BP, Dankert JR, Esser AF. (1987) Recovery of human neutrophils from complement attack: removal of the membrane attack complex by endocytosis and exocytosis. J Immunol, 138:246–53.
- Müller-Eberhard HJ. (1986) The membrane attack complex of complement. Annu Rev Immunol, 4:503-28.
- Nabholtz JM, Slamon D. (2001) New adjuvant strategies for breast cancer: Meeting the challenge of integrating chemotherapy and trastuzumab (herceptin) Semin Oncol, 28(1 Suppl 3):1–12.
- Nasu J, Mizuno M, Uesu T, Takeuchi K, Inaba T, Ohya S, Kawada M, Shimo K, Okada H, Fujita T, Tsuji T. (1998) Cytokine stimulated release of decay-accelerating factor (DAF; CD55) from HT-29 human intestinal epithelial cells. Clin Exp Immunol, 113:379–85.
- Ni Choileain S, Hay J, Thomas J, Williams A, Vermeren MM, Benezech C, Salazar M G, Hugues OR, Vermeren S, Howie SEM, Dransfield I, Astier AL. (2017) TCR-stimulated changes in cell surface CD46 expression generate type 1 regulatory T cells. Science Signal,10: eaah6163.
- Niehans GA, Cherwitz DL, Staley NA, Knapp DJ, Dalmasso AP (1996). Human carcinomas variably express the complement inhibitory proteins CD46 (membrane cofactor protein), CD55 (decay-accelerating factor), and CD59 (protectin). Am J Pathol, 149:129-42.
- Noris M, Remuzzi G. (2013) Overview of complement activation and regulation. Semin Nephrol, 33(6):479-92.
- Nuciforo P, Radosevic-Robin N, Ng T, Scaltriti M. (2015) Quantification of HER family receptors in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res,17:53.
- O'Connor D, Sibson K, Caswell M, Connor P, Cummins M, Mitchell C, Motwani J, Taj M, Vora A, Wynn R, Kearns PR. (2011) Early UK experience in the use of clofarabine in the treatment of relapsed and refractory paediatri acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol, 154:482–85.
- Odening KE, Li W, Rutz R, Laufs S, Fruehauf S, Fishelson Z, Kirschfink M. (2009) Enhanced complement resistance in drug-selected P-glycoprotein expressing multi-drug-resistant ovarian carcinoma cells. Clin Exp Immunol, 155:239-48.

- Ohanian SH, Schlager SI. (1981) Humoral immune killing of nucleated cells: mechanisms of complement-mediated attack and target cell defense. Crit Rev Immunol, 1:165–209.
- Pangburn MK, Morrison DC, Schreiber RD, Müller-Eberhard HJ. (1980) Activation of the alternative complement pathway: recognition of surface structures on activators by bound C3b. J Immunol, 124:977-82.
- Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. (2005) Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin, 55(2):74-108.
- Perlmann HP P, Schreiber RD, Müller-Eberhard HJ. (1981) Interaction of target cell-bound C3bi and C3d with human lymphocyte receptors. Enhancement of antibody-mediated cellular cytotoxicity. J Exp Med,153 (6):1592-603.
- Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, Van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, Pollack JR, Ross DT, Johnsen H, Akslen LA, Fluge O, Pergamenschikov A, Williams C, Zhu SX, Lønning PE, Børresen-Dale, AL, Brown PO, Botstein D. (2000) Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature, 406:747–52.
- Pilco-Ferreto, N., and Calaf, G. M. (2016). Influence of doxorubicin on apoptosis and oxidative stress in breast cancer cell lines. Int J Oncol, 49:753-762.
- Pilzer D, Gasser O, Moskovich O, Schifferli JA, Fishelson Z. (2005) Emission of membrane vesicles: Roles in complement resistance, immunity and cancer. Springer Semin Immunopathol, 27, 375–387.
- Pilzer D, Fishelson Z. (2005) Mortalin/GRP75 promotes release of membrane vesicles from immune attacked cells and protection from complement-mediated lysis. Int Immunol, 17, 1239–1248.
- Pinedo HM, Giaccone G. (1996) Drug Resistance in the Treatment of Cancer. Oncologist, 1996; 1(1 & 2):82-87.
- Prang N, Preithner S, Brischwein K, Göster P, Wöppel A, Müller J, Steiger C, Peters M, Baeuerle PA, Da Silva AJ. (2005) Cellular and complementdependent cytotoxicity of Ep-CAM-specific monoclonal antibody MT201 against breast cancer cell lines. Br J Cancer, 92:342–49.
- Razi S, Rafiemanesh H, Ghoncheh M, Khani Y, Salehiniya H. (2015) Changing Trends of Types of Skin Cancer in Iran. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 16: 4955-8.
- Reed JC. (1995) Regulation of apoptosis by bcl-2 family proteins and its role in cancer and chemoresistance. Curr Opin Oncol, 7(6):541–6.

- Reiter Y, Ciobotariu A, Fishelson Z. (1992) Sublytic complement attack protects tumor cells from lytic doses of antibody and complement. Eur J Immunol, 22:1207–13.
- Reiter Y, Ciobotariu A, Jones J, Morgan BP, Fishelson Z. (1995) Complement membrane attack complex, perforin, and bacterial exotoxins induce in K562 cells calcium-dependent cross-protection from lysis. J Immunol,155:2203–10.
- Reslan L, Dalle S, Dumontet C. (2009) Understanding and circumventing resistance to anticancer monoclonal antibodies. MAbs,1(3):222-9.
- Ricklin D, Hajishengallis G, Yang K, Lambris JD. (2010) Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat Immunol,11(9):785-97
- Robert J, Jarry C. (2003) Multidrug resistance reversal agents. J Med Chem, 46(23):4805–17.
- Rodriguez de Cordoba S, Esparza-Gordillo J, Goicoechea de Jorge E, Lopez-Trascasa M, and Sanchez-Corral, P. (2004) the human complement factor H: functional roles, genetic variations and disease associations. Mol Immunol, 41 355-67.
- Rodriguez-Abreu D, Bordoni A and Zucca E. (2007) Epidemiology of hematological malignancies. Ann Oncol, 18 (Suppl 1): i3–i8.
- Romond EH, Perez EA, Bryant J, Suman VJ, Geyer CE Jr, Davidson NE, Tan-Chiu E, Martino S, Paik S, Kaufman PA, Swain SM, Pisansky TM, Fehrenbacher L, Kutteh LA, Vogel VG, Visscher DW, Yothers G, Jenkins RB, Brown AM, Dakhil SR, Mamounas EP, Lingle WL, Klein PM, Ingle JN, Wolmark N. (2005) Trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 353:1673–84.
- Roninson IB, Chin JE, Choi KG, Gros P, Housman DE, Fojo A, Shen DW, Gottesman MM, Pastan I. (1986) Isolation of human mdr DNA sequences amplified in multidrug-resistant KB carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 83(12):4538–42.
- Safaei R, Larson BJ, Cheng TC, Gibson MA, Otani S, Naerdemann W, Howell SB. (2005) Abnormal lysosomal trafficking and enhanced exosomal export of cisplatin in drug-resistant human ovarian carcinoma cells. Mol. Cancer Ther, 4:1595–1604.
- Sant M, Allemani C, Tereanu C, De Angelis R, Capocaccia R, Visser O, Marcos-Gragera R, Maynadié M, Simonetti A, Lutz JM, Berrino F. (2010) Incidence of hematologic malignancies in Europe by morphologic subtype: results of the HAEMACARE project. Blood, 116(19):3724–34.

- Schliemann C, Neri D. (2007) Antibody-based targeting of the tumor vasculature. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1776:175–92.
- Schmidt CQ, Herbert AP, Hocking HG, Uhrin D, Barlow PN. (2008) Translational mini-review series on complement factor H: structural and functional correlations for factor H. Clin Exp Immunol, 151: 14-24.
- Scott AM, Wolchok JD, Old LJ. (2012) Antibody therapy of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 12:278–87.
- Sedlak J, McGown A, Hrubisko M, Hunakova L, Chorvath B. (1994) Drug resistance associated alterations of cell surface antigen expression in a human anthracycline-resistant ovarian carcinoma cell line. Neoplasma, 41:259–62.
- SEER training modules, cancer classification. (21. 07. 2018) US. NIH, National Cancer Institute. https://training.seer.cancer.gov/disease/categories/classification.html.
- Seitz G, Bonin M, Fuchs J, Poths S, Ruck P, Warmann SW, Armeanu-Ebinger S. (2010) Inhibition of glutathione-S-transferase as a treatment strategy for multidrug resistance in childhood rhabdomyosarcoma. Int J Oncol, 36(2):491–500.
- Seya T, Matsumoto M, Hara T, Hatanaka M, Masaoka T, Akedo H. (1994) Distribution of C3-step regulatory proteins of the complement system, CD35 (CR1), CD46 (MCP), and CD55 (DAF), in hematological malignancies. Lymphoma, 12:395-400.
- Shimizu R, Kikuchi J, Wada T, Ozawa K, Kano Y, Furukawa Y. (2010) HDAC inhibitors augment cytotoxic activity of rituximab by upregulating CD20 expression on lymphoma cells. Leukemia, 24:1760–8.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. (2017) Cancer statistics, 2017 CA Cancer J Clin 67:7-30.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. (2018) Cancer statistics 2018. CA Cancer J Clin, 68(1):7-30.
- Simpson KL, Jones A, Norman S, Holmes CH. (1997) Expression of the complement regulatory proteins decay accelerating factor (DAF, CD55), membrane cofactor protein (MCP, CD46) and CD59 in the normal human uterine cervix and in premalignant and malignant cervical disease. Am J Pathol, 151:1455–67.
- Slamon DJ, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S, Fuchs H, Paton V, Bajamonde A, Fleming T, Eiermann W, Wolter J, Pegram M, Baselga J, Norton L. (2001) Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. N Engl J Med, 344:783–92.

- Smith MR. (2003) Rituximab (monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody): mechanisms of action and resistance. Oncogene, 22:7359–68.
- Song G, Cho WC, Gu L, He B, Pan Y, Wang S. (2014) Increased CD59 protein expression is associated with the outcome of patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with R-CHOP. Med Oncol, 31:56.
- Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani RJ, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, Hastie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Thorsen T, Quist H, Matese JC, Brown PO, Botstein D, Lønning PE, Børresen-Dale AL. (2001) Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 98:10869–74.
- Sorlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J, Hastie T, Marron JS, Nobel A, Deng S, Johnsen H, Pesich R, Geisler S, Demeter J, Perou CM, Lønning PE, Brown PO, Børresen-Dale AL, Botstein D. (2003) Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA,100:8418–23.
- Spiridon CI, Guinn S, Vitetta ES. (2004) A comparison of the in vitro and in vivo activities of IgG and F (ab')2 fragments of a mixture of three monoclonal anti-Her-2 antibodies. Clin Cancer Res, 10:3542–51.
- Strober W. (2001) Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability.Curr Protoc Immunol, May; Appendix 3: Appendix 3B.
- Takei K, Yamazaki T, Sawada U, Ishizuka H, Aizawa, S. (2006) Analysis of changes in CD20, CD55, and CD59 expression on established rituximab-resistant B-lymphoma cell lines. Leuk Res, 30:625–31.
- Takeuchi K, Mizuno M, Uesu T, Nasu J, Kawada M, Hori S, Okada H, Endo Y, Fujita T, Tsuji T. (2001) Epidermal growth factor induces expression of decay-accelerating factor in human colonic cancer cells via the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway. J Lab Clin Med, 138:186–92.
- Taylor RP, Lindorfer MA. (2010) Antigenic modulation and rituximab resistance. Semin Hematol, 47:124–32.
- Tegla, CA, Cudrici, C, Patel, S, Trippe, R 3rd, Rus V, Niculescu F, Rus H. (2011) Membrane attack by complement: the assembly and biology of terminal complement complexes. Immunol Res, 51(1):45–60.
- Terui Y, Sakurai T, Mishima Y, Sugimura N, Sasaoka C, Kojima K, Yokoyama M, Mizunuma N, Takahashi S, Ito Y, Hatake K. (2006) Blockade of bulky lymphoma-associated CD55 expression by RNA interference overcomes resistance to complement-dependent cytotoxicity with rituximab. Cancer Sci, 97:72–9.

- Testi AM, Moleti ML, Giona F, Iori AP, Meloni G, Miniero R, Pigna M, Amadori S, Mandelli F. (1992) Treatment of primary refractory or relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) in children. Ann Oncol, 3:765–7.
- Thomas DA, Kantarjian H, Smith TL, Koller C, Cortes J, O'Brien S, Giles FJ, Gajewski J, Pierce S, Keating MJ. (1999) Primary refractory and relapsed adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: characteristics, treatment results, and prognosis with salvage therapy. Cancer, 86:1216–30.
- Treon SP, Mitsiades C, Mitsiades N, Young G, Doss D, Schlossman R, and Anderson KC. (2001) Tumor Cell Expression of CD59 Is Associated with Resistance to CD20 Serotherapy in Patients With B-Cell Malignancies. J Immunother, 24:263-71.
- Turner MW. (2003) The role of mannose-binding lectin in health and disease. Mol Immunol, 40 (7):423–9.
- Van der Bliek AM, Baas F, Ten Houte de Lange T, Kooiman PM, Van der Velde-Koerts T, Borst P. (1987) The human mdr3 gene encodes a novel P-glycoprotein homologue and gives rise to alternatively spliced mRNAs in liver. EMBO J, 6(11):3325–31.
- Van Meerten T, van Rijn RS, Hol S, Hagenbeek A, Ebeling SB. (2006) Complement-induced cell death by rituximab depends on CD20 expression level and acts complementary to antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Clin Cancer Res, 12(13):4027–35.
- Van Veen HW, Konings WN. (1998) The ABC family of multidrug transporters in microorganisms. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1365(1–2):31–6
- Vardiman JW. (2010) The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of tumors of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues: an overview with emphasis on the myeloid neoplasms. Chem Biol Interact 184(1–2):16–20.
- Varsano S, Rashkovsky L, Shapiro H, Ophir D, Mark-Bentankur T. (1998a) Human lung cancer cell lines express cell membrane complementinhibitory proteins and are extremely resistant to complement-mediated lysis; a comparison with normal human respiratory epithelium in vitro, and an insight into mechanism (s) of resistance. Clin Exp Immunol, 113:173–82.
- Varsano S, Rashkovsky L, Shapiro H, Radnay J. (1998b) Cytokines modulate expression of cell-membrane complement inhibitory proteins in human lung cancer cell lines. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 19:522–9.
- Wang Y, Yang YJ, Wang Z, Liao J, Liu M, Zhong XR, Zheng H, Wang YP. (2017) CD55 and CD59 expression protects HER2 overexpressing breast cancer cells from trastuzumab induced complement dependent cytotoxicity. Oncol Lett 14 (3): 2961-69.

Wang B, Peng XX, Sun R, Li J, Zhan XR, Wu LJ, Wang SL, Xie T. (2012) Systematic review of beta-elemene injection as adjunctive treatment for lung cancer. Chin J Integr Med, 18(11):813–823.

Wang D, Dubois RN. (2006) Prostaglandins and cancer. Gut, 55:115–22.

- Watson NF, Durrant LG, Madjd Z, Ellis IO, Scholefield JH, Spendlove I. (2006) Expression of the membrane complement regulatory protein CD59 (protectin) is associated with reduced survival in colorectal cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 55: 973–90.
- Weiler JM, Daha MR, Austen KF, Fearon DT. (1976) Control of the amplification convertase of complement by the plasma protein beta1H. Natl Acad Sci USA, 73(9):3268-72.
- Weisburg JH, Curcio M, Caron PC., Raghu G, Mechetner EB., Roepe PD, Scheinberg DA. (1996) The multidrug resistance phenotype confers immunological resistance. J Exp Med, 183:2699-704
- Whaley K, Ruddy S. (1976) Modulation of the alternative complement pathways by beta 1 H globulin. J Exp Med, 144(5):1147-63.
- World Health Organization. (2013) International classification of diseases for oncology (ICD-O), 3rd ed., 1st revision. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/96612
- World Health Organization (2015). Breast cancer: prevention and control [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/cancer/detection/ breastcancer/en/index1.html# 4/1/2015].
- Willett CG, Boucher Y, di Tomaso E, Duda DG, Munn LL, Tong RT, Chung DC, Sahani DV, Kalva SP, Kozin, SV, Mino M, Cohen KS, Scadden DT, Hartford AC, Fischman AJ, Clark JW, Ryan DP, Zhu AX, Blaszkowsky LS, Chen HX, Shellito PC, Lauwers GY, Jain RK. (2004) Direct evidence that the VEGF-specific antibody bevacizumab has antivascular effects in human rectal cancer. Nat Med, 10:145–147.
- Winiarska M, Nowis D, Bil J, Glodkowska-Mrowka E, Muchowicz A, Wanczyk M, Bojarczuk K, Dwojak M, Firczuk M, Wilczek E, Wachowska M, Roszczenko K, Miaczynska M, Chlebowska J, Basak GW, Golab J. (2012) Prenyltransferases regulate CD20 protein levels and influence anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody-mediated activation of complement-dependent cytotoxicity. J Biol Chem, 287:31983–93.
- Wojciechowski W, Li H, Marshall S, Dell'Agnola C, Espinoza-Delgado I. (2005) Enhanced expression of CD20 in human tumor B cells is controlled through ERK-dependent mechanisms. J Immunol, 174:7859–68.
- Wood AM. (2001) Rituximab: an innovative therapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Am J Health Syst Pharm, 58:215–229.

- Wu Y, Wang Y, Qin F, Wang Z, Wang Y, Yang Y, Zheng H, Wang Y. (2014) CD55 limits sensitivity to complement-dependent cytolysis triggered by heterologous expression of α-gal xenoantigen in colon tumor cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 306(12): G1056-64.
- Xu C, Jung M, Burkhardt M, Stephan C, Schnorr D, Loening S, Jung K, Dietel M, Kristiansen G. (2005) Increased CD59 protein expression predicts a PSA relapse in patients after radical prostatectomy. Prostate, 62:224–32.
- Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Suri KB, Levy C, Allen T, Mavroukakis S, Lowy I, White DE, Rosenberg SA. (2007) Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. J Immunother, 30:825–825.
- Yu J, Caragine T, Chen S, Morgan BP, Frey AB, Tomlinson S. (1999) Protection of human breast cancer cells from complement-mediated lysis by expression of heterologous CD59. Clin Exp Immunol, 115:13–8.
- Zahedi A, Rafiemanesh H, Enayatrad M, Ghoncheh M, Salehiniya H. (2015) Incidence, trends and epidemiology of cancers in North West of Iran. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 16:7189-93.
- Zell S, Geis N, Rutz R, Schultz S, Giese T, Kirschfink M, (2007) Downregulation of CD55 and CD46 expression by anti-sense phosphorothioate oligonucleotides (S-ODNs) sensitizes tumour cells to complement attack. Clin Exp Immunol, 150:576–84
- Zhang J, Chen M, Zhao Y, Xiong H, Sneh T, Fan Y, Wang J, Zhou X, Gong C. (2020) Complement and coagulation cascades pathway correlates with chemosensitivity and overall survival in patients with soft tissue sarcoma. Eur J Pharmacol, 879:173121.
- Zhao WP, Zhu B, Duan YZ, Chen ZT. (2009) Neutralization of complement regulatory proteins CD55 and CD59 augments therapeutic effect of herceptin against lung carcinoma cells. Oncol Rep, 21:1405–11.
- Ziegler S, Jurianz K, Manuelian T, Zipfel PF, Kirschfink M. (2001) Human tumor cells secrete complement regulatory molecules Factor H and FHL-1. Mol Immunol, 38:130-1.
- Ziller F, Macor P, Bulla R, Sblattero D, Marzari R, Tedesco F. (2005) Controlling complement resistance in cancer by using human monoclonal antibodies that neutralize complement-regulatory proteins CD55 and CD59. Eur J Immunol, 35:2175–83.

Publications and Presentations

Thesis-related publications and posters

• 5th European Congress of Immunology (ECI) in Amsterdam from September 2-5, 2018.

Poster:

<u>Mohamed H.A.H. Nasrh</u>, Michael Kirschfink. Factor H (fH) binding and elevated expression levels of membrane bound complement regulators (mCRP) are key players of enhanced complement resistance of breast cancer cells upon treatment with paclitaxel and doxorubicin

CV						
Personal Details						
Name:	Mohamed					
Surname:	Nasrh					
Date of birth:	07.01.1984					
Nationality:	Egyptian					
Marital Status:	Married					
Father's Name	Hassan Atia Hassan					
Mother's Name	Fatma Eldesouki Ali Nasef					
Education	Loborotom, of Immunochemistry Institute of					
Doctoral thesis	Laboratory of Immunochemistry, Institute of					
(May 2010- December 2021)	Initiatiology, Oniversity of Heidelberg, Germany					
M.Sc. (2008-2011)	Master of Science (M. Sc) in Microbiology, Faculty of					
	Science, Microbiology Department, Ain Shams					
	University, Cairo, Egypt					
B. Sc. (2001-2005)	Bachelor of Science (B. Sc) in Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Al-Azhar University, Cairo, Egypt					
	(Excellent, 85.73%).					
Desseret Experi						
Research Experie						
DAAD doctoral	"Impact of anti-cancer drugs on antibody-based					
fellow (June 2016-	complement-mediated tumor cell killing" Institute of					
present)	Immunology, University of Heidelberg, Germany					
	Advisor: Prof. Dr. Michael Kirschfink					
DAAD doctoral	"Potential role of Isg15-nonsense mutation in vasculitis					
May 2016)	or early critichood in Wodel systems for Infection and					
	Germany Research group, PZI, Braunschweig,					
	Connuny					
	Advisor: Prof. Dr. Wirth Dagmar					
Assistant	Assistant researcher in Immune- and Biomarkers for					
researcher (2011-	Infection Research Lab, National Research Center					
2014)						

l

	(NRC), Cairo, Egypt							
	Advisor: Prof. Dr. Mahmoud Bahgat Riad							
M.Sc. (2008 –2011)	"Performance of an Egyptian vaccine prepared by reverse genetics from H5N1 Egyptian isolate against Avian Influenza Virus comparing with commercially available vaccines" Virology Lab, National Research Center, (NRC) Cairo, Egypt <u>Advisor:</u> Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ahmed Ali							
Microbiologist/	Infectious diseases and Immunology Research Lab,							
Specialist	National Research Center (NRC), Cairo, Egypt							
(2006 –2009)	Advisor: Prof. Dr. Mahmoud Bahgat Riad							
Honors & Awards	6							
Recipient of DAAD	(Deutscher Akademischer Austausch Dienst) GERLS							
fellowship program to	fellowship program to pursue doctoral thesis in Germany 2014- present							
Professional Ass	ociation							
Member, DGFI (2018)							

l

Acknowledgement

A real and deep change of my scientific and social experiences has occurred in the last few years when I came to Germany to pursue my doctoral study and it would not have been possible without the support and guidance that I received on different levels.

I am grateful to the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) for providing me the financial and research opportunities for my doctoral degree and stay in Germany.

Deep thanks for my supervisor **Prof. Dr. Michael Kirschfink** for providing me the opportunity to develop my doctoral thesis under his direct guidance at the Institute of Immunology, Medical Faculty, University of Heidelberg. He brought me for the first time to the complement world. Throughout my stay in Germany, **Prof. Kirschfink** did not only provide scientific support but also always took care of my social issues in an unusual friendly way. He has inspired me to become an independent researcher and helped me to realize the power of critical reasoning.

I would also like to acknowledge **Prof. Dr. Stefan Meuer**, Director of the Institute of Immunology for hosting me in the institute during my doctoral work.

I also would like to deeply thank **Prof. Dr. Mahmoud Bahgat**, my former M. Sc. Supervisor, who initially provided me a reference to win one of the very competitive DAAD long-term fellowship. It was he who introduced me to his former supervisor and current collaborator **Prof. Dr. Kirschfink.** During his visit to Heidelberg in 2018, Dr. Bahgat helped me to find out the best way to present my results graphically and statistically. He also critically read and corrected all sections of the work after the initial review by the referees.

My deep thanks go out to **Mrs. Chiara Rottaro** and to **Graduate Academy of Heidelberg University** for supporting me during the writing phaseof my thesis.

My thanks also go out to the support I received from my colleagues at the Institute of Immunology, Medical Faculty, University of Heidelberg, who were always helpful and shared their knowledge with me. A big appreciation goes to **Mrs. Renate Rutz** for making sure that everything went well in the lab on a day to day basis. I would also like to express my gratitude to **Mrs. Anja** Fertig, Mr. Daniel Fischer and Mrs. Rutz again, who introduced me to the facilities and equipment at my work place.

In addition, I am truly indebted to **the National Research Center of Egypt (NRC)** for giving me the chance to study abroad and there were my first steps as a researcher. I am truly indebted to **Prof. Dr. Amany Sayed Maghraby** who not only helped me to figure out my scientific research career but also highly supported my scientific and social life.

I am grateful to **Dr. Ahmed Mostafa** and **Dr. Mahmoud Shehata** who were so friendly and supportive on different levels.

Last but not least, I would like to deeply thank the soul of my father, **Mr. Hassan A. Nasrh** which has been always with me, and my mother, **Mrs. Fatma Nasef**, for her endless love, support and patience. My parents have shaped me into the person I have become and achieved and for that I am truly indebted to them. I would also like to thank my siblings, **Mr. Ibrahim H. Nasrh** and **Mrs. Amal H. Nasrh**, who have always believed in me and were always there to cheer me up and motivate me. All of the love to my sons **Malek and Anas M. Hassan Nasrh**, they are being a special gift from God in my doctoral study time.

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

1. Bei der eingereichten Dissertation zu dem Thema

"Impact of anti-cancer drugs on antibody-based complement-mediated tumor cell killing"

handelt es sich um meine eigenständig erbrachte Leistung.

- Ich habe nur die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und mich keiner unzulässigen Hilfe Dritter bedient. Insbesondere habe ich wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus anderen Werken übernommene Inhalte als solche kenntlich gemacht.
- 4. Die Richtigkeit der vorstehenden Erklärungen bestätige ich.
- 5. Die Bedeutung der eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unrichtigen oder unvollständigen eidesstattlichen Versicherung sind mir bekannt. Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass ich nach bestem Wissen die reine Wahrheit erklärt und nichts verschwiegen habe.

Heidelberg, den

Ort und Datum

Unterschrift

		Drugs														
	Doxorubicin			Taxol			Bortezomib			Fludarabine						
		(µ	IM)		(nM)			(nM)			(µM)					
Cell line	0	2	5	10	0	5	10	20	0	5	10	20	0	1	3	5
BT474																
Viability	91.1	82.7	74.4	71.7	91.1	83.2	73.1	70.4	91.1	87.0	82.7	72.8				
(%)	89.3	77.1	72.8	67.2	89.3	87.0	76.0	73.9	89.3	81.6	79.6	68.4				
	87.0	81.0	70.2	69.3	87.0	79.6	69.7	67.8	87.0	79.7	75.3	67.9				
			1										1	1		1
Mean	89.1	80.2	72.4	69.4	89.1	83.2	72.9	70.7	89.1	82.7	79.2	69.7				
SD	±2	±2.8	±2.1	±2.2	±2	±3.7	±3.1	±3.2	±2	±3.7	±3.7	±2.6				
SKBR-3						-					-	-	-		-	
Viability	85.0	77.3	71.8	70.3	85.0	81.3	79.5	72.8	85.0	81.3	79.5	72.8				
(%)	92.0	79.3	73.3	71.9	92.0	83.2	77.4	70.8	92.0	83.2	77.4	70.8				
	89.0	81.0	78.5	67.7	89.0	79.8	70.7	69.7	89.0	79.8	70.7	69.7				
	1									1	1	1		1	1	
Mean	88.6	79.1	74.5	69.4	88.6	81.4	75.8	71.1	88.6	75.4	68.8	63.7				
SD	±3.5	±1.8	±3.5	±2.1	±3.5	±1.7	±4.5	±1.5	±3.5	±3.9	±1.4	±3.5				
Raji																
Viability									91.0	87.6	75.2	70.7	91.0	83.4	77.8	72.9
(%)									93.2	79.8	77.9	67.8	93.2	80.4	73.4	70.5
· · /									89.5	83.7	71.4	59.7	89.5	79.7	69.3	66.7
Mean									91.2	83.7	74.8	66.0	91.2	81.2	73.5	70.0
SD									±1.8	±3.9	±3.2	±5.7	±1.8	±1.9	±4.2	±3.1

Table 1: Viability of different cancer cell lines upon treatment with different chemotherapeutics for 48h

i



Viability of different cancer cell lines upon treatment with different chemotherapeutics for 48h. (a&b) Viability of doxorubicin-treated BT474 & SKBR-3 cells. **(c&d)** Viability of taxol-treated BT474 & SKBR-3 cells. **(e, f & g)** Viability of bortezomib-treated BT474, SKBR-3 & Raji cells. **(h)** Viability of fludarabine-treated Raji cells. All cancer cells (5x10⁵/well) were allowed to grow for 48h either without treatment or with indicated concentrations of each anti-cancer drug. Trypan blue exclusion assay was used to determine cell viability as described in Methods. Each symbol represents an independent experiment. Horizontal line: mean of three experiments; vertical line: SD.



The raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis (in %) by CDC of doxorubicin-treated BT474 cells at 24h

Table 1: Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated BT474 cells at 24h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with doxorubicin for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneous release) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

Group		Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
😑 Neg	Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	728.42, 697.47, 913.43	0	1.1
🔵 Pos (Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	11198.2, 12427.4, 10884.5	100	7.6
😑 Unkr	nown1	A7, A8, A9	1	552.38, 756.49, 966.69	4.8	4.9
😑 Ut no	o Neut. A	A10, A11, A12	1	10368.2, 10140.1, 10393.4	88.8	1.3
😑 Utno	Neut. Al	B1, B2, B3	1	10686.9, 8890.53, 8927.5	81.3	9.6
😑 Ut no	o Neut. A	B4, B5, B6	1	8896.96, 9169.55, 6746.93	69.9	12.4
🕤 Ut N	leut. Abs	B7, B8, B9	1	10379.8, 9197.56, 10024.2	84.7	5.7
🔵 Ut N	eut. Abs	B10, B11, B12	1	9182.99, 9297.09, 9406.17	79.4	1
🔵 Ut N	eut. Abs	C1, C2, C3	1	10144.2, 9167.47, 9085.57	81	5.5
👩 2μΜ	no Neut.	C4, C5, C6	1	4493.86, 4905.57, 4514.64	36	2.2
👩 2μΜ	no Neut.	C7, C8, C9	1	4565.83, 4311.1, 4518.84	34.4	1.3
👩 2μΜ	no Neut.	C10, C11, C12	1	4331.93, 4459.9, 4376.79	33.7	0.6
👩 2μΜ	Neut. At	D1, D2, D3	1	4657.4, 4657.58, 4993.52	37.2	1.8
👩 2μΜ	Neut. At	D4, D5, D6	1	4482.41, 4399.92, 4427.02	34.1	0.4
👩 2µM	Neut. At	D7, D8, D9	1	4360.29, 4527.8, 5113.52	36.3	3.7
😑 5µM	no neut.	D10, D11, D12	1	3451.82, 3862.92, 3449.5	26.2	2.2
😑 5µM	no neut.	E1, E2, E3	1	3688.88, 3413.89, 3843.49	26.8	2
👩 5μΜ	no neut.	E4, E5, E6	1	3707.16, 3350.12, 3427.86	25.3	1.8
😑 5µM	Neut. At	E7, E8, E9	1	4361.96, 4073.37, 4183.86	32	1.4
👩 5µM	Neut. At	E10, E11, E12	1	4094.37, 3754.39, 4244.11	30.3	2.3
👩 5µM	Neut. At	F1, F2, F3	1	4530.06, 3773.79, 4176.95	31.5	3.5
😑 10μΛ	1 no Neu	F4, F5, F6	1	4135.44, 3981.84, 3818.67	29.8	1.5
👩 10μΛ	1 no Neu	F7, F8, F9	1	4047.98, 3702.04, 3942.55	29.1	1.7
👩 10μΛ	1 no Neu	F10, F11, F12	1	3611.91, 3517.28, 3840.19	26.8	1.5
👩 10μΛ	1 Neut. A	G1, G2, G3	1	3602.63, 3477.39, 3762.95	26.4	1.3
👩 10μΛ	1 Neut. A	G4, G5, G6	1	3821.94, 3693.71, 4025.03	28.6	1.6
😑 10µN	1 Neut. A	G7, G8, G9	1	3911.97, 3771.05, 4106.07	29.4	1.6



The raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated BT474 cells at 48h.

Table 2: Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated BT474 cells at 48h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with doxorubicin for 48h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneous release) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
0	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	342.69, 357.71, 402.37	0	1.2
0	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	3093.58, 3072.36, 3008.03	100	1.7
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	552.38, 756.49, 966.69	4.8	4.9
0	Ut no Neut. A	A10, A11, A12	1	2854.18, 2932.65, 3012.72	95.4	2.9
0	Utno Neut. Al	B1, B2, B3	1	2638.63, 2557.94, 2376.91	80.2	5
0	Ut no Neut. A	B4, B5, B6	1	2500.23, 3191.81, 3515.89	100.4	19.3
0	Ut Neut. Abs	B7, B8, B9	1	2439.36, 2250.59, 2459.27	74.9	4.3
0	Ut Neut. Abs	B10, B11, B12	1	2295.15, 2530.18, 2533.37	77.5	5.1
0	Ut Neut. Abs	C1, C2, C3	1	2760.4, 3006.94, 3129.39	96.6	7
0	2µM no Neut.	C4, C5, C6	1	1026.89, 1067.47, 1064.28	25.5	0.8
0	2µM no Neut.	C7, C8, C9	1	1001.13, 938.7, 948.94	22.1	1.2
0	2µM no Neut.	C10, C11, C12	1	983.32, 1008.12, 1375.27	28	8.2
0	2µM Neut. Ab	D1, D2, D3	1	1008.09, 1008.9, 1102.13	25	2
0	2µM Neut. Ab	D4, D5, D6	1	996.1, 924.5, 931.25	21.7	1.5
0	2µM Neut. Ab	D7, D8, D9	1	943.32, 899.63, 1174.52	23.7	5.5
0	5µM no neut.	D10, D11, D12	1	785.79, 839.93, 776.47	16.1	1.3
0	5µM no neut.	E1, E2, E3	1	901.34, 884.18, 868.04	19.2	0.6
0	5µM no neut.	E4, E5, E6	1	741.41, 883.86, 1467.41	16.5	3.7
0	5µM Neut. Ab	E7, E8, E9	1	832.21, 926.57, 834.95	18.5	2
0	5µM Neut. Ab	E10, E11, E12	1	803.59, 813.58, 852.92	16.9	1
0	5µM Neut. Ab	F1, F2, F3	1	854.18, 808, 939.98	18.6	2.5
0	10µM no Neu	F4, F5, F6	1	810.15, 966.53, 981.22	20.5	3.5
0	10µM no Neu	F7, F8, F9	1	849.26, 948.37, 799.91	18.5	2.8
0	10µM no Neu	F10, F11, F12	1	998.05, 765.07, 1129.67	22.2	6.9
0	10µM Neut. A	G1, G2, G3	1	952.55, 788.22, 937.86	19.5	3.4
0	10µM Neut. A	G4, G5, G6	1	904.79, 941.29, 1013.74	21.8	2.1
0	10µM Neut. A	G7, G8, G9	1	964.4, 985.58, 17.77	22.6	0.6

51 Chrom Kifi Assay Protocol Name: Endpoint Counts [12x8] Readings: Well Types: 😑 Unknown 🛞 Pos Control 🜔 Neg Control 10 11 12 2 3 5 6 7 9 Plate: Auto Flag By Well ("(pcv ([g]) > 25) and (x= furthest ([g]))") Normalise (Normalises Counts between Neg Control1..1 and Pos Control1..1) Transformations: Standard Deviation (Calculates Standard Deviation of % specific lysis)

Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated SKBR-3 cells at 24h

Table 3: The raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated SKBR-3 cells at 24h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with doxorubicin for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneous release) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
0	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	674.77, 583.64, 637.61	0	1.1
0	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	4590.16, 4998.2, 4867.02	100	5
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	552.38, 756.49, 966.69	4.8	4.9
0	Ut	A10, A11, A12	1	3306.46, 3821.7, 3268.71	67.7	7.4
0	Ut	B1, B2, B3	1	3049.83, 2353, 677.04	49.4	11.8
0	Ut	B4, B5, B6	1	70.47 , 39.82, 30.48	-14.3	0.2
0	Ut Neut. Abs	B7, B8, B9	1	3309.02, 3498.23, 3299.29	65.4	2.7
0	Ut Neut. Abs	B10, B11, B12	1	3257.25, 3507.84, 3483.66	66.5	3.3
0	Ut Neut. Abs	C1, C2, C3	1	2751.81, 2626, 2639.46	48.7	1.7
0	2 _µ M	C4, C5, C6	1	1416.43, 1487.06, 1457.44	19.6	0.8
0	2µM	C7, C8, C9	1	1513.49, 1535.97, 1500.42	21.1	0.4
0	2µM	C10, C11, C12	1	1512.04, 1558.06, 1354.91	20.1	2.5
0	2µM Neut. Ab	D1, D2, D3	1	2149.32, 1985.57, 2163.87	35.1	2.4
0	2µM Neut. Ab	D4, D5, D6	1	2041.3, 1920.27, 1899.11	31.6	1.8
0	2µM Neut. Ab	D7, D8, D9	1	1917.17, 1892.49, 1914.48	30.5	0.3
0	5µM	D10, D11, D12	1	2369.65, 2441.39, 2322.57	41.7	1.4
0	5µM	E1, E2, E3	1	2462.14, 2241.21, 2256.34	40.3	2.9
0	5µM	E4, E5, E6	1	2257.34, 2163.7, 2048.9	36.4	2.5
0	5µM Neut. Ab	E7, E8, E9	1	1840.63, 1803.22, 1842.95	28.6	0.5
0	5µM Neut. Ab	E10, E11, E12	1	1836.92, 1953.26, 1835.16	29.7	1.6
0	5µM Neut. Ab	F1, F2, F3	1	2610.17, 2618.87, 2112.35	43.4	6.9
0	10µМ	F4, F5, F6	1	2378, 2280.36, 2043.09	38.3	4.1
0	10µМ	F7, F8, F9	1	2156.1, 2189.29, 2282.9	37.7	1.6
0	10µМ	F10, F11, F12	1	2164.94, 2064.28, 2125.42	35.5	1.2
0	10µM Neut. A	G1, G2, G3	1	2139.28, 1997.19, 1916.93	33.1	2.7
0	10µM Neut. A	G4, G5, G6	1	2000.64, 2035.9, 2120.56	33.9	1.5
0	10µM Neut. A	G7, G8, G9	1	2196.53, 2260, 2237.97	38.2	0.8



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated SKBR-3 cells at 48h

Table 4: The raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of doxorubicin-treated SKBR-3 cells at 48h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with doyorubicin for 48h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneous release) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by the CDC (in %) of BT474 cells treated with taxol for 24h

Table 5: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated BT474 cells at 24h. The impact of pre-treatment of tumor cells with taxol for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
$^{\circ}$	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	363.14, 314.52, 331.66	0	0.5
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	5556.08, 5571.3, 5419.99	100	1.6
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	1526.34, 1577.93, 1445.73	22.8	1.3
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	4173.54, 4544.37, 4556.91	78.9	4.2
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	4016.51, 3720.6, 3822.44	67.9	2.9
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	3903.03, 3752.7, 4417.9	71.2	6.7
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	2833.52, 3025.09, 3231.88	52	3.8
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	3177.11, 2981.02, 3031.71	52.6	2
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	3446.2, 3333.36, 3632.27	60.5	2.9
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	3061.28, 3974.07, 3504.91	61.3	8.8
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	3567.16, 3330.39, 3497.42	60.4	2.3
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	3580.44, 4174.77, 3313.59	64.7	8.5
0	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	2809.44, 3589.49, 2862.62	53.1	8.4
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	2770.54, 2970.13, 2925.71	49.3	2
0	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	3188.41, 3412.65, 3599.7	59.2	4
0	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	3351.82, 3474, 3819.07	62	4.7
0	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	5648.31, 5664.44, 5306.65	100.5	3.9
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	3564.54, 3747.65, 3560.62	63.5	2.1
0	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	2633.37, 2817.6, 2819.34	46.7	2.1
0	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	3180.75, 2707.98, 3021.9	50.9	4.6
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	4724.91, 4425.34, 4764.99	83.1	3.6
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	3388.3, 4079.43, 3820	66.1	6.7
0	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	4004.56, 3933.77, 3982.15	70.2	0.7
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	3974.41, 3970.13, 3939.02	70	0.4
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	3022.79, 2627.09, 2827.48	48.1	3.8
0	20nM +/+Neu	G4, G5, G6	1	2751.8, 3021.94, 4250.21	58	15.4
0	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	4456.75, 4271.34, 4523.41	78.8	2.5



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated BT474 cells at 48h

Table 6: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated BT474 cells at 48h. The impact of pre-treatment of tumor cells with taxol for 48h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.
G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
\circ	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	373.48, 361.97, 408.83	0	0.5
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	5641.64, 5732.14, 5857.01	100	2
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	3958.08, 3576.8, 4303.79	66.5	6.8
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	4675.06, 5025.99, 5017.76	84.4	3.7
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	5393.56, 4669.21, 4861.55	85.7	7
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	4655.94, 4917.36, 4735.18	81.8	2.5
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	2841.26, 3077.92, 2938.1	47.9	2.2
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	2773.44, 2917.72, 2753.66	45.4	1.7
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	2926.97, 3053.52, 3092.87	49.3	1.6
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	3566.55, 3944, 4191.55	65.6	5.9
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	4026.35, 3662.47, 3764.94	64.1	3.5
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	3565.45, 4221.27, 4909.23	71.8	12.5
0	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	3179.44, 3329.11, 3652.04	56	4.5
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	3003.91, 3459.47, 3203.48	53	4.3
0	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	3640.61, 3300.72, 3425.34	57.3	3.2
0	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	4332.49, 4806.08, 4681.32	78.8	4.6
0	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	4375.24, 4113.71, 4563.76	74	4.2
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	4128.77, 4264.36, 4551.32	73.4	4
0	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	3969.12, 4455.57, 4688.05	74.4	6.8
0	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	4036.43, 4229, 4037.14	69.4	2.1
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	4377.12, 3941.16, 4510.38	72.6	5.6
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	2918.98, 3255, 3123.75	50.7	3.2
0	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	3184.85, 2874.49, 2945.15	48.9	3
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	2880.43, 2973.23, 6731.3	47.5	1.2
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	1827.49, 2281.6, 2590.71	34.5	7.2
0	20nM +/+Neu	G4, G5, G6	1	2715.42, 2061.88, 2261.83	36.6	6.2
\circ	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	2621.31, 2841.16, 2977.19	45.4	3.3



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated SKBR3 cells at 24h

Table 7: The raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated SKBR-3 cells at 24h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with taxol for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
\circ	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	404.19, 401.9, 425.79	0	0.4
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	3712.96, 3868.85, 4807.8	100	15.9
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	571.36 , 890.02, 1031.97	14.8	2.7
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	3463.17, 3370.17, 3218.45	79	3.3
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	3544.16, 3208.08, 3268.09	78.8	4.8
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	3493.23, 3772.45, 3678.41	87	3.8
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	2392.89, 2634.09, 2996.43	60.9	8.2
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	2555.13, 2580.35, 2515.08	57.5	0.9
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	2579.55, 2428.77, 3076.97	61.4	9.1
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	3269.81, 3643.79, 3155.63	79.2	6.9
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	3188.61, 3038.28, 3275.11	74.1	3.2
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	3511.27, 3776.38, 3981.97	90	6.3
0	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	3006.78, 3203.24, 3145.12	72.8	2.7
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	3079.27, 2939.27, 3011.48	69.9	1.9
0	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	3149.08, 3062.48, 3404.61	75.1	4.8
0	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	2648.44, 2657.55, 2704.55	60.8	0.8
0	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	2671.35, 2493.53, 2873.15	61	5.1
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	2718.04, 3010.18, 3738.89	73.8	14.1
0	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	2074.33, 1952.82, 2268.97	45.4	4.3
0	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	2126.1, 2393.08, 2288.41	50	3.6
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	2494.05, 2588.2, 2700.41	58.7	2.8
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	1981.83, 1967.21, 2059.99	42.8	1.3
\circ	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	1947.4, 1673.61, 1831.72	37.8	3.7
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	1916.61, 1729.18, 1699.37	36.9	3.2
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	1942.91, 2105.56, 1958.16	42.8	2.4
\circ	20nM +/+Net	G4, G5, G6	1	2050.38, 2084.31, 1934.84	43.4	2.1
0	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	1828.33, 1904.71, 1703.08	37.7	2.7



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated SKBR3 cells at 48h

Table 8: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of taxol-treated SKBR-3 cells at 48h. The impact of pre-treatment of tumor cells with taxol for 48h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
0	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	444.13, 391.78, 406.45	0	0.7
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	4681.46, 4531.37, 4397.8	100	3.4
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	2032.52, 2416.43, 1677.23	39.5	9
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	3036.66, 3230.41, 3528.2	69.2	6
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	3439.95, 3264.1, 3224.42	70.2	2.8
\circ	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	3140.07, 3245.25, 3314.45	68.4	2.1
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	1936.28 , 3484.34, 3012.15	68.7	8.1
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	2285.07, 2910.44, 2737.54	54.1	7.8
\circ	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	2841.56, 2973.66, 2617.47	58.1	4.4
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	2530.71, 2641.54, 2379.8	51	3.2
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	2395.55, 2435.17, 2428.57	48.6	0.5
\circ	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	2415.2, 2400.89, 2498	49.1	1.3
\circ	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	3154.18, 3022.68, 3346.85	67	4
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	2908.73, 3155.44, 2820.28	61.8	4.2
\circ	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	3250.68, 3281.95, 3635.11	72.2	5.2
0	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	2329.4, 2484.45, 2541.54	49.4	2.7
\circ	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	2437.03, 2131.04, 2287.56	45.4	3.7
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	1972.01, 2318.33, 2959.52	48.6	12.2
0	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	2667.44, 2623.76, 2693.9	54.5	0.9
0	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	2556.61, 2547.1, 2583.71	52.1	0.5
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	2791.75, 2601.58, 2678.34	55.2	2.3
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	506.45, 581.57, 530.81	3	0.9
0	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	596.79, 555.69, 551.78	3.7	0.6
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	576, 534.99, 606.66	3.8	0.9
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	676.22, 797.41, 870.49	8.9	2.4
0	20nM +/+Neu	G4, G5, G6	1	526.88, 551.15, 541.79	3.1	0.3
0	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	601.97, 540.69, 554.62	3.7	0.8



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated BT474 cells at 24h

Table 9: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated BT474 cells at 24h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with bortezomib for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
\circ	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	677.18, 702.81, 1144.48	0	0.2
\bigcirc	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	11890.3, 12275.2, 11479.4	100	3.6
\circ	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	5895.37, 4079.1, 5204.62	39	8.2
\circ	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	8613.14, 9378.54, 8833.4	73.7	3.5
\circ	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	9522.84, 8108.82, 8323.98	71.1	6.8
\circ	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	8284.94, 8562.63, 8110.52	68.2	2
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	8933.98, 9772.39, 9550.13	78	3.9
\circ	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	8845.97, 9022.46, 8118.91	71.2	4.3
\circ	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	8948.62, 8367.13, 9869.03	74.8	6.8
\circ	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	8196.97, 7968.2, 8104.97	66.1	1
\circ	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	9095.92, 8648.4, 8989.43	73.5	2.1
\circ	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	6952.12, 2719.11, 7023.69	56.3	0.5
\circ	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	9142.38, 9450.28, 9334.22	77	1.4
\circ	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	8733.33, 8280.7, 8574.64	70	2.1
\circ	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	8612.16, 8430.79, 9035.37	71.5	2.8
\circ	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	6996.39, 8085.34, 8810.79	65	8.2
\circ	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	9718.46, 9540.65, 11080.5	84.2	7.5
\circ	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	9327.39, 9676.79, 9380.16	78.4	1.7
\circ	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	10148.2, 9612.37, 9933.51	82.3	2.4
\circ	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	9668.78, 8820.97, 9104.18	76	3.9
\circ	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	6601.49, 6687.66, 8622.63	59.1	10.2
\circ	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	9533.42, 10552.7, 9717.1	82.6	4.9
\circ	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	9514.67, 9366.69, 9313.68	77.8	0.9
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	9272.51, 9646.59, 9384.51	78.1	1.7
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	10288, 10629.5, 11368.6	90	4.9
0	20nM +/+Neu	G4, G5, G6	1	10947.8, 10782.1, 10097.1	88.6	4
\circ	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	11155.8, 10397.4, 10755.8	90.1	3.4



Assay Protocol Name:	51 Chrom Kifi					
Readings:	Endpoint: Counts [12x8]					
Well Types:	🔵 Unknown 🛛 🛞 Pos Control 🜔 Neg Control					
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12					
	· 333444555666					
	· 7778889990000					
	11/11/11/12/12/13/13/13/14/14/14					
	= 15(15)15(16)16(16)17(17)17(18)18(18)					
	r 19(19)19/20/20/20/21/21/21/22/22/22					
	• 23/23/23/24/24/25/25/25/26/26/26					
	+ 27 <u>27</u> 27 <u>28</u> 28 <u>28</u> 29 <u>29</u> 29 <u>30</u> 30 <u>30</u> 30					
Plate:						
	uto Flag By Well ("(pcv ([g]) > 25) and (x= furthest ([g]))")					
	Normalise (Normalises Counts between Neg Control1.1 and Pos Control1.1)					
Transformations:	Standard Deviation (Calculates Standard Deviation of % specific lysis)					

Table 10: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated BT474 cells at 48h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with bortezomib for 48h on CDC either in absence or in presence ofmCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
\circ	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	385.52, 416.49, 424.83	0	0.6
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	3719.68, 4503.21, 4285.5	100	10.8
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	3877.92, 3819.39, 3925.19	92.1	1.4
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	3704.83, 3946.88, 4020.1	92.6	4.4
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	4087.22, 3711.66, 3989.99	93.6	5.2
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	3324.83, 4341.01, 5256.48	103.7	25.7
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	3761.78, 3664.69, 3684.98	87.6	1.4
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	3268.79, 3511.6, 3460.39	79.9	3.4
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	3998.67, 3896.6, 6199.59	94.1	1.9
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	2809.66, 3167.24, 2625.33	65.4	7.3
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	3172.9, 3014.38, 2819.43	69	4.7
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	2561.62, 3001.84, 4758.87	63.1	8.3
0	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	2903.08, 3275.66, 3121.14	71.6	5
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	3056.43, 3191.59, 3220.46	73.1	2.3
0	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	2887.89, 2898.23, 2899	66.1	0.2
0	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	3077.74, 2953.47, 3057.76	69.7	1.8
0	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	3042.81, 2840.56, 3103.89	68.8	3.7
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	2802.11, 3110.89, 4125.43	78.1	18.4
0	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	2163.92, 2719.06, 2615.92	55.6	7.9
0	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	2393.66, 2628.4, 2495.19	55.8	3.1
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	2483.46 , 4505.9, 4315.6	106.4	3.6
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	2815.99, 2964.46, 2828.06	65.4	2.2
0	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	3162.3, 2890.74, 2842.21	68	4.6
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	2788.35, 3029.66, 3761.05	74	13.5
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	2507.22, 2922.25, 2982.4	63.7	6.9
0	20nM +/+Neu	G4, G5, G6	1	2837.06, 2862.26, 2723.45	63.8	2
0	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	2818.6, 2739.49, 30.08	63	1.5



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated Raji cells at 24h

Table 11: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated Raji cells at 24h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with bortezomib for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
0	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	401.9, 375.81, 376.93	0	0.3
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	5381.07, 4942.06, 7607.89	100	25.6
\circ	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	364.36, 308.23, 402.91	-0.5	0.9
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	3553.95, 3909.05, 3669.48	59.5	3.2
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	4638.94, 3799.97, 4351.08	69.4	7.6
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	5194.78, 5084.52, 4555.35	81.5	6.1
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	3781.92, 3605.08, 3719.88	59.3	1.6
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	3555.91, 3854.61, 4312.17	63	6.8
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	4295.98, 3997.73, 4443.87	69	4.1
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	2762.12, 3128.66, 2936.44	45.7	3.3
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	3301.17, 3005.54, 3108.2	49.2	2.7
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	3192.86, 3109.57, 7406.46	49.5	1.1
0	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	2989.98, 3066.42, 3278.31	48.8	2.7
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	3351.52, 3730.43, 3680.82	57.3	3.7
0	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	4084.13, 4011.98, 4343.28	67.3	3.1
\circ	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	2426, 2903.81, 3192.44	43.9	6.9
0	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	4205.49, 3850.84, 4337.19	67	4.5
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	5600.21, 4427.18, 4585.76	80.2	11.4
0	10nM +/+Net	E7, E8, E9	1	3065.91, 3020.79, 3392.55	49.6	3.6
0	10nM +/+Net	E10, E11, E12	1	3430.01, 4196.13, 3912.81	61.9	6.9
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	3669.13, 4116.1, 4613.08	67	8.4
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	2346.72, 1960.03, 2229.73	32.1	3.5
\circ	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	2087.88, 2341.23, 2147.68	32.3	2.4
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	2648.28, 2484.46, 3770.97	46.2	12.5
0	20nM +/+Net	G1, G2, G3	1	3640.59, 3377.18, 3082.26	53.3	5
0	20nM +/+Net	G4, G5, G6	1	2771.68, 3242.11, 2694.14	45	5.3
\circ	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	2734.99, 2868.98, 2651.43	42.3	2



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated Raji cells at 48h

Table 12: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of bortezomib-treated Raji cells at 48h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with bortezomib for 48h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
\circ	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	733.93, 686.17, 721.11	0	0.2
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	11617.5, 11736.2, 11130	100	3
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	710.32, 628.8, 748.46	-0.2	0.6
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	A10, A11, A12	1	6241.99, 5825, 6087.96	49.5	2
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B1, B2, B3	1	6917.34, 5816.53, 5859.82	50.9	5.8
0	Ut -/- Neutr.A	B4, B5, B6	1	6333.48, 7290.47, 7224.98	57.8	5
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B7, B8, B9	1	6582.97, 7356.94, 6211.71	55.7	5.4
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	B10, B11, B12	1	5931.68, 6571.99, 6855.22	53.2	4.4
0	Ut +/+ Neutr.	C1, C2, C3	1	6546.13, 6327.89, 7199.03	55.4	4.2
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C4, C5, C6	1	6089.44, 6211.14, 6069.44	50.2	0.7
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C7, C8, C9	1	5951.88, 5420.62, 5858.37	46.7	2.6
0	5nM -/- Neutr	C10, C11, C12	1	5943.95, 5869.37, 8254.65	55.4	12.6
0	5nM +/+Neut	D1, D2, D3	1	5868.83, 7219.47, 7118.5	55.9	7
0	5nM +/+Neut	D4, D5, D6	1	7274.62, 6421.59, 6685.37	56.4	4.1
0	5nM +/+Neut	D7, D8, D9	1	7208.13, 7794.18, 8694.99	66.6	6.9
0	10nM -/- Ney	D10, D11, D12	1	7505.25, 8419.88, 7689.57	66.4	4.5
0	10nM -/- Neu	E1, E2, E3	1	7411.7, 6706.96, 6478.59	57.1	4.5
0	10nM -/- Neu	E4, E5, E6	1	7242.22, 8587.88, 21083.2	66.8	8.8
0	10nM +/+Neu	E7, E8, E9	1	8249.21, 8313.81, 8119.23	69.7	0.9
0	10nM +/+Neu	E10, E11, E12	1	6931.62, 8377.16, 8086.51	65.7	7.1
0	10nM +/+Neu	F1, F2, F3	1	9350.85, 8629.74, 10234.6	80.6	7.5
0	20nM -/-Neut	F4, F5, F6	1	6192.15, 6949.11, 6144.81	53	4.2
0	20nM -/-Neut	F7, F8, F9	1	6507.51, 6593.44, 6148.08	52.9	2.2
0	20nM -/-Neut	F10, F11, F12	1	6326.35, 6317.5, 16810.2	52	0.1
0	20nM +/+Neu	G1, G2, G3	1	7749.68, 7826.42, 7153.71	63.7	3.4
0	20nM +/+Neu	G4, G5, G6	1	6793.06, 6620.78, 6099.73	53.7	3.3
0	20nM +/+ Ne	G7, G8, G9	1	6882.27, 8131.92, 8929.04	67.4	9.6



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of fludarabine-treated Raji cells at 24h

Table 12: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of fludarabine-treated Raji cells at 24h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with fludarabine for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
\circ	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	707.52, 701.15, 687.01	0	0.2
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	5316.1, 5673.04, 5428.25	100	3.8
\circ	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	587.46, 674.14, 681.74	-1.1	1.1
\circ	Ut	A10, A11, A12	1	3135.49, 3305.88, 3546.71	55.1	4.3
0	Ut	B1, B2, B3	1	3674.42, 3263.53, 3523.82	58.4	4.4
\circ	Ut	B4, B5, B6	1	3315.61, 3524.29, 3819.9	59.8	5.3
0	Ut + neut. Ab	B7, B8, B9	1	2380.16, 2853.3, 2590.95	40	5
\circ	Ut + neut. Ab	B10, B11, B12	1	2495.87, 2560.86, 2927.51	41.1	4.9
\circ	Ut + neut. Ab	C1, C2, C3	1	5675.51, 7596.74, 7552.11	130.8	23
\circ	1μΜ	C4, C5, C6	1	1458, 1636.94, 1751.1	19.2	3.1
\circ	1μΜ	C7, C8, C9	1	1775.26, 1903.21, 2096.17	25.7	3.4
0	1μΜ	C10, C11, C12	1	1955.14, 2192.48, 2441.24	31.4	5.1
0	$1 \mu M + neut.$	D1, D2, D3	1	2203.94, 1939.09, 2241.25	29.9	3.5
\circ	$1 \mu M + neut.$	D4, D5, D6	1	2368.25, 2290.63, 2313.46	34.1	0.8
0	$1 \mu M + neut.$	D7, D8, D9	1	2379.47, 2385.14, 2495.6	36.1	1.4
0	3 µM	D10, D11, D12	1	1058.24, 1411.46, 1199.1	11	3.7
0	3 µM	E1, E2, E3	1	1484.21, 1290.41, 1519.71	15.4	2.6
0	3 µM	E4, E5, E6	1	1498.5, 1553.81, 1501.02	17.2	0.7
0	$3 \mu M + neut.$	E7, E8, E9	1	1651.47, 1991.48, 1650.73	22.3	4.1
0	$3 \mu M + neut.$	E10, E11, E12	1	1932.24, 1682.63, 1690.08	22.4	3
0	$3 \mu M + neut.$	F1, F2, F3	1	1785.23, 1580.46, 1531.1	19.6	2.8
\circ	5μΜ	F4, F5, F6	1	923.72, 959.93, 957.69	5.2	0.4
0	5 µM	F7, F8, F9	1	895.9, 873.71, 1044.72	5	1.9
0	5 µM	F10, F11, F12	1	951.83, 1068.48, 2770.24	6.5	1.7
\circ	$5 \mu M$ + neut.	G1, G2, G3	1	1140.42, 1033.02, 1004.83	7.6	1.5
0	5 µM+ neut.	G4, G5, G6	1	1136.5, 1077.68, 1038.77	8.1	1
\circ	$5 \mu M$ + neut.	G7, G8, G9	1	1282.15, 1255.27, 1485.75	13.5	2.6



Raw data (in cpm) presenting cell lysis by CDC (in %) of fludarabine-treated Raji cells at 48h

Table 13: The raw data (in cpm) and the cell lysis by CDC (in %) of fludarabine-treated Raji cells at 48h. The impact of pretreatment of tumor cells with fludarabine for 24h on CDC either in absence or in presence of mCRP neutralising Abs was analyzed. Accordingly, the reference value (%) of the CDC was that of untreated cells. The percentage of specific lysis was calculated according to the following formula ((test release – spontaneousrelease) / (maximum release – spontaneous release)) × 100.

G	roup	Wells	Plate	Counts	% specific lysis	SD
$^{\circ}$	Neg Control1	A1, A2, A3	1	641.64, 687.71, 699.58	0	0.5
۲	Pos Control1	A4, A5, A6	1	5911.53, 6835.87, 6439.51	100	8.1
0	Unknown1	A7, A8, A9	1	649.07, 599.52, 685.87	-0.6	0.8
0	Ut	A10, A11, A12	1	3107.08, 3307.04, 3489.64	45.9	3.3
0	Ut	B1, B2, B3	1	3842.71, 3206.41, 3336.33	48.7	5.9
0	Ut	B4, B5, B6	1	3040.1, 3109.77, 3036.64	41.7	0.7
0	Ut + neut. Ab	B7, B8, B9	1	2467.06, 3001.24, 2903.42	37	5
0	Ut + neut. Ab	B10, B11, B12	1	2511.9, 2775.35, 2894.25	35.9	3.4
0	Ut + neut. Ab	C1, C2, C3	1	2840.17, 3141.82, 3384.86	42.8	4.8
0	1μΜ	C4, C5, C6	1	953.62, 1091.52, 1061.4	6.3	1.3
0	1μΜ	C7, C8, C9	1	979.99, 1017.86, 997.9	5.6	0.3
0	1μΜ	C10, C11, C12	1	1044.3, 1167.47, 1223.42	8.2	1.6
0	$1 \mu M + neut.$	D1, D2, D3	1	1130.43, 1147.43, 1473.21	10	3.4
0	$1 \mu M + neut.$	D4, D5, D6	1	1075.79, 1110.44, 1174.63	7.8	0.9
0	$1 \mu M + neut.$	D7, D8, D9	1	1124.82, 1132.98, 1223.67	8.5	1
0	3 µM	D10, D11, D12	1	767.25, 883.28, 838.98	2.7	1
0	3μΜ	E1, E2, E3	1	860.55, 911.19, 894.29	3.7	0.5
0	3 µM	E4, E5, E6	1	903.43, 910.22, 914.02	4.1	0.1
0	$3 \mu M + neut.$	E7, E8, E9	1	853.95, 921.51, 886.49	3.7	0.6
0	$3 \mu M + neut.$	E10, E11, E12	1	854.63, 832.11, 898.54	3.2	0.6
0	$3 \mu M + neut.$	F1, F2, F3	1	1003.88, 895.11, 892.22	4.4	1.1
0	5μΜ	F4, F5, F6	1	587.57, 709.89, 640.56	-0.5	1.1
\circ	5μΜ	F7, F8, F9	1	561.85, 574.6, 590.91	-1.8	0.3
\circ	5 µM	F10, F11, F12	1	610.66, 604.63, 893.48	0.5	2.9
0	$5 \mu M$ + neut.	G1, G2, G3	1	651.21, 767.77, 636.7	0.2	1.3
0	$5 \mu M$ + neut.	G4, G5, G6	1	614.96, 744.97, 735.81	0.4	1.3
0	$5 \mu M$ + neut.	G7, G8, G9	1	739.19, 637.28, 693.29	0.2	0.9

Representative histograms for expression of the mCRPs in treated SKBR3 cells with doxorubicin at 24h







Representative histograms for expression of the mCRPs in treated SKBR3 cells with doxorubicin at 48h







Representative histograms for expression of the mCRPs in treated SKBR3 cells with taxol at 48h







Representative histograms for fH binding to fludarabine-treated Raji cells at 48h





Representative histograms for opsonisation of fludarabine-treated Raji cells with iC3b at 48h

